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PART |

The statements contained in this annual report omF10-K, including under the section titled “Mareagents Discussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operati” and other sections of this annual report, includeward{ooking statements within the mean
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, asraled, and Section 21E of the Securities ExchangefA934, as amended, including,
without limitation, statements regarding our or acuanagement’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, iotentr strategies regarding the future. The
words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “contin ue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” and s imilar expressions may identify
forward-looking statements, but the absence of these wiwés not mean that a statement is not forwardi@pkl he forward-looking
statements contained in this annual report are Hase our current expectations and beliefs concegiiiiture developments and their potential
effects on us. There can be no assurance thatfatewelopments affecting us will be those thatawe lanticipated. These forward-looking
statements involve a number of risks, uncertair{geme of which are beyond our control) or othesuasptions that may cause actual resuli
performance to be materially different from thogpressed or implied by these forw-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, those factors d#éxsad in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Shoutshe or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should any of our assumptions prioeerrect, actual results may vary in material pests from those projected in these
forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligationpiate or revise any forward-looking statementstivér as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, exceptnay be required under applicable securities laws.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Business

We design, develop and sell proprietary medicalasvused to help physicians diagnose neuropathig@sieurovascular disease.
Neuropathies are diseases of the peripheral naneparts of the spine that frequently are caugest hssociated with diabetes, low back g
and carpal tunnel syndrome, as well as other @irdsorders. We believe that our neuropathy diagosystem, the NC-stat System, improves
the quality and efficiency of patient care by offfigrall physicians the ability to diagnose patientth neuropathies at the point-of-service, that
is, in the physician’s office at the time the paties examined, resulting in earlier and more aataidetection, greater patient comfort and
convenience, and, in many cases, improved cligodleconomic outcomes.

Neuropathies traditionally have been evaluatedifmple clinical examination by the primary care picien, and, in some cases,
subsequently diagnosed by a nerve conduction stndyneedle electromyography, or NCS/nEMG, procedartormed by a neurologist or
physician in a related specialty. We estimate tihaite are approximately 2.0 million traditional N6BEMG procedures currently performed
each year in the United States. We believe thabfisaditional NCS/nEMG procedures is limited §%) the need to obtain a referral to a
neurologist for the procedure and the resultingy@él availability of diagnostic information; ()& inconvenience and discomfort of these
procedures for the patient; and (3) the expensieetpatient and third-party payer. We anticipatd the advantages and increased availability
of the NC-stat System will significantly increase humber of nerve conduction studies performedeBa&n our analysis of current data, we
estimate that the potential market size for pofrservice nerve conduction studies in the diabétes back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome
markets in the aggregate could be greater thamlibn annual patient tests, estimated to be ntba@ $1.0 billion annually for our disposable
biosensors, in the United States.

Neurovascular disease includes conditions suchtampathy, an eye disease prevalent in patieritsdi@betes. We hold an exclusive
sales and marketing license to a product knowha®igiScope®, which allows primary care physiciangl endocrinologists to diagnose
diabetic retinopathy and refer patients to the lbalmologist for treatment if deemed necessary basdtie results. It is recommended by the
American Diabetes Association (“ADA”) that all patits with diabetes receive an annual dilated




eye examination to determine if there are any ababties. There are approximately 21 million pedpl¢he United States with diabetes
according to the ADA and only approximately 50% @byrwith the recommendation to have an annual egenination. We believe that a
product such as the DigiScope in primary care mlgss’ and endocrinologists’ offices could poteliyiéead to an increase in the level of
testing and result in the earlier detection of éigeases in patients with diabetes.

Our goal is to become the leading provider of iratowe, proprietary, high margin medical deviceg ffravide comprehensive solutions
for the diagnosis and treatment of patients withrapathies and neurovascular disease. To datg@rimnary focus has been on the diagnosis of
neuropathies. We also believe that our core tecgyotan be adapted and extended to provide minjrivalasive approaches to treating
neuropathies. During the first half of 2007, we estto enter the clinical stage of development dfieg delivery system to enable a broad base
of primary care and specialist physicians to prevtus type of minimally invasive neuropathy therap the point-of-service. We recently
obtained an exclusive sales and marketing licem#ieet DigiScope product for the diagnosis of diebettinopathy and launched our sales and
marketing efforts for this product in the first qiea of 2007. We have built a sales force of ovfty fegional sales managers and we may st
for additional products that can be sold to thenpriy care physician and endocrinologist marketiiy direct sales force through licensing or
acquisition opportunities.

All of our current products have received 510(ldachnce by the United States Food and Drug Admatish, or FDA. The NC-stat
System has been on the market since May 1999 girdsgntly used in over 4,900 physician’s offiedigics and other health care facilities.
EyeTel Imaging, Inc. (“EyeTel”), the manufacturditiee DigiScope, for which we have an exclusivesand marketing license for the U.S.
primary care physician and endocrinologist markas received a 510(k) clearance from the FDA fizrphoduct. We hold issued utility pate
covering a number of important aspects of our NdZ-System. In 2006, we increased our revenues tinerprior year by 61.1%, generating
$55.2 million in revenues, compared with $34.3 ignillin 2005. Our gross margin percentage in 2006 "8a5%, and 86.4% of our revenues
were attributable to sales of the disposable biesesthat physicians use to perform tests withNfDrstat System. We recorded net income of
approximately $4.3 million in 2006 and $249,00@005 and incurred a net loss of approximately $dillion in 2004. Since our inception,
more than 750,000 patients have been tested wathN@rstat System.

Neuropathies

Disorders of the nerves are broadly described byahm neuropathies. There are two basic typeswfopathies, those that are focal, or
localized in nature, and those that are systenticaFheuropathies are typically caused by a corsfme®f one or more specific nerves.
Systemic neuropathies are typically caused by alnodit disturbance that results in widespread danagerves throughout the body. The
most common clinical conditions associated withropathies include:

« DiabetesDiabetes is a disease in which the body either doeproduce sufficient quantities of insulin oredmot properly use insuli
Insulin is a hormone that is needed to convertisiggarches and other food into energy neededdily body function. Diabetes often
results in a high level of glucose in the bloodlezhhyperglycemia. Chronic hyperglycemia is asated with complications of diabetes
including nerve, eye and kidney disease. The masinton form of diabetes-related nerve disease yst@mic neuropathy called
diabetic peripheral neuropathy, or DPN. The symgtoimDPN include impaired sensation or pain inféet and hands. The ADA
currently estimates that 60% to 70% of people wittbetes are affected by DPN, although a majofithese individuals are unaware
their nerve disease because they have no symp@imial studies have demonstrated that nerve cotimtustudies can detect DPN in
cases where symptoms are not present. DPN, ififefiagnosed and unmanaged, can result in the gewelat of lower extremity ulce
and, in severe cases, amputation. It is estimatetlebADA that over




75% of all foot amputations are in patients withlgitic peripheral neuropathy. Other neuropathigshegresent in as many as 30% of
patients with diabetes, including carpal tunneldspme, radiculopathy and chronic inflammatory delimaging polyneuropathy, or
CIDP.

« Low back painLow back pain can have many causes. When low baitkhas a neurological source, it is often focalature and
associated with pain that radiates from the lovasklregion into the leg, called sciatica. In sorages, the patient may also experience
loss of sensation and weakness in the lower legditanced cases, these symptoms can become disdliiem symptoms result from
pressure on the nerve roots, the precursors afghee, as they exit the spine. The source of thegurre is usually part of an
intervertebral disc that is displaced from its nattocation between the vertebral bodies. Theserdéss are often called herniated or
ruptured discs.

» Carpal tunnel syndromearpal tunnel syndrome, or CTS, is caused by suwgetif the tendons that traverse the wrist alongide
median nerve. The swollen tendons compress theamextirve, resulting in damage to the nerve thalslé@numbness in the first three
fingers of the hand, weakness in the thumb, andscnally wrist and hand pain. CTS is the most comifiocal neuropathy.

« Other medical conditions associated with neuropggl€ommon chronic disorders such as obesity; rheuhattiritis; and spinal
stenosis, or narrowing of the spinal canal; areroomly associated with neuropathies. In these carafgd cases, it is particularly
important for the physician to confirm or excludsunopathies in order to develop effective treatnpeagrams.

» Nerve damage caused by chemotherapgyumber of widely used chemotherapeutic agentscedie to nerves. Unfortunately, by the
time patients report symptoms, significant nervendge has often already occurred.

Limitations of Traditional Methods for Detecting Neuropathies

Neuropathies have traditionally been evaluatedguslimical and diagnostic methods but there arédéitions to these methods. The clin
examination is qualitative rather than quantitativés subjective and it does not often detectgngical or early stage disease. Traditional n
conduction studies and NCS/nEMG procedures ar@peed under a referral to a neurologist and tHisrral process can result in delays and
inconvenience for the patient, higher expense assl df control of the patient’s care by the refeygphysician. Traditional procedures are
complex and are therefore only performed by a smathber of physicians, such as neurologists anteteng is therefore not generally wid
available. In addition, traditional procedures rhaypainful if an nEMG procedure is involved sinke physician will insert needles into the
patient's muscles often in close proximity to tite sf pain.

NeuroMetrix Solution/NC-stat System

The NeuroMetrix point-of-service neurodiagnostitusion is known as the NC-stat System. The NC-Stattem is comprised of:
(1) disposable single use biosensors that are golacehe patient’s body; (2) the NC-stat device seldted components; and (3) the NC-stat
docking station, an optional device that enablegtysician to transmit data to our onCall Inforim@tSystem. The onCall Information System
formulates the data it receives for each testandetailed report that is sent to the physiciarfagsimile or e-mail in three to four minutes on
average and aids in the physician’s diagnosis.N@estat System enables the physician to make mpidaccurate diagnoses that are cost-
effective for the patient and third-party payer.

» BiosensorsThe biosensors are single use, self-adhesive, 1sgreeific, electrode devices that are placed oty and connected to
the NC-stat device. Through the use of a speciligg and a digital thermometer, both of which @yetained within the device,
biosensors convert nerve signals




to electronic data that can be received and digpldy the NGstat device. Currently, we sell biosensors for sssent of nerve functis
in the median and ulnar nerves in the upper extresnfior the diagnosis of carpal tunnel syndrome fan assessment of the nerve
function in peroneal, tibial and sural nerves ia bwer extremities for the diagnosis of diabegcipheral neuropathy and low back
conditions.

The biosensors are designed to be positioned dogot@ common anatomical landmarks with a confijorathat facilitates correct
placement. We designed the biosensors so thatthdg be easily and quickly applied with minimalitbing by members of a
physician’s clinical staff. The biosensors are @stbwith a unique electronic serial number, whikbves us to track each biosensor
throughout the manufacturing, shipping and endstsges. The biosensors also are electronicallyivsed after use, thus preventing
re-use. This inactivation is essential since pugg of the biosensor adhesive and specialized gabvsignificantly degrade the quality
of the measurements. In a typical nerve condudiody, multiple nerves are evaluated and multipbsdnsors are used according to
general guidelines established by the Center fattitééd and Medicare Services, or CMS, and physiagsociations.

NC-stat deviceThe NC-stat device is designed for efficient anslyaszse by the physician or a member of the physiieinical staff.
The NC-stat device can only be operated with oosdmsors. This instrument, which is lightweight ahightly larger than a cordless
telephone, customizes and calibrates the testfdr patient, analyzes neurophysiological signdlected from the biosensor and
displays the pertinent results on an LCD screenediately at the conclusion of each nerve conductady. It also stores data from
multiple patients for optional transmission to tmCall Information System. We also sell optiondhted components that allow for the
testing of long nerve segments, such as those batthe elbow and wrist or the knee and foot. Thaitoois powered for several
months by two AA batteries. The NC-stat device aord software that performs all the control andyaisialgorithms necessary to
carry out a nerve conduction study. A complete eeanduction study may be performed with just tbeick and the biosensors. A
third generation diagnostic device, which we plamiarket under the name ADVANCE™, is currently @velopment and is expected
to be introduced during 2007.

NC-stat docking station and onCall Information 8ysiThe NC-stat docking station is an optional devieg tutomatically transmits
data from the NC-stat device via any availableptietae line, such as those used by facsimile mashioghe onCall Information
System that we maintain. The docking station raewtn data storage so it does not lose data teflephonic connection to the onCall
Information System cannot be established for same or is disrupted during transmission. The dataitomatically processed by the
onCall Information System and stored in a centedhldase, and a detailed computer generated repoeated for each patient that is
then sent to the physician via facsimile or e-rimathree to four minutes on average. The repottuges the raw waveform data,
comparisons to an age- and height-adjusted nomngler population, study reference table and textzanes of the study, which
facilitate rapid and accurate diagnosis by the foligrs examining the patient. Although the studyadatesented in the onCall report can
be generated manually by the physician using timeemical measurements displayed by the NC-stat dethe report is a convenient
and fast adjunct. Whether using the informatiomfithe onCall report or the NC-stat device dispthg,actual clinical interpretation of
the NC-stat System results is always performedbyphysician ordering the study. The onCall InfaioraSystem can also provide
daily, monthly and quarterly reports to custom@tsese reports provide assistance in correct summisr third-party reimbursement
and assist in tracking overall clinical utilizatiorhe onCall Information System generally is akd#a?4 hours per day, seven days per
week. Although purchase of the NC-stat dockingatednd utilization of the onCall Information Systere entirely optional, we
believe substantially all of our customers use sgtem in all studies they




conduct with the NC-stat System. We currently havecord of over 1.5 million individual nerve tesiithin the onCall information
system database. We believe that this informatiomiges us with the ability to continually improwear products and provide our
customers with a very high level of customer senand value.

Recognizing the opportunity created by the limi@as of traditional diagnostic methods coupled wlitd availability of current and
potential new treatments for certain neuropathiesiroMetrix has developed the NC-stat System ferpgrformance of non-invasive nerve
conduction studies at the point-of-service. Ouippigtary technology provides physicians with aroffiee diagnostic system that enables
physicians to make rapid and accurate diagnosesitbaost-effective for the patient and third-parayer. We believe that the NC-stat System
represents a significant advance in neurologicgibstics and offers an improvement over traditidregnostic procedures with the following
benefits:

Facilitates performance of nerve conduction studiethe point-of-servicélhe complexity and high capital cost of traditional
diagnostic methods generally has limited theirtosgeurologists and physicians in related speemltWe believe the features of the
NC-stat System facilitate the performance of nervedaction studies within the offices of a wide ramgghysicians, including primal
care and specialist physicians. By allowing nemweduction studies to be performed in the primamng @& specialist physician’s office,
the patient can avoid the expense and inconvenigin@eeferral visit to a neurologist. Additiongliyne NC-stat System enables primary
care and specialist physicians to retain greatetrgbover their patients by eliminating the needefer them out for a traditional
NCS/nEMG procedure.

Provides a cost-effective diagnostic toMe believe that the NC-stat System should redueedist to the patient and third-party payer
of many nerve conduction studies. This belief isdabon our observation that when these procedwegseaformed by the physician
with primary clinical responsibility for the patigrthe study is more directed so that generallyefemerves are tested without
compromising the accuracy of the diagnosis. Asctist to third-party payers for nerve conductiordis is typically based on the
number of nerves tested, use of the NC-stat Systammesult in lower costs to patients and thirdyppayers. For example, a nerve
conduction study for DPN using the NC-stat Systemnld typically be performed by testing four nerwebgereas a nerve conduction
study for the same indication performed by a negist upon referral could involve the testing of serves or more. When an nEMG
procedure is also performed, the cost can be eigéreh

Requires minimal capital investmeWie sell the NC-stat System, with equivalent teciinépecifications to the more expensive
traditional instruments, for under $6,000, compawétth $15,000 to $40,000 for the cost of traditibNES/NEMG equipment. We
believe the lower capital cost of the NC-stat Systeill aid in the expansion of nerve conductiondé#s beyond neurologist offices.

Simple to operatelhe biosensors are designed for ease in placembitt allows a wide range of physician office pensel to
administer the technical portion of the study urttiersupervision of a physician. The NC-stat devidléezes software algorithms that
perform each step of a nerve conduction studyrigliable manner, with embedded automation technolbgt addresses and minimizes
the technical training requirements for performirggve conduction studies, while also ensuring ttaiend diagnostic result is accurate
and reliable. We believe that, in combination, éhk=atures allow accurate and reliable nerve caimustudies to be performed in 1£
30 minutes on average.

Patient-friendly, non-invasive procedufehe NC-stat System allows for reduced patient digoot during the nerve conduction study
by minimizing the magnitude of the electrical stiosito the nerve via a proprietary patispecific calibration procedure. In most ca
the sophisticated signal




processing and automation capabilities of the NIE-System provide sufficient diagnostic informattoreliminate the need for an
NCS/nEMG procedure. This saves the patient theodigart, stress and risk of this invasive procedure.

Neurovascular Disease

Diabetic retinopathy is a neurovascular diseaseisande of the most serious complications of diebeDiabetic retinopathy is the leading
cause of blindness in adults age 20 to 65. Microwmias complications caused by diabetes can leaetittopathy and if untreated can result in
vision loss and even blindness. Twenty years ditagnosis nearly all patients with Type | diabdtage some degree of diabetic retinopathy
and 60% of all patients with Type |l diabetes hawme degree of retinopathy, even though many magawe symptoms.

Over time, diabetes affects the circulatory systéie retina. The earliest phase of the diseakeds/n as background diabetic
retinopathy. In this phase, the arteries in thmadbecome weakened and leak, forming small, #etemorrhages. These leaking vessels ofter
lead to swelling or edema in the retina and deexassion. The next stage is known as proliferatiiabetic retinopathy. In this stage,
circulation problems cause areas of the retinaetmime oxygen-deprived, or ischemic. New, fragitssels develop as the circulatory system
attempts to maintain adequate oxygen levels withérretina. This is called neovascularization. Urnificately, these delicate vessels
hemorrhage easily. Blood may leak into the retimé \dtreous, causing spots or floaters, along wébreased vision. In the later phases of the
disease, continued abnormal vessel growth andissae may cause serious problems such as restethiinent and glaucoma. Ultimately, if
untreated, diabetic retinopathy can lead to losgsién or blindness.

The traditional approach to the detection of reiatby in patients with diabetes is a referral tege specialist, such as an
ophthalmologist, for an assessment. In spite ofésemmendation by the ADA that all patients withlegtes have an annual dilated eye
examination, only approximately 50% of these pasieme actually complying and being tested on anahbasis. Treatments such as laser
surgery are available for patients diagnosed wigthetic retinopathy and the earlier the condit®deétected the more likely a favorable
outcome.

The DigiScope

The DigiScope was developed by EyeTel in cliniatpership with the Wilmer Opthalmological Instéwdt Johns Hopkins for the risk
assessment of retinopathy. The DigiScope haswiftkgrated digital fundus camera which allowstfoe capture of high quality dilated retil
images in approximately ten minutes. The test ifop@ed in the primary care physicians’ or endogligists’ office and the images obtained
are sent electronically to the Wilmer EyeTel Regdirenter and are read by retinal specialists. €halts are reviewed by the physician and a
referral will be made to the eye specialist, suslamophthalmologist, if clinically relevant abnailities are detected. The test using the
DigiScope can be easily administered by the phgsisiclinical staff under the supervision of the/gibian and requires minimal training. The
DigiScope system is self-prompting, has a touckestiand audible cues for simple operation. TheSige examination is acceptable as an
annual diabetic eye examination under the Healih Employer Data and Information Set (“HEDIS”) 2G@4hnical specifications.

Market Opportunity
NC-stat System

The sensitivity of the nervous system to metabmtid mechanical damage, compounded by its limitgemerative ability, creates a
market opportunity for a medical device that cagisisn point-of-service diagnoses of neuropatiies manner that is cost-effective for the
patient and third-party payer. We




believe the ease of use, accuracy and conveniepgalpd by the NC-stat System position it to bec@standard of care for the assessment of
neuropathies at the point-of-service. We beliewa the availability of point-of-service nerve cortlan studies, through the NC-stat System,
will result in earlier detection of neuropathiesading to earlier therapeutic intervention andnany cases, improved clinical and economic
outcomes. We believe that use of traditional NC®I@Eprocedures is limited by the referral process thre resulting delay in availability of
diagnostic information, the inconvenience and disfoot of these methods for the patient, and theeagp to the patient and third-party payer.
Our policy is to promote and support the utilizataf nerve conduction studies in a manner strictigsistent with prevailing guidelines on the
medically appropriate use of this diagnostic pracedWe estimate that there are approximately 2llmtraditional NCS/nEMG procedures
currently performed each year in the United Staadthough the most common indication for which tH€-stat System has been used
historically is carpal tunnel syndrome, we havesiaxpanded our marketing efforts to include DPMN law back pain, as well as other
indications. CTS represented approximately 40%ta herve conduction testing by our customerdid6?2 while DPN and low back pain
represented approximately 27% and 33%, respectiVééyanticipate that our future growth will be geated mainly from lower extremity
testing for DPN and low back pain. Based on outyaigof current patient data, we estimate thatpibkential for point-of-service nerve
conduction studies in the diabetes, low back path@rpal tunnel syndrome markets in the aggregatkl be greater than 9.5 million annual
patient tests, estimated to be more than $1.@bilinnually for our disposable biosensors, in thadd States. However, market size is diffi
to predict, and we cannot assure you that our astisnwill prove to be correct. We believe that iddal applications of a point-of-service
product offering such as the NC-stat System, inolyithe clinical assessment of patients with neatioips caused by or associated with other
clinical disorders, could further increase thisgmdtal market size. Additionally, although we hang yet quantified the size of the market, we
believe a potential international market opportyeitists for the NC-stat System.

DigiScope

The high level of incidence of diabetic retinopa#ind its serious complications creates a markedrppity for a device that can be used
by primary care physicians and endocrinologisth@fpoint of care for the early detection of diabettinopathy. There are estimated to be 21
million people in the United States with diabeted ¢his total is expected to grow. Diabetic retiathyy is the leading cause of blindness in
adults age 20 to 65. Twenty years after diagnaesisiy all patients with Type | diabetes have somgree of diabetic retinopathy and 60% of
all patients with Type Il diabetes have some degfaetinopathy, even though many may not have sgmp. The ADA recommends an
annual dilated eye examination for all patienthwidiabetes. In spite of this recommendation, oplyraximately 50% of patients with diabetes
actually receive an annual eye examination. Théated an opportunity for such testing to be peréatin the primary care physician or
endocrinologist office since these patients ard¢imely seeing their primary care physician or emduogist.

Market Size

We estimate that there are approximately 2.0 miltraditional NCS/nEMG procedures currently perfedweach year in the United
States This estimate is based on (1) data from a CDC tépdr996 regarding NCS/nEMG procedures ordergaeoformed during ambulato
patient visits and (2) data from a 2001 CMS repegarding Medicare reimbursement under Currentdthoa@l Terminology, or CPT, codes
nerve conduction studies and assumptions that Mesliepresents 30% of the total existing nerve gotioh study market and that the average
number of CPT codes used per nerve conduction ssueight. We anticipate that the advantages atcidased availability of the NC-stat
System will significantly increase the number ofugeconduction studies performed.

* We estimate the potential DPN market for a poirserfvice product offering such as the NC-stat $ysteuld be over six million
annual patient testsThe number of individuals with diabetes in theted




States was estimated to be 21.0 million, or 7.0%hefpopulation. Among this group, approximately @illion were undiagnosed.
According to the CDC, there are about 26 milliom@al patient visits to office-based physiciansdi@betes. We anticipate that the
increasing focus on early detection and preverdiche chronic complications of diabetes will ldadncreased nerve conduction
studies for DPN. We believe that the estimated 588 of annual foot examinations in patients kneavhave diabetes is a reasonable
estimate for the addressable testing market inetiéah If these examinations were replaced by aensymduction study, or a nerve
conduction study were added to the examinationdifieetes arena would represent an opportunitg\fer six million annual NC-stat
System patient tests. The number of Americans didbetes is projected to more than double oven#xt 40 to 50 years. At the pres
time, there are no currently marketed pharmacdstteageted specifically at DPN, and therefore eeronduction studies are perforn
on a selective basis in order to address spedifiical issues. If a targeted therapy for DPN wsuecessfully developed and marketed,
we believe the rate of testing would further ineeeBased on current clinical trial activity, weieipate that drugs for the treatment of
DPN will eventually become available in the markate, accelerating the need to detect DPN at iteestistages to allow for earlier
therapeutic intervention and a decrease in theradwinical and economic outcomes associated BRN.

We estimate the potential low back pain markegfpoint-of-service product offering such as the §t&-System could be as great as
three million annual patient testd ow back pain is one of the most common medioabions in the United States. Over 63 million
people report experiencing at least one day obasriow back pain in the prior year. Furthermosgkbdisorders account for over one-
guarter of all nonfatal occupational injuries alhteisses that result in days away from work. Aceaydo the CDC, there are about nine
million annual patient visits to office-based pltyans specifically for low back symptoms. The Cu@ttier estimates that about one-
third of office visits are initial visits, at whidime we believe utilization of the NC-stat Systenmost likely. We thus anticipate that
there may be as many as approximately three milésting opportunities for nerve conduction testigigted to low back pain for a
point-of-service product offering such as the N&t-8ystem. We believe that the number of testingpdpnities may be even higher, as
there are many patients that visit physicians yongtoms and medical conditions that must be difféa¢ed from sciatica, such as leg
and foot symptoms, rheumatoid arthritis and diabete

We estimate the potential carpal tunnel syndromeketdor a point-of-service product offering suchtae NC-stat System could be as
great as 650,000 annual patient tes@GTS is a significant occupational issue, as feerder results in the most days away from work
among all major disabling workplace injuries anddtses. In a recent health care survey publishétkiJournal of the American
Medical Association, approximately 14% of adultsoeed symptoms characteristic of CTS. It was fréhstimated that 2.5% of adults
have true CTS, which could be confirmed by clinesamination and nerve conduction studies. Thégjisvalent to approximately five
million individuals in the United States. Over 3800 surgeries are performed annually for CTS. Tigisal procedure is called a
carpal tunnel release, or CTR. Most third-partygrayequire a nerve conduction study prior to atgirgy CTR surgery. According to
the CDC, there are more than two million annuailtyi® office-based physicians for which CTS is phienary diagnosis. The CDC
estimates that about one third of CTS-related effiisits are initial visits, at which time we bekeutilization of the NC-stat System is
most likely. As a result, we estimate that there/ fo@ as many as 650,000 testing opportunitiesh®INC-stat System related to CTS.
We further believe that this estimate is conseveatas there are many patients that visit physicianhand and wrist pain, or medical
conditions with a high association with CTS suchhesimatoid arthritis, diabetes and obesity. We atgticipate that the high costs of
CTS-related workers’ compensation claims could wadé employers to increasingly use a point-of-gerpiroduct offering such as the
NC-stat System to pre-screen and monitor emplofeSTS.
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Based on the data outlined above, we estimatahbgiotential market size for a point-of-servicedarct offering such as the NC-stat
System for nerve conduction studies in the diahét@sback pain and CTS markets in the aggregatédoe greater than 9.5 million annual
patient tests in the United States. We estimatettigapotential market for NC-stat System couldrimge than $1.0 billion annually in the
United States.

We estimate that the size of the market for a poirgervice product such as DigiScope for the dete®f diabetic retinopathy could be
nearly $700 million. There are estimated to be 2lian people in the United States with diabeted &ris estimated that 15 million have
actually been diagnosed with diabetes. Using areggenination fee of $45 per patient, this represargiotential market size of nearly $700
million.

Market size is difficult to predict, and we canassure you that our estimates will prove to beextriWe believe that additional
applications of a point-of-service product offesrguch as the NC-stat System and the DigiScopkeding the clinical assessment of patients
with neuropathies caused by or associated withr aivécal disorders, could further increase thiarket size. Additionally, although we have
not yet quantified the size of the market, we haia potential international market opportunityséxifor the NC-stat System. The potential
market opportunity is dependent on a number obfadncluding favorable reimbursement by third-pgrayers. There are no assurances that
third-party payers will reimburse for an increasiaegel of nerve conduction studies at present kwelat all.

Clinical Studies and Clinical Validation

The performance of the NC-stat System has beenanilzed in clinical studies that we have suppmbrtiee results of which have been
published in peer-reviewed medical journals or @nésd at major medical conferences.

« In studies published in the April 2000 issue of dbarnal of Occupational & Environmental Medicinthe September 2000 issue of
Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiologynd the May 2004 issue of theurnal of Hand Surgerythe correlation between the results
generated by the N6tat System and traditional nerve conduction ssiiieneasuring nerve function of 198 patients wasrened. Th
correlation was equivalent to that found betwedfedint neurologists performing traditional nenanduction studies.

* A study published in the December 2002 issuSpifieevaluated the ability of the NC-stat System to ceteurological impairment in
25 patients with sciatica, confirmed by MRI andhidal examination. The diagnostic accuracy of ti@$at System was equivalent to
traditional NCS/nEMG procedures as documentedversé other published studies.

* In a study published in the August 2088 erican Journal of Orthopedigghe clinical utility of the NC-stat System wasessed in 72
patients with carpal tunnel syndrome. The NC-syat&n was found to have a high correlation witkitranal laboratory testing. The
NC-stat System also measured statistically sigamfiémprovement in median nerve function six morititiewing carpal tunnel release
surgery.

* In a study published in the August 20D&betes Care the NC-stat System was shown to be comparalderteentional nerve
conduction testing in a group of 72 patients witkbétes tested for diabetic peripheral neuropathy.

* In a study published in the December 2@&betes Technology and Therapeutitise use of the NGtat System in 1,400 patients w
diabetes in 28 primary care/endocrinology cliniesvwassessed in a prospective open-label studyNThstat System identified nerve
conduction abnormalities in 75% of patients, andrd0% had results suggestive of diabetic polyngatioy. The NC-stat

11




System identified meaningful levels of neuropathypatients within ADA recommended blood glucosetmirand in those newly
diagnosed with diabetes.

¢ In a study published in the January 2@0%siological Measurementse validity of NC-stat System lower extremity nerv
measurements was assessed in 60 patients referaéddterans Administration electrodiagnostic lalbary. The authors concluded
“This study shows that the technology used by tRedtat System for studying the peroneal and pastéhial nerves compares
favorably . . . . with that obtained with traditelrEMG equipment used under neurologist supervision

* In the January-February 200@urnal of the American Board of Family Medicine retrospective blinded study of NC-stat System
utilization by 613 family medicine, primary carecainternal medicine physician practices was cotetud©ver a two-week period
1,190 patients underwent NCS for evaluation of CA &tal of 31% of tested limbs yielded normal iésub3% indicated CTS, and the
remaining studies identified other neuropathies @tthors concluded “This study demonstrated thiatof-service NCS by
physicians for CTS was applied to appropriate pasebpopulations, was performed in accordance avittience-based testing
parameters, and generated relevant diagnostic met6

We continue to support well-designed clinical reskatudies utilizing the NC-stat System that asighed to demonstrate its clinical
accuracy and cost-effectiveness. In addition, s¢watinical studies and trials have been perfornaed, others are underway, in which the NC-
stat System is used to measure changes in nerggdnnThe NC-stat System was utilized by Eli Lillya clinical trial of Cymbalta for the
treatment of pain associated with diabetic peripheeuropathy. Cymbalta received FDA approval emghcond half of 2004.

The performance of the DigiScope has been validatetinical studies, the results of which havereeblished in peereviewed medice
journals as highlighted belo

» In a study published in the May 2002 issudénwestigational Ophthalmology and Visual Scientiee conclusions drawn were that “the
DigiScope fulfills the instrumental requirements fopractical and cost-effective tool to acquireadezeeded to identify diabetic patients
who must be referred to an eye care specialiste’ Sthdy further concluded that the “DigiScope melphleduce the risk of vision loss
in . ... individuals who currently do not undergo annual eye examination.”

« In a study of over 2,700 patients published in @@8sue offelemedicine and e-Healtthhe conclusions were that the “DigiScope can
be used in the primary care setting to identifygas with diabetes not currently under the cararoéye specialist who require referral
to an ophthalmologist for evaluation and managerérgtinopathy.”

Customers

We market our products directly to primary care apecialist physicians. The NC-stat System provjé@sary care physicians and other
physicians including orthopedic surgeons, endotwiists, rheumatologists, and pain medicine phgsigj who previously were not perform
a nerve conduction study at the point-of-servicevere referring these patients to a neurologisaftraditional NCS/nEMG procedure, with a
product that can potentially improve the care efrtipatients and with a potential new source oérerxes. As of December 31, 2006, we had
over 4,900 active customers. No single customesatted for more than 10% of our revenues in 200652r 2004.

Currently, there are approximately over 100 custsrusing the DigiScope, primarily representingeiisting customer base of EyeTel at
the time we signed an exclusive sales and marké&tegse with them for the sale of the DigiScop®e ithe U.S. primary care and
endocrinologist market. We launched our sales asdketing efforts for this product in the first gtexrof 2007.
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Geographic Information

All of our assets, revenues and expenses for taesyended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 weatetbat or derived from operations
in the United States.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

Currently, we employ 53 regional sales managerssasales directors who sell directly to physiciaagtices and also manage the
activities of more than 100 independent regionEssagencies employing a total of more than 1,28@pendent sales agents. The independent
sales agencies we work with include small to medsizad regional firms as well as national firmstsas Physician Sales & Service (“PS&S”)
and Henry Schein, Inc. (“Henry Schein”.) The majodf the 1,200 independent sales agents are emgbloy PS&S and Henry Schein. At
present, our products are marketed and distribatéady within the United States. We select oursalgencies based on their expertise and
experience calling on primary care or specialistsitians, their reputation within the targeted pbigs community and their sales coverage.
Each sales agency is assigned a sales territothiddiCstat System and is subject to periodic performaeeews. Typically, our independe
sales representatives identify potential custorfeeras and assist in monitoring our existing customccounts, and our regional sales mane
complete sales to these customers. Our indeperdbrst agencies do not act as distributors of adumts.

We recently launched our sales and marketing sffortthe DigiScope product for the detection @flditic retinopathy. This product will
be sold directly to primary care physicians andoenitiologists by our regional sales managers wkabso selling the NC-stat System. We do
not intend to use our independent sales agencyonletiar the DigiScope product. Our initial targearket for the DigiScope will be our
installed base of NC-stat System customers. Wdraitaan exclusive sales and marketing licensedadiljiScope from EyeTel in the fourth
quarter of 2006.

We invest significant efforts in technical, clinieand business practices training for our regionahagers. We work closely with our sales
agencies and their sales representatives in asgaotvide them with the information and assistatheg they need in order to successfully
generate qualified sales leads for our productsalste require each sales representative to atteriodic sales and product training programs.
The efforts of our regional sales managers andoeéent sales representatives are enhanced byqtaopisoftware tools that are accessed via
a secure website, which we refer to as the salésales partner portals, respectively. These [@ogigk our sales personnel access to real time
customer sales and product usage information, waid@pplications to help identify and close new bess$, and marketing materials. The po
also provide customer relationship management iomst

We market our products directly to primary care apecialist physicians. The NC-stat System provj@nary care and specialist
physicians, who previously were not performing evaeconduction study at the point-of-service oreveaferring these patients to a neurologist
for a traditional NCS/nEMG procedure, with a protinat can potentially improve the care of theitigras and with a potential new source of
revenues. We believe that there are important niackadvantages of the NC-stat System. The NCSstatem can potentially accelerate the
diagnosis of neuropathies by allowing primary camd specialist physicians to perform a nerve cotiolustudy at the point-of-service rather
than having to make a referral to a neurologist.alge market our products at various industry camfees in order to accelerate the market
awareness of our products, our customer accruattefdnd market adoption for our products.

We generally invoice products purchased by ouratusts directly to physician offices and other costcs. We currently have a
relationship with one distributor that directly oiges the physician practice and we invoice theitligtor at list price less a negotiated disco
With the exception of the DigiScope, we ship atigucts directly to the customer even in cases wiverare selling through a distributor. The
DigiScope is manufactured and shipped by EyeTelenwhé are responsible for
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installation, training and service. The independegtonal sales agencies and their sales repreéisestare compensated by commissions. Our
regional managers are compensated by a combiratiomse salary, commissions and goal-based bormpeatsation.

Our success is highly dependent on our ability &ntain our direct sales force and independenssadency network. We may be unable
to enter into agreements with additional qualifiedependent sales agencies and representativesmanercially reasonable terms or at all and
we may not be successful in maintaining the exgssiales and marketing infrastructure we have deeeloEven if we are able to enter into
agreements with additional independent sales aggnitiese parties may not commit the necessarynesoto effectively market and sell our
products or ultimately be successful in selling products. Promotion and sales of medical devicesiso highly regulated not only by the
FDA, but also by the Federal Trade Commission,amedsubject to federal and state fraud and abuUsecement activities.

Manufacturing and Supply

We rely on outside contractors for the manufacture servicing of our products and their componearid,we do not currently maintain
alternative manufacturing sources for the NC-stanitor, docking station or biosensors or any oftreshed goods products. In outsourcing,
we target companies that meet FDA, Internationgla@ization for Standardization, or ISO, and otheality standards supported by internal
policies and procedures. Supplier performance istaiaed and managed through a corrective actiogram ensuring all product requireme
are met or exceeded. We believe these manufactrelationships minimize our capital investment,yide us with manufacturing expertise
and help control costs.

Following the receipt of products or product comgatis from our third-party manufacturers, we condlietnecessary inspection and
packaging and labeling at our corporate headqusfaeility. We may consider manufacturing certaiaducts or product components
internally, if and when demand or quality requirensemake it appropriate to do so. We currently hawvelans to manufacture any products or
product components internally.

We seek to obtain products from our manufacturersder to maintain sufficient inventory to satisfyr customer obligations. We did r
experience any significant inventory shortagesmnestablished products in 2006. We occasionaleggnce transient inventory shortages,
typically lasting less than one month, on new potslaluring the initial production ramp-up phaseauf thirdparty manufacturers are unable
manufacture our products to keep up with demandyadd not meet expectations for growth of our hesks.

Parlex Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc., which wasyously known as PolyFlex Circuits, Inc., a wigadwned subsidiary of the Parlex
Corporation, or Parlex, has been manufacturing N€ksosensors since early 1999. In August 2006emtered into a mutually exclusive
manufacturing and supply agreement with Parlexyamsto which Parlex will manufacture and supplyi$o and we will purchase from Parl
at agreed upon prices per unit, all of our requéeets of biosensors for resale in the United Stataeder the agreement, Parlex has agreed |
manufacture biosensors to be used to measure cendeiction for any other company during the ternthefagreement and, in some cases, for
a period of one year thereafter. Either party neagninate the agreement at any time upon not less 1B months’ prior written notice,
provided that neither party may terminate the agesg prior to August 2, 2008. Parlex manufacturgshiosensors at a facility in
Massachusetts and is in the process of validatiagufacturing of our biosensors at a second sit@éakin the U.K.

Sunburst EMS, Inc., or Sunburst, has been manufagtour NC-stat monitors and docking stations siNovember 2005. We signed a
formal supply agreement with Sunburst during 2G@18tie continued manufacturing and supply of oagdbstic devices. Sunburst
manufactures the current generation of the
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NC-stat diagnostic devices at a facility in Massaelttssand they are producing the initial productions of the ADVANCE System.

The DigiScope is manufactured by EyeTel, the comfeom which we obtained an exclusive sales andketarg license for the sale of
the DigiScope to the primary care physician anderidologist market.

We and our third-party manufacturers are registeri¢i the FDA and subject to compliance with FDAatity system regulations. We are
also IS0 registered and undergo frequent qualgyesy audits by European agencies. Our productseaeed for market within the United
States and Canada, and are also approved fohbdigbm in the European Union, although to date aeehsales only in the United States. Our
facility and the facilities of our manufacturerg aubject to periodic unannounced inspections gylatory authorities, and may undergo
compliance inspections conducted by the FDA andesponding state agencies. We were inspected byDiein May 2003. During its
inspection, the FDA issued a Form 483, which i®tice of inspection observations. Two minor itemesevidentified and the corrective actions
for both were initiated prior to the completiontbé audit. The responses provided to the FDA wessretd adequate and no further action has
been requested. As a registered device manufactueeaind our manufacturers will undergo regulaclyesiuled FDA quality system
inspections; however, additional FDA inspectiong/mecur if deemed necessary by the FDA.

Products Under Development and Research and Develognt

Our research and development efforts are focus#teinear term on further enhancing our existirggpcts, which includes developing
the ADVANCE System and developing new biosensarsyall as designing a drug delivery system forrttieimally invasive treatment of
neuropathies by both primary care and specialigsiglans. Our research and development staff censf26 people, including 6 who hold
Ph.D. degrees. Our research and development gamipxtensive experience in neurophysiology, biogadnstrumentation, signal
processing, biomedical sensors and informatioresyst These individuals work closely with our mairkggroup, our clinical support group
(led by a board-certified neurologist), our sciBatadvisors and our customers to design prodingtsdre intended to improve clinical and
economic outcomes.

Devices for the Treatment of Neuropa

In pursuit of our objective to develop medical a®a that provide comprehensive solutions for thgmibsis and treatment of patients with
neuropathies, we are seeking to expand our prduhisa beyond the diagnostic and into the treatntenfaWe believe that our core technol
can be adapted and extended to provide minimaligsive approaches to treating neuropathies. Incpéat, we believe that neuropathies that
are focal, or localized, in nature can be safely effiectively treated if drugs can be deliveredrriba disease site without damaging the ner
the process. Some of these types of treatmen{geafermed today, but they are performed manuallg tiynited number of physicians. Our
product development program includes the designpmrbduct that we believe will reduce the risk iwea in providing these treatments.
During the first half of 2007, we expect to entes tlinical stage of development of a drug deliv@rgtem to enable a broad base of primary
care and specialist physicians to provide this tyfominimally invasive neuropathy therapy at thénpof-service.

NCS/nEMG Systen

We have an ongoing program of making enhancemedtingprovements to the NC-stat System. We are dpirgd new biosensors and
associated software for the medically approprieséing of additional nerves. We have also devel@pttrd generation diagnostic device, the
ADVANCE System, that will
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allow our customers to perform more complex anaydfediagnostic data. We submitted a 510(k) filiaghe FDA in the first quarter of 2007
for the ADVANCE System.

The ADVANCE System has a number of important inrtioves and features:
» Key technical and engineering specifications thatelieve meet those of other electrodiagnostiicdevon the market.

« Signal processing algorithms that provide physiiaith high quality and detailed nerve conductiatado incorporate into their
diagnostic assessment. We have filed two patentiese algorithms.

« A user interface consisting of a high resolutiofoctouch screen that allows physicians and theiiaal staff to conduct accurate ne
conduction studies and other electrodiagnostis tiesa straightforward manner. Consistent withaheent NC-stat System, this user
interface provides for real-time data review inéhgdwaveforms.

« Compatibility with existing biosensors and with nearve conduction biosensors that we develop iriuthee.

* The ADVANCE System will also support the performamd nEMG studies.

NEUROMetrix® , NC-staf , ADVANCE™ and onCall™ arademarks of ours.

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we spent $5.0 millig$8 million and $3.3 million, respectively, on easch and development.

Competition

We consider the primary competition for our product be traditional NCS/nEMG procedures. Our siedepends in large part on
convincing physicians to adopt the NC-stat Systemrder to perform nerve conduction studies apthiat-of-service.

There are a number of companies that sell traditibiCS/nEMG equipment, typically to neurologistbe$e companies include Viasys
Healthcare Inc., Cadwell Laboratories, Inc and &ltec. Viasys Healthcare has substantially grefdancial resources than we do, and they
have established reputations as worldwide distidbuthannels for medical instruments to neurolegistd other physicians. Xltec launched a
product for the point-of-service nerve conductitudges market in 2006 and subsequently announegdttly were withdrawing this product
from the market. We are aware of one additionalmamy, Neumed Inc., that markets a nerve condustiady system to the point-of-service
market.

We believe that among systems marketed for thepeence of nerve conduction studies today, onlyNBestat System provides the
level of diagnostic accuracy, the level of automatnd the ease of use required for successfutnatioa of the point-of-service market. We
also believe that the reporting and data reposiiangtions provided by the onCall Information Systelthough entirely optional, provide our
customers who use this service with added valusigheot matched by other currently marketed presiud/e further believe that the expand
database of nerve conduction study data capturédebgnCall Information System facilitates our &pito improve the performance of the NC-
stat System. We believe that the size of our dambad ongoing improvements provide us with a Bgmit competitive advantage.

Currently, we believe that our most direct compesitare certain specialist physicians, such asotegists, who perform traditional nerve
conduction studies and may view the Ntat System as competitive with or a threat torthesiness. Because of the level of automationtlae
ease of use of the NC-stat System, the NC-staeByHicilitates the performance of nerve conductimdies within the

16




offices of a wider range of physicians. Accordingteurologists, including a professional sociefyresenting a subset of neurologists who |
frequently perform traditional nerve conductiondiéis, have competed and may continue to compekeusiby advancing positions that are
adverse to the NC-stat System. We believe this etitign has come, and is most likely to continuedme, through the advancement of
positions challenging the effectiveness and acguofthe NC-stat System and the ability of non-$plést physicians to perform nerve
conduction studies and accurately diagnose neur@saBecause specialist physicians and profedssogéeties may be viewed as
authoritative, without regard to their potentiabeomic motives, and may have connections to ouémfte with various regulatory bodies and
third-party payers, they may have a competitiveaatlvge over us and their positions may lead teeoeflected in actions taken by these
regulatory bodies and third-party payers that dreese to our business. In this respect, we sesdsfmond to these positions by supporting and
making reference to past and future clinical stadigbstantiating the effectiveness of the §&t-System, including those described above i
section titled “—Clinical Studies and Clinical Vddition.”

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarkpydghts, trade secrets and other intellectual eriydaws, nondisclosure agreements
and other measures to protect our proprietary t&olyy, intellectual property rights and know-howeWold issued utility patents covering a
number of important aspects of our M@t System. We believe that in order to have apetitive advantage, we must develop and maintad
proprietary aspects of our technologies. Curremtly require our employees, consultants and advisagecute confidentiality agreements in
connection with their employment, consulting oriadwy relationships with us, where appropriate. &#® require our employees, consultants
and advisors who we expect to work on our prodtecegree to disclose and assign to us all inveatammceived during the work day,
developed using our property or which relate tolmusginess. Despite any measures taken to proteattellectual property, unauthorized
parties may attempt to copy aspects of our produrcts obtain and use information that we regargragrietary.

Patents

As of December 31, 2006, we had 12 issued U.Snpat@ issued foreign patents and 45 pending pafgiications, including 23 U.S.
applications, 1 International PCT application add@eign national applications. We also hold aolesive license to 2 issued U.S. patents
2 issued foreign patents. The issued and penditegfsathat we own and license cover, among otliegsh

» Nerve conduction biosensors and related methods;

» Nerve conduction hardware;

« Algorithms for performing and analyzing nerve coadiilon studies; and
¢ NC-stat System industrial design.

Our issued design patents begin to expire in 2848,our issued utility patents begin to expire@d 2. In particular, seven of our issued
U.S. utility patents covering important aspectswf current products will expire on the same dat2d17. Although the patent protection for
material aspects of our products covered by thenslaf the patents will be lost at that time, weédadditional patents and patent applications
directed to other novel inventions that will haxagnt terms extending beyond 2017.
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The medical device industry is characterized byetkistence of a large number of patents and freditgration based on allegations of
patent infringement. Patent litigation can invobamplex factual and legal questions, and its oute@wncertain. Any claim relating to
infringement of patents that is successfully assegaigainst us may require us to pay substantiahdas Even if we were to prevail, any
litigation could be costly and time-consuming anolid divert the attention of our management andgexgonnel from our business
operations. Our success will also depend in padwmot infringing patents issued to others, idalg our competitors and potential
competitors. If our products are found to infrirtge patents of others, our development, manufaetndesale of these potential products could
be severely restricted or prohibited. In addition; competitors may independently develop siméahhologies. Because of the importance of
our patent portfolio to our business, we may losekat share to our competitors if we fail to protewar intellectual property rights.

As the number of entrants into our market increatbespossibility of a patent infringement claimaagst us grows. Although we have not
received notice of any claims, and are not awaaedhbr products infringe other partiggitents and proprietary rights, our products anthauz
may be covered by U.S. patents held by our congpstitn addition, our competitors may assert thaire products we may market infringe
their patents.

A patent infringement suit brought against us nagé us or any strategic partners or licensee®{oa delay developing, manufacturing
or selling potential products that are claimedifoiinge a third-party’s intellectual property, usdethat party grants us rights to use its
intellectual property. In such cases, we may beired to obtain licenses to patents or proprietayiyts of others in order to continue to
commercialize our products. However, we may ncaliie to obtain any licenses required under anyngate proprietary rights of third parties
on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we were &blobtain rights to the third-party’s intelledtpaoperty, these rights may be non-exclusive,
thereby giving our competitors access to the samediéctual property. Ultimately, we may be unafdleommercialize some of our potential
products or may have to cease some of our busapesations as a result of patent infringement ddaiwhich could severely harm our
business.

Trademarks

We hold domestic and certain foreign trademarkstegtions for the marks NEUROMETRIX and NC-STAT €TU.S. registration for
NEUROMETRIX is on the Supplemental Register. Initidd, we also have two other pending U.S. traddnagiplications for the maui
NEUROMETRIX. We also have a U.S. trademark applicapending for the mark onCa

Third-Party Reimbursement

We anticipate that sales volumes and prices opoaatucts will continue to be dependent in large parthe availability of reimbursement
for our customers from third-party payers and olicpEs issued by governmental agencies. Third-ppatyers include governmental programs
such as Medicare and Medicaid, private insuranaespland workers’ compensation plans. These orgiémiis may deny coverage and refuse
reimbursement for a diagnostic procedure or spgepiduct such as the N&at System if they determine that the diagnosst ¢r product we
not medically appropriate, reasonable or neces3asts will be considered not medically reasonableecessary if they are deemed
“investigational” (i.e. there is insufficient evidee of efficacy or accuracy.) The third-party payeray also place limitations on the types of
physicians that can perform specific types of daagic procedures. Also, third-party payers aredgasimgly challenging the prices charged for
medical products and services. In internationalkeizt reimbursement and healthcare payment systamsignificantly by country, and mai
countries have instituted payment ceilings on gjpegroduct lines and procedures. We cannot asguehat procedures using our products
will be considered medically reasonable and necgdsaa specific indication, that our productsiaié considered cost-effective by third-party
payers, that procedures performed using our preduittbe reimbursed as separate procedures unxésting CPT
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codes, that an adequate level of reimbursemenbeilivailable or that the third-party payers’ cager and reimbursement policies will not
adversely affect our ability to sell our productsfjiably.

A key component in the reimbursement decision bgtpavate insurers and CMS, which administers Mad, is the assignment of a
CPT code. This code is used in the submissionaifna to insurers for reimbursement for medical ises: CPT codes are assigned, mainta
and revised by the CPT Editorial Panel administénethe American Medical Association, or AMA. Acdang to present Medicare guidelines,
nerve conduction studies must be performed or sigegt by medical doctors, or M.D.s, and doctorestéopathic medicine, or D.O.s, and are
reimbursable under the three CPT codes: 95900,3%8@ 95904. We believe that the nerve conductieasurements performed by the NC-
stat System meet the requirements stipulated icdde descriptions published by the AMA and thaséhcodes are currently used by
physicians to obtain reimbursement for the perferoesof nerve conduction studies with the NC-statt&y, except, as described below, in
cases where they are seeking reimbursement froniclfiedin a jurisdiction where the local insuraneerier processing Medicare claims has
determined that physicians must submit these clasirtgy a miscellaneous CPT code (95999). If the E€&tes that apply to the procedures
performed using our products are changed, or détedmot to apply to tests performed with the N&-8ystem, reimbursement for
performances of these procedures may be adverifette.

For Medicare, there are sixteen organizations sgras local insurance carriers that on behalf oflitbre process claims submitted by
physician practice groups and other healthcareigeos and establish what are called local covedagerminations, or LCDs. In the absence of
a position issued by Medicare at the national lethel LCDs issued by these local insurance cargevern the reimbursement of procedures
performed using medical devices such as the NCSststem. During the second half of 2006 and ed72five local Medicare carriers
covering a total of twenty states issued draft LCid&l LCDs or coding articles particularly addsasy coverage and reimbursement policies
under Medicare for nerve conduction studies peréatusing the NGtat System. Several of these carriers indicatatthiey will not reimburs
physicians under Medicare for nerve conductionistigerformed using the NC-stat System under tletbxisting CPT codes for
conventional nerve conduction studies (95900, 958@B95904), which provide for levels of reimbureatfixed by CMS, but rather that
physicians must submit claims for reimbursementtiese procedures under a miscellaneous CPT c68899 in which case the local carriers
may determine the level of reimbursement to be,paahy. We do not know what success our customéifiave in obtaining reimbursement
under the miscellaneous code or what level of reisdment they may receive if they are successfphysicians do not receive adequate
reimbursement under the miscellaneous CPT code tihose local carriers, our existing customers nrait br curtail their use of the NC-stat
System and we may be unable to obtain new custometts of which could materially and adversely imipaur revenues and profitability. The
AMA CPT Editorial Panel has formed a committee vbhig expected to examine the reimbursement codilmgtomated nerve conduction
studies, including the NC-stat System and othesteddiagnostic equipment from additional manufagtsir The findings of this committee may
affect which CPT codes Medicare carriers and coroiakpayers require from physicians who performcedures with the NC-stat System.
Additional third-party payers, including local Medre carriers and commercial payers, could potgntake a position that could reduce or
eliminate the reimbursement for the NC-stat SysfEimese payers may also impose requirements ongiaysito submit additional paperwork
supporting the medical necessity of nerve condacttadies performed using the NC-stat System. $mhirements could potentially impact
the use of the NC-stat System and could potentiediye an adverse impact on our revenues.

Additionally, the LCDs and coding articles issugdidical Medicare carriers have also addressed dauof other issues, including (1)
background and training of physicians supervisingerforming nerve conduction studies; (2) the l@fdraining requirements for technicians
performing a nerve conduction study; (3) whetheveeonduction tests should be required to be pagd concomitantly
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with an nEMG procedure; and (4) whether the NC-Stattem is comparable to conventional nerve coimtutesting equipment. We do not
believe that these LCDs prohibit physicians frorereing reimbursement under Medicare for medicaigessary nerve conduction studies
performed using the NC-stat System. However, th€X®s are relatively new and they do appear to kgetad at limiting access to perform
and/or reimbursement for nerve conduction studibese LCDs could be interpreted or implementedrimaaner that limits the ability of
physicians to receive reimbursement under Mediftaraerve conduction studies performed using theste€ System, which could adversely
affect our business.

In the United States, some insured individualsraceiving their medical care through managed cesgrams, which monitor and often
require pre-approval of the services that a memlilereceive. Some managed care programs are pdiigigproviders on a per capita basis,
which puts the providers at financial risk for #ervices provided to their patients by paying th@eeiders a predetermined payment per
member per month, and consequently, may limit thingness of these providers to use our products.

We believe that the overall escalating cost of m&diroducts and services has led to, and willinaetto lead to, increased pressures on
the healthcare industry to reduce the costs ofymisdand services. We cannot assure you that plairy- reimbursement and coverage will be
available or adequate, or that future legislatiegulation, or reimbursement policies of third-ggrayers will not adversely affect the demand
for our products or our ability to sell these prottuon a profitable basis. The unavailability adequacy of third-party payer coverage or
reimbursement could have a material adverse effeciur business, operating results and financiadlition.

FDA and Other Governmental Regulation
FDA Regulatior

Our products are medical devices subject to extensigulation by the FDA under the U.S. Food, Dargl Cosmetic Act, as well as ot
regulatory bodies. The FDA classifies medical desimto one of three classes on the basis of thieale deemed necessary to reasonably
ensure their safety and effectiveness:

» Class I, requiring general controls, including lidog, device listing, reporting and, for some protiy adherence to good manufacturing
practices through the FDA'’s quality system regolagiand pre-market notification;

« Class Il, requiring general controls and speciaticds, which may include performance standardsost-market surveillance; and

» Class lll, requiring general controls and pre-maggproval.

Before being introduced into the market, our praslueust obtain market clearance through eithebiit¥k) pre-market notification
process, thele novareview process or the pre-market approval process.

510(k) Pre-Market Notification Process

To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit a preketianotification demonstrating that the proposedick is substantially equivalent in
intended use, safety and effectiveness to a legaisketed Class | or Il medical device or to a €ldlsdevice marketed prior to May 28, 1976
for which the FDA has not yet required the subnoissif a pre-market approval application. In som&esawe may be required to perform
clinical trials to support a claim of substantiglésalence. It generally takes three months froendhte of submission to obtain 510
(k) clearance, but it can be significantly longer.

After a medical device receives 510(k) clearanog,raodification that could significantly affect gsfety or effectiveness, or that would
constitute a significant change in its intended vsguires a new 510(k) clearance or could reqléraovcclassification or prenarket approvs
The FDA allows each
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company to make this determination, but the FDAresiew the decision. If the FDA disagrees wittompany’s decision not to seek FDA
authorization, the FDA may retroactively require tompany to seek 510(k) cleararmbe novaclassification or pre-market approval. The FDA
also can require the company to cease marketingparetall the medical device in question until B Qlearancege novoclassification or
pre-market approval is obtained or take other actio

De Novo Review Proce

If a previously unclassified medical device doesqualify for the 510(k) pre-market notificationqmess because there is no predicate
device to which it is substantially equivalent, aithe device may be adequately regulated thrayagteral controls or special controls, the
device may be eligible fate novoclassification through what is called tte novareview process. In order to use tfenovareview process, a
company must receive a letter from the FDA statitad, because the device has been found not stibfitaaquivalent to a legally marketed
Class | or Il medical device or to a Class Il devimarketed prior to May 28, 1976 for which the FBes not yet required the submission of a
pre-market approval application, it has been plastxiClass Ill. After receiving this letter, therapany, within 30 days, must submit to the
FDA a request fode novcclassification into Class | or II. The FDA then t&&days in which to approve or deny tlenovoclassification
request. If the FDA grantde novaclassification, the device will be placed into eitiClass | or Class Il, and allowed to be markelfeal.
product is classified into Class | or Il througle tte novareview process, then that device may serve asdicate device for subsequent 510
(k) pre-market notifications.

Pre-Market Approval Process

If a medical device does not qualify for the 51Q§kg-market notification process and is not eligifar clearance through tide novo
review process, a company must file a pre-markptaal application. The pre-market approval progesserally requires more extensive pre-
filing testing than is required in the 510(k) prexiet notification process and is more costly, tapgnd uncertain. The pre-market approval
process can take one to three years or longerpiighenarket approval process requires the compapyotee the safety and effectiveness of the
device to the FDA's satisfaction through extensiubmissions, including pre-clinical and clinicaatdata, and information about the device,
its design, manufacture, labeling and componerafor® granting pre-market approval, the FDA getgirdso performs an on-site inspection
of manufacturing facilities for the product to eresaompliance with the FDA'’s quality system regiaas. After any pre-market approval, a
new premarket approval application or application suppletmeay be required in the event of modificationshte device, its labeling, intend
use or indication, or its manufacturing process.

Pos-Approval Obligations
After a device is placed on the market, numerogslegory requirements continue to apply. Theseuiel

« the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, whiefuires manufacturers, including third-party maatdirers, to follow stringent
design, testing, control, documentation and othidity assurance procedures during all aspectseofrtanufacturing process;

« labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions agaim& promotion of products for uncleared or unapptdayges (known as ofébel uses
as well as requirements to provide adequate infooman both risks and benefits;

« medical device reporting, or MDR, regulations, whiequire that manufacturers report to FDA if trdgrice may have caused or
contributed to a death or serious injury or malfiored in a way that would likely cause or conttéto a death or serious injury if the
malfunction were to recur;
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« post-market surveillance regulations, which apphew necessary to protect the public health ordeide additional safety and
effectiveness data for the device;

« regular, unannounced, inspections by FDA to re\aawanufactures facilities and their compliance with applicab@A-requirements
and

» the FDA's recall authority, whereby it can askpoder, device manufacturers to recall from the raagkproduct that is in violation of
governing laws and regulations.

NC-stat System

The NC-stat System has received six 510(k) cleasas a Class Il medical device, the first of whiets received in 1998, and the most
recent (KO60584) in August 2006. The NC-stat Systasthe following intended use, as stated in thstmecent 510(k) approval:

“The NEUROMetrix NC-stat is intended to stimulatelaneasure neuromuscular signals that are usefdidgnosing and evaluating
systemic and entrapment neuropathies.”

Furthermore, Section 6 (Basis for Substantial Egjeice) of the 510(k) Summary states:

“Clinical data submitted in the 510(k) demonstratkat nerve conduction measurements obtained ubm@IC-stat are comparable to
those obtained using conventional nerve condugtieasurement equipment.”

We believe that this intended use is consistertt thi¢ manner in which the NC-stat System is mackatel used by our customers.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we submittedl8(k) filing for an updated version of the onCalfdrmation System, and we are
currently in the process of responding to a regfeesadditional information from the FDA relatedttus filing. Prior versions of the onCall
Information System were included in the 510(k)fijs for the NC-stat System. During the first quaofe2007, we also submitted a 510
(k) filing for the ADVANCE System.

DigiScope
The DigiScope received a 510(k) clearance (K99028% Class Il medical device in 1999 and the dedruse language is as follows:

“The DigiScope is intended to capture and storedgesof the retina taken by a fundus camera. ThéSbape has the same intended use
and indications as the predicate devices, funduseras and computer hardware/software intended piuwre, store and transmit images
of the fundus.”

Manufacturing Facilities

We currently have three contract manufacturinglifaes, of which one has been inspected by FDAm past, and observations were
noted. There were no findings that involved a sigant violation of regulatory requirements. Thepenses to these observations have been
accepted by FDA, and we believe that we are intanbial compliance with the QSR. Like all manufaets, we expect our contract
manufacturers to be inspected by FDA again intieré. If FDA finds significant shortcomings, weubd be subject to fines, recalls or
requirements to halt manufacturing.

U.S. Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, there are federal and stdteékigkback laws that prohibit the offer, paymeslicitation or receipt of kickbacks,
bribes or other remuneration, whether direct oiréad, overt or covert, in cash or in kind, inteddamong other things, to induce the purchase
or recommendation of healthcare products and sesvi?/hile the federal law applies only to prodwstd services for which payment may be
made by a federal healthcare program, the stateaay apply regardless of whether any
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public healthcare funds are involved. Violationghedse laws can lead to severe civil and crimiealgities, including exclusion from
participation in federal healthcare programs. THages are potentially applicable to manufacturdmnedical devices, such as us, and to
hospitals, physicians and other potential purclsasEmedical devices. Other provisions of state fadéral law provide civil and criminal
penalties for presenting, or causing to be presemtethird-party payers for reimbursement, clath are false or fraudulent, or which are for
items or services that were not provided as clairedier the federal civil False Claims Act, in &difi to actions initiated by federal law
enforcement authorities, the statute authorizestam” actions to be brought on behalf of the fedgovernment by a private party in certain
circumstances and, if successful, that privateypaah share in any monetary recovery. Our busipessices could be subject to scrutiny and
challenge by federal or state enforcement offiaialethers under these laws. This type of challaayedd have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat We are currently subject to an investigabgrihe Office of Inspector General (“OIG")
within the Department of Health and Human Servizesed on a subpoena served to us in the seconemof2006. We are cooperating with
the OIG with their informational request. In addlitj we have recently become aware that we areuthject of an investigation by the United
States Department of Justice. We have not yet indermed of the subject of this investigation oceed any formal request for information
relating to it.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had a total of 123 eggas. Of the total employees, 26 were in reseandrdevelopment, 72 in sales and
marketing and 25 in general and administrativeisesv Two employees hold both M.D. and Ph.D. degrgéadditional employees hold Ph.D.
degrees and 1 additional employee holds an M.Dregeg

Our employees are not represented by a labor wridrare not subject to a collective bargaining egent. We have never experienced a
work stoppage. We believe our relations with oupkyees are good.

Available Information

We were organized as a corporation in the stal@etdware in 1996. Access to our Annual Report omFd0-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendsrterthese reports filed with or furnished to Sexurities and Exchange Commission,
or SEC, may be obtained through the Investor Relatsection of our website at www.neurometrix.cor@stor as soon as reasonably prac
after we electronically file or furnish these regsoiVe do not charge for access to and viewinpede reports. Information on our Investor
Relations page and on our website is not partisfAhnual Report on Form 10-K or any of our othetigities filings unless specifically
incorporated herein by reference. In addition,ghblic may read and copy any materials that wewith the SEC at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, 20649. The public may obtain information on tipemtion of the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Alsa,fiimgs with the Securities and Exchange Comnaisgnay be accessed through the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Electroni@a@dthering, Analysis and Retrieval system at wewgov. All statements made in any
of our securities filings, including all forwardd&ing statements or information, are made as oflttie of the document in which the statement
is included, and we do not assume or undertakehbligation to update any of those statements ouch@nts unless we are required to do s
law.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following riskelall other information contained in this annuaport on Form 10-K and our other
public filings before making any investment decisiwith respect to our common stock. If any ofdotlewing risks occurs, our busines
prospects, reputation, results of operations oafficial condition could be harmed. In that case,ttlaeling price of our common stock cot
decline, and our stockholders could lose all ortprtheir investment. This annual report also @dm$ forwardlooking statements that invol
risks and uncertainties. Our actual results couified materially from those anticipated in the f@wmd-looking statements as a result of specific
factors, including the risks described below argkelhere in this annual repo

We have incurred significant operating losses sindaception and cannot assure you that we will susta profitability.

The extent of our future operating income or logsdsghly uncertain, and we may not be able tdangprofitability. We have incurred
significant cumulative net losses since our ina@ptincluding net losses of approximately $4.9 ignillin 2002, $3.9 million in 2003 and $4.7
million in 2004. In 2005 and 2006, we recordedinebme of $249,000 and $4.3 million, respectivélyDecember 31, 2006, we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $53.7 millidle cannot assure you that we will be able to susite profitability achieved in 2005 and
2006.

If physicians or other healthcare providers are unale to obtain sufficient reimbursement from third-party healthcare payers for
procedures performed using our products, the adoptin of our products and our future product sales wilbe severely harmed.

Widespread adoption of our products by the medioaimunity is unlikely to occur if physicians do meteive sufficient reimbursement
from third-party payers for performing procedureig our products. If physicians are unable to iobddequate reimbursement for procedures
performed using our products, we may be unableltamar products and our business would sufferifigantly. Additionally, even if these
procedures are reimbursed by third-party payensgrseé changes in payers’ policies toward reimbuesgror the procedures would harm our
ability to market and sell our products. Third-ggpayers include those governmental programs ssidhealicare and Medicaid, workers’
compensation programs, private health insurerso#tmel organizations. These organizations may demgrage if they determine that a
procedure was not reasonable or necessary, forg&aihits use was not considered medically appate, or was experimental, or was
performed for an unapproved indication. In additisome health care systems are moving towards redreege arrangements in which they
contract to provide comprehensive healthcare foteal cost per person, irrespective of the amodicage actually provided. These providers,
in an effort to control healthcare costs, are iasiegly challenging the prices charged for medicatucts and services and, in some instances,
have pressured medical suppliers to lower theagsrilf we are pressured to lower our prices, euemues may decline and our profitability
could be harmed. CMS guidelines set the reimburaenages for procedures covered by Medicare. Futgalatory action by CMS or other
governmental agencies or negative clinical resulig diminish reimbursement payments to physicianpé&rforming procedures using our
products. Medicaid reimbursement differs from statstate, and some state Medicaid programs maseimoburse physicians for performing
procedures using our products in an adequate amibantll. Additionally, some private payers dat fiollow the CMS and Medicaid
guidelines and may reimburse for only a portiothefse procedures or not at all. We are unablegadigtrwhat changes will be made in the
reimbursement methods used by private or goverrah#hitd-party payers.

In particular, we note that as our presence imheket expands and the use of the NC-stat Systeredses, we are experiencing and are
likely to continue to experience an increased fdoms third-party payers and governmental agenagarding the reimbursement of nerve
conduction studies performed
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using the NC-stat System and an increased focus tihese organizations regarding the professiomgiirements for performing nerve
conduction studies in general. At any point in tim@&umber of third-party payers may take positiathgersely affecting reimbursement,
including taking the position of not reimbursingr@ustomers for their use of the NC-stat Systenririguhe second half of 2006 and early
2007, five local Medicare carriers covering a tatdwenty states issued draft LCDs, final LCDscoding articles particularly addressing
coverage and reimbursement policies for nerve coimlustudies that could adversely impact the reirebment of the NGtat System. Seve
of these carriers indicated that they will not reimse physicians under Medicare for nerve condnaiadies performed using the NC-stat
System under the three existing CPT codes for attiovgal nerve conduction studies (95900, 9590335#04), which provide for levels of
reimbursement fixed by CMS, but rather that physisimust submit claims for reimbursement for thpgseedures under a miscellaneous CPT
code (95999), in which case the local carriers déliermine the level of reimbursement to be paiany. We do not know what success our
customers will have in obtaining reimbursement uride miscellaneous code or what level of reimbuesgt they may receive if they are
successful. The AMA CPT Editorial Panel has forrmembmmittee which is expected to examine the reisdrmaent coding of automated nerve
conduction studies, including the NC-stat Systech@ther traditional equipment. The findings of tb@snmittee may affect which CPT codes
Medicare carriers require from physicians who penfprocedures with the NC-stat System. Additiohabtparty payers, including local
Medicare carriers and commercial payers, couldrgiztity take a position that could reduce or eliatethe reimbursement for the NC-stat
System. These payers may also impose requiremerglysicians to submit additional paperwork sugpgrthe medical necessity of nerve
conduction studies performed using the NC-state3ysBuch requirements could potentially impactube of the NC-stat System and could
potentially have a material and adverse impactwnevenues.

Additionally, the LCDs and coding articles issugdidical Medicare carriers have also addressed dauof other issues, including (1)
background and training of physicians supervisingerforming nerve conduction studies; (2) the l®fdraining requirements for technicians
performing a nerve conduction study; (3) whethev@eeonduction tests should be required to be pagd concomitantly with an nEMG
procedure; and (4) whether the NC-stat Systemrigpawable to conventional nerve conduction testagpmment. We do not believe that these
LCDs prohibit physicians from receiving reimburserfor medically necessary nerve conduction stugerformed using the NC-stat System.
However, these LCDs are relatively new and thegploear targeted at limiting access to perform arréimbursement for nerve conduction
studies. These LCDs could be interpreted or impigatkin a manner that limits the ability of phyaits to receive reimbursement under
Medicare for nerve conduction studies performedgitiie NC-stat System.

If physicians do not receive access to and adegaatdursement under the miscellaneous CPT code tihose local carriers that
currently, or in the future, require proceduresfigrened using the NC-stat System to be submittedgutiiat code, our existing customers in
those areas may limit or curtail their use of the-stat System, we may be unable to obtain new metoand we may face increasing pricing
pressure, all of which could materially adversetpact our business and our revenues and profiighili particular. If the LCDs recently
adopted or reimbursement determinations adoptéukifuture relating to the reimbursement of nermeduction studies place additional
restrictions or qualifications on the performan€¢hese procedures generally or, using the NCSygatem, our business, revenues and
profitability could be materially adversely affedtd-or example, in the fourth quarter of 2006, wpegienced a decline in revenues from the
third quarter of 2006, which we believe primarisulted from the uncertainty created by the isseiafithe draft LCDs, final LCDs and codi
articles issued by local Medicare carriers thatdascribed above. Additionally, in the short-tethg uncertainty caused by these recent
changes, or other future changes, in third-pargye reimbursement policies regarding nerve conductiodies may cause existing custon
to reduce their use of the NC-stat System and fiatarew customers to defer a decision or declinpurchase the NC-stat System, which
could materially
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adversely affect our business. We are expendingaatidipate continuing to expend substantial resesito address potential reimbursement
issues with third-party payers. Widespread adopiothe NC-stat System by the medical communityrikely to occur if physicians do not
receive satisfactory reimbursement from third-padyers for procedures performed with the NC-syatesn.

We may be unable to expand the market for the NC-at System, which would limit our ability to increase our revenues.

We believe that the drawbacks of traditional neaeeduction studies, including those related tordferral process, and the limited
treatment options for DPN, have limited the nunmdfemerve conduction studies that are performed.deoifuture growth, we are relying, in
part, on increased use of nerve conduction studi@simber of factors could limit the increased aaerve conduction studies and the K@t
System, including:

« third-party payers challenging, or the threat afdtiparty payers challenging, the necessity oféased levels of nerve conduction
studies;

third-party payers reducing or eliminating reimkament for procedures performed by physicians uiadNC-stat System;

unfavorable experiences by physicians using thesN€System;
« physicians’ reluctance to alter their existing pices; and

« the failure of other companies’ existing drug depehent programs to produce an effective treatn@mDPN, which may limit the
perceived need and the actual use of the NC-s&eByin connection with this disease, and theribly br delay our growth in the
DPN market, which we have estimated to be our kirgetential market for our NC-stat System.

If we are unable to expand the market for the NiZ-System, our ability to increase our revenuebheillimited and our business
prospects will be adversely affected.

We may not be able to accurately predict the sizef the market for our products.

We may not be able to accurately predict the sizBe@market for our products. Neuropathies tradiily have been diagnosed by an
NCS/nEMG procedure, performed by a neurologisthysirian in a related specialty. We estimate thate are approximately 2.0 millic
traditional NCS/nEMG procedures performed each yre#lte United States; however, we anticipate thatadvantages and increased
availability of the NCstat System will significantly increase the numbEnerve conduction studies performed. Based oranalysis of currel
data, we estimate that the potential market siz¢hfo NC-stat System in the diabetes, low back pathcarpal tunnel syndrome markets in the
aggregate could be greater than 9.5 million anpatént tests. This represents a significant ireea the size of the market for nerve
conduction studies and is based upon a numbeisahgstions and estimates, which themselves mayaatburate. For example, we have
assumed that all initial office visits for low bapkin may represent an opportunity for use of tkiedtht System, and we have estimated that ar
annual testing rate of 50% for all individuals diaged with diabetes represents the potential asaléss market in diabetes. We estimate that
the size of the market for a point-eérvice product for the detection of diabetic repiathy could be nearly $700 million. There arenaated tc
be 21 million people in the United States with @itds and it is estimated that 15 million have distireen diagnosed with diabetes. Using an
eye examination fee of $45 per patient, this regssa potential market size of nearly $700 milligiarket size is difficult to predict, and we
cannot assure you that our assumptions or estimaitgsrove to be correct. The industry and marttata in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
on which we have based our assumptions and estsroffature market size, may be inaccurate or ingete, and we have
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not independently verified those data. If our eatis of the sizes of the markets for our producisdorrect, our potential revenue growth may
be limited.

If we are unable to successfully sell our product® primary care and specialist physicians, our abity to increase our revenues will be
limited.

We are focusing our sales and marketing effortsfferNC-stat System and the DigiScope on primarg aad specialist physicians. As
these physicians traditionally have not been tadjbly companies selling equipment used to perf@menconduction studies or eye scans, we
may face difficulties in selling our products teth. Particularly, we may be unable to convinceeh#@sy/sicians that our products provide
effective alternatives or useful supplements teting testing methods. In addition, these physi&iaay be reluctant to make the capital
investment required to purchase the NC-stat Systemnse the DigiScope and alter their existing peast If we are unable to successfully sell
our products to primary care and specialist phggaii our ability to increase our revenues will &eesely limited.

We are dependent on two single source manufacturete produce the NC-stat System, and any change imorelationship with either of
these manufacturers could prevent us from deliverig products to our customers in a timely manner andgnay materially adversely
impact our future revenues or costs.

We rely on two third-party manufacturers to mantiae all of the components of the NC-stat Systenthé event that either of our
manufacturers ceases to manufacture sufficienttdigsnof our products in a timely manner and amieacceptable to us, we would be forced
to locate an alternate manufacturer. Additionaflgjther of our manufacturers experiences a failarits production process, is unable to ot
sufficient quantities of the components necessamadnufacture our products or otherwise fails tetoair quality requirements, we may be
forced to delay the manufacture and sale of oudyets or locate an alternative manufacturer. We beaynable to locate suitable alternative
manufacturers for our products, particularly our-Bl&t biosensors, for which the manufacturing pseds relatively specialized, on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. We have entered imtexalusive manufacturing and supply agreement RiétHex for the manufacture of the NGx
biosensors, and currently rely on a single manufact Sunburst, for the manufacture of our NC-stanitors and docking stations. We do
occasionally experience transient inventory shasamn new products during the initial productiompaup phase. If any of the changes in our
relationships with these manufacturers as descabeste occurs, our ability to supply our custonvaibe severely limited until we are able
engage an alternate manufacturer or, if applicabknlve any quality issues with our existing maetdrer. This situation could prevent us
from delivering products to our customers in a tinmaanner, lead to decreased sales or increasés, cosiarm our reputation with our
customers.

If our manufacturers are unable to supply us with a adequate supply of products as we expand our maeks, we could lose customers,
our growth could be limited and our business coulde harmed.

In order for us successfully to expand our busimé#isin the United States and internationally, oantract manufacturers must be able to
provide us with our products in substantial quésgitin compliance with regulatory requirementsa@cordance with agreed upon
specifications, at acceptable cost and on a tifa$ys. Our anticipated growth may strain the gbdftour manufacturers to deliver an
increasingly large supply of products and obtainemals and components in sufficient quantitiesnhfacturers often experience difficulties
scaling up production, including problems with piotion yields and quality control and assurancedfare unable to obtain sufficient
guantities of high quality products to meet custodemand on a timely basis, we could lose custoneersgrowth may be limited and our
business could be harmed.
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We currently rely entirely on EyeTel for the produdion and supply of the DigiScope to customers anchahe Wilmer Eye Institute for
the analysis of eye scans performed by our custonserAny interruption in supply of the DigiScope sysgms from EyeTel or any
interruption in the services provided by the Wilmer Eye Institute could significantly reduce our abilty to generate revenues.

EyeTel is the sole manufacturer of the DigiScope thiey serve as the only source of supply of systencustomers. If there were any
interruption in the manufacturing and supply calitids of EyeTel, our ability to generate revenfresn the DigiScope could be adversely
impacted. The Wilmer Eye Institute receives digiedns from customers using the DigiScope and ga@aists employed by the Wilmer Eye
Institute analyze the images and within 24-48 heafiter receipt provide a report to the physiciarowlerformed the eye scan indicating the
results of the scan. If the Wilmer Eye Institutellconot continue to perform this service to ourtougers in a timely manner, our ability to
generate revenues from the DigiScope could be myeadversely impacted.

We currently rely entirely on sales of the productghat comprise the NC-stat System to generate revaes, and any factors that
negatively impact our sales of these products couklgnificantly reduce our ability to generate revenes.

We introduced the NC-stat System to the market &y 999. We derive all of our revenues from safah® products that comprise the
NC-stat System, and we expect that sales of theskipt®will continue to constitute the substantiajority of our sales for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, our ability to generate revesus entirely reliant on our ability to market as&dl the products that comprise the NC-stat
System, particularly the disposable biosensorsssafl which accounted for approximately 86.4%, 8/ahd 87.6% of our total revenues in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Our sales afetipeoducts may be negatively impacted by mangfacincluding:

» changes or proposed changes in reimbursementmapesicies relating to our products by third-papiyers;

« the failure of the market to accept our products;

« manufacturing problems;

« claims that our products infringe on patent right®ther intellectual property rights owned by atparties;

« adverse regulatory or legal actions relating toproducts;

« competitive pricing and related factors; and

« results of clinical studies relating to our produet our competitors’ products.

If any of these events occurs, our ability to gaterevenues could be significantly reduced.
The patent rights we rely upon to protect the intdectual property underlying our products may not beadequate, which could enable
third parties to use our technology and would harnmour ability to compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part on our ability éwelop or acquire commercially valuable patenttdgnd to protect these rights
adequately. Our patent position is generally uagend involves complex legal and factual questidine risks and uncertainties that we face
with respect to our patents and other related sigidlude the following:

» the pending patent applications we have filed awtiich we have exclusive rights may not resulssued patents or may take longer
than we expect to result in issued patents;
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« the claims of any patents that are issued may movige meaningful protection;

* we may not be able to develop additional proprietachnologies that are patentable;

» other parties may challenge patents, patent claimpsitent applications licensed or issued to ud; an
< other companies may design around technologiesawe patented, licensed or developed.

We also may not be able to protect our patentsigffectively in some foreign countries. For a &griof reasons, we may decide not to
file for patent protection. Our patent rights urgieg our products may not be adequate, and oumpetitors or customers may design around
our proprietary technologies or independently depelimilar or alternative technologies or produbtg are equal or superior to our technol
and products without infringing on any of our pataghts. In addition, the patents licensed or éssto us may not provide a competitive
advantage. If any of these events were to occurability to compete in the market would be harmed.

Other rights and measures we have taken to proteciur intellectual property may not be adequate, whib would harm our ability to
compete in the market.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combinatiottrafle secrets, copyright and trademark laws, denfiality, nondisclosure and
assignment of invention agreements and other acintxbprovisions and technical measures to pratecintellectual property rights. In
particular, we have sought no patent protectiortfertechnology and algorithms we use in our onld&tirmation System, and we rely on tre
secrets to protect this information. While we catlerequire employees, consultants and other théndies to enter into confidentiality, non-
disclosure or assignment of invention agreemengsammbination thereof where appropriate, any effthlowing could still occur:

» the agreements may be breached;
* we may have inadequate remedies for any breach;
« trade secrets and other proprietary informatiorctbe disclosed to our competitors; or

« others may independently develop substantially\edeint proprietary information and techniques ¢reotvise gain access to our trade
secrets or disclose such technologies.

If, for any of the above reasons, our intellectur@lperty is disclosed or misappropriated, it wouédm our ability to protect our rights and
our competitive position.
We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or enfice our patents and other intellectual property richts, which could be expensive and,
if we lose, could cause us to lose some of our iifeetual property rights, which would harm our ability to compete in the market.

We rely on patents to protect a portion of ourllatgual property and our competitive position.dPatlaw relating to the scope of claim:
the technology fields in which we operate is glblving and, consequently, patent positions inntieglical device industry are generally
uncertain. In order to protect or enforce our piatights, we may initiate patent litigation agaittsitd parties, such as infringement suits or
interference proceedings. Litigation may be neagdsa

» assert claims of infringement;
 enforce our patents;
« protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

» determine the enforceability, scope and validityhef proprietary rights of others.
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Any lawsuits that we initiate could be expensiaket significant time and divert management’s ait@nfrom other business concerns.
Litigation also puts our patents at risk of beingalidated or interpreted narrowly and our pat@miaations at risk of not issuing. Additional
we may provoke third parties to assert claims agjais. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that migate and the damages or other remedies
awarded, if any, may not be commercially valuable occurrence of any of these events could hambasiness, our ability to compete in
market or our reputation.

Claims that our products infringe on the proprietary rights of others could adversely affect our abity to sell our products and increase
our costs.

Substantial litigation over intellectual properights exists in the medical device industry. Weestgghat our products could be
increasingly subject to third-party infringemenrdiohs as the number of competitors grows and thetifumality of products and technology in
different industry segments overlap. Third partiesy currently have, or may eventually be issuetkérmia on which our products or
technologies may infringe. Any of these third pestmight make a claim of infringement against usy Atigation regardless of its impact
would likely result in the expenditure of signifidfinancial resources and the diversion of managgts time and resources. In addition,
litigation in which we are accused of infringememdy cause negative publicity, adversely impactgeove customers, cause product
shipment delays or require us to develop non-igfrig technology, make substantial payments to héndies, or enter into royalty or license
agreements, which may not be available on acceptabihs, or at all. If a successful claim of infliment were made against us and we could
not develop non-infringing technology or license thfringed or similar technology on a timely arabteffective basis, our revenues may
decrease substantially and we could be exposddnifisant liability.

We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDAyhich could restrict the sales and marketing of théNC-stat System and could cause
us to incur significant costs.

We sell medical devices that are subject to extensgulation in the United States by the FDA fammfacturing, labeling, sale,
promotion, distribution and shipping. Before a mewedical device, or a new use of or claim for arstxg product, can be marketed in the
United States, it must first receive either 51@(karance, grant ofde novcclassification or pre-marketing approval from tHeA; unless an
exemption applies. We may be required to obtaiava 510(k) clearance ale novcclassification or pre-market approval for signifit@ost-
market modifications to our products. Each of theseesses can be expensive and lengthy. The FrAtess for granting 510(k) clearance
usually takes approximately three months, butritlza significantly longer. The process for obtagnile novoclassification involves a level of
scrutiny similar to the 510(k) clearance process process for obtaining pre-market approval ishhmmaore costly and uncertain and it
generally takes from one to three years, or longem the time the application is filed with the AD

Medical devices may be marketed only for the intilices for which they are approved or cleared. Waehzbtained 510(k) clearance for
the current clinical applications for which we meatrlour products. However, our clearances can bekeslif safety or effectiveness problems
develop. Further, we may not be able to obtaintamdil 510(k) clearances or premarket approvalsiéwv products or for modifications to, or
additional indications for, our existing produatsai timely fashion, or at all. Delays in obtainfiagure clearances would adversely affect our
ability to introduce new or enhanced products fimeely manner, which in turn would harm our reveamnel future profitability. We have made
modifications to our devices in the past and makeradditional modifications in the future that welibve do not or will not require additional
clearances or approvals. If the FDA disagrees,raqdires new clearances or approvals for the naaditins, we may be required to recall and
to stop marketing the modified devices. If anyhafde events occur, we may not be able to provideusiomers with the quantity of products
they require on a timely basis, our reputation ddad harmed, and we could lose customers and sefieced revenues and increased costs.
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We also are subject to numerous post-marketindaiggy requirements, including quality system regioins, which relate to the design,
manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, ingtallaand servicing of our products, labeling re¢jolas and medical device reporting
regulations. Our failure or the failure by any mfaaturer of our products to comply with applicabégulatory requirements could result in
enforcement action by the FDA, which may includg ahthe following sanctions:

< warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent desraad civil penalties;
* requiring repair, replacement, refunds, recallezwre of our products;
» imposing operating restrictions, suspension ordswih of production;

 refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or pagket approval of new products, new intended uzesiodifications to existing
products;

» withdrawing 510(k) clearance or pre-market apprevhat have already been granted; and
e criminal prosecution.

If any of these events were to occur, they couldnhaur reputation, our ability to generate reverared our profitability.

If we or the manufacturers of our products fail tocomply with the FDA'’s quality system regulations, he manufacturing and
distribution of our products could be interrupted, and our product sales and operating results couldusfer.

We and our contract manufacturers are requiredngpty with the FDA'’s quality system regulations,ialhis a complex regulatory
scheme that covers the procedures and documentdtiba design, testing, production, control, gyadissurance, labeling, packaging,
sterilization, storage and shipping of our deviddse FDA enforces its quality system regulatiorrstdigh periodic unannounced inspections.
We cannot assure you that our facilities or thdifees of the manufacturers of our products wopéss any future quality system inspection. If
our or any of the facilities of the manufacturef®wor products fail a quality system inspectiorg thanufacturing or distribution of our produ
could be interrupted and our operations disrugfadlure to take adequate and timely correctiveoadih response to an adverse quality system
inspection could force a suspension or shutdowsuopackaging and labeling operations, the oparatad the manufacturers of our product
a recall of our products. If any of these eventsuog, we may not be able to provide our customéltstive quantity of products they require on
a timely basis, our reputation could be harmed,w@dould lose customers and suffer reduced reweane increased costs.

Our products are subject to recalls even after redeing FDA clearance or approval, which would harm arr reputation, business and
financial results.

We are subject to the medical device reporting legguns, which require us to report to the FDAfr groducts may have caused or
contributed to a death or serious injury, or hawfamctioned in a way that would be likely to hasaised or contributed to a death or serious
injury. The FDA and similar governmental bodie®ther countries have the authority to require gwall of our products if we or the
manufacturers of our products fail to comply wighewant regulations pertaining to manufacturingpicas, labeling, advertising or
promotional activities, or if new information istained concerning the safety or efficacy of ourduats. A government-mandated or voluntary
recall by us could occur as a result of manufactudefects, labeling deficiencies, packaging defectother failures to comply with applicable
regulations. Any recall would divert managemenrgratibn and financial resources and harm our rejomtatith customers. A recall involving
the NC-stat System would be particularly harmfubtw business and financial results because thdupts that comprise the NC-stat System
currently produce substantially all of our revenues
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We are subject to federal and state laws prohibitig “kickbacks” and false or fraudulent claims, which if violated, could subject us to
substantial penalties. Additionally, any challengéo or investigation into our practices under thesdaws could cause adverse publicity
and be costly to respond to, and thus could harm @lusiness.

A federal law commonly known as the Medicare/Meitianti-kickback law, and several similar statedaprohibit any remuneration that
is intended to induce physicians or others eitbeeter patients or to acquire or arrange for coremend the acquisition of healthcare prod
or services. These laws constrain a medical degogpany’s sales, marketing and other promotionidities by limiting the kinds of business
relationships and financial arrangements, includialgs programs we may have with hospitals, praysscor other potential purchasers of
medical devices. Other federal and state laws géipgrohibit individuals or entities from knowingpresenting, or causing to be presented,
claims for payment to Medicare, Medicaid or otherd-party payers that are false or fraudulenfooitems or services that were not provided
as claimed. From time to time, we may provide cgdind billing information as product support toghasers of our products. Several
Medicare carriers, however, have developed artmtggoposed LCDs suggesting or imposing coverag@ing or billing guidelines that are
not consistent with coding information we have pded based on then-existing guidelines. Theregwing debate over how certain types of
nerve conduction tests, including those performsdgithe NC-stat System, would be billed and assessconnection with Medicare claims.
Accordingly, we cannot predict how the governmentid regard what it might allege to be billing @ding errors made with respect to
services rendered using our products and canndigbrghether the government might assert that aigh €rrors were not inadvertent and
therefore potentially subject to the federal cialderal Claims Act or other laws that could be ptigdly applicable to us. Anti-kickback and
false claims laws prescribe civil and criminal pléea for noncompliance, which can be quite sulighimcluding exclusion from participation
in federal healthcare programs. In the event tleatire found to have violated these laws or deteritairsettle a claim that we have done so
business may be materially adversely affectedrasut of any payments required to be made, réistnis on our future operations or actions
required to be taken, damage to our business tipuita adverse publicity in connection with sucfiraing or settlement or other adverse
effects relating thereto. Additionally, even anurmessful challenge or investigation into our gcast could cause adverse publicity, and be
costly to respond to, and thus could harm our lassirand results of operations.

We note that in the second quarter of 2006, weivedea subpoena from the OIG of the Departmentedith and Human Services
requesting documents from us in connection witinaastigation of potential violations of the fedeaati-kickback statute and False Claims
Act. We are cooperating with the OIG with theirdrhation request and there are presently no acéigasst us of which we are aware.

We are the subject of an investigation by the Unitd States Department of Justice, which could causel@erse publicity, be costly to
respond to or lead to civil or criminal charges agamst us or our employees, any of which could mateally adversely affect our business.

We have recently become aware that we are thedudfjan investigation by the United States Departhof Justice. We have not yet
been informed of the subject matter of this in\gedion or received any formal requests for infoibratelating to it. This investigation could
cause adverse publicity, be costly to respond teaxd to civil or criminal charges against us or employees, any of which could adversely
affect our business.
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If we are found to have violated laws protecting th confidentiality of patient health information, wecould be subject to civil or criminal
penalties, which could increase our liabilities andharm our reputation or our business.

There are a number of federal and state laws ghotethe confidentiality of individually identifide patient health information, including
patient records, and restricting the use and discof that protected information. In particutae U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services promulgated patient privacy rules undettbalth Insurance Portability and Accountabilityt &f 1996, or HIPAA. These privacy
rules protect medical records and other persorathihaformation by limiting their use and disclosugiving individuals the right to access,
amend and seek accounting of their own health inédion and limiting most use and disclosures oftheéaformation to the minimum amount
reasonably necessary to accomplish the intendgabper Although we do not believe that we are stltjethe HIPAA rules because we rece
patient data in our onCall Information System dmel\Wilmer Eye Institute receives patient data oamonymous basis, without patient
identifiers, the exact scope of these rules hadeen clearly established. If we are found to baatation of the privacy rules under HIPAA,
we could be subject to civil or criminal penaltiediich could increase our liabilities and harm mputation or our business.

The use of our products could result in product lidility claims that could be expensive, damage oureputation and harm our business.

Our business exposes us to an inherent risk ohpiateroduct liability claims related to the maaafuring, marketing and sale of medical
devices. The medical device industry historicalig leen litigious, and we face financial exposongroduct liability claims if the use of our
products were to cause or contribute to injuryeattl. In particular, the NC-stat System may beeqtéide to claims of injury because it
involves the electric stimulation of a patient'swves. Additionally, because the DigiScope testdfabetic retinopathy, which is a condition
that can lead to loss of vision or blindness ifreated, we could be subject to claims of injuratiely to any actual or claimed inadequacy, ¢
or malfunction of the DigiScope in testing for tleisndition or the WilmeEyeTel Reading Center in reading the results otéseperformed k
the DigiScope and communicating them to the phgsicAlthough we maintain product liability insur@nfor our products and other
commercial insurance, the coverage limits of tipdieies may not be adequate to cover future clafsssales and use of our products
increase, we may be unable to maintain sufficieatpct liability or other commercial insurance ateaptable terms or at reasonable costs, anc
this insurance may not provide us with adequate@me against potential liabilities. A successlaine brought against us in excess of, or
outside of, our insurance coverage could have anahtdverse effect on our financial condition aesults of operations. A product liability
claim, regardless of its merit or eventual outcoomeild result in substantial costs to us, a sulisiativersion of management attention and
adverse publicity. A product liability claim couddso harm our reputation and result in a declineewenues and an increase in expenses.

Our products are complex in design, and defects mayot be discovered prior to shipment to customersyhich could result in warranty
obligations or product liability or other claims, reducing our revenues and increasing our costs anibilities.

We depend upon third parties for the manufactureuofproducts. Our products, particularly our N@t&tiosensors, require a significant
degree of technical expertise to produce. If theaaufacturers fail to produce our products to dation, or if the manufacturers use
defective materials or workmanship in the manufaetuprocess, the reliability and performance of products will be compromised.
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If our products contain defects that cannot beiregayuickly, easily and inexpensively, we may eigrece:

 loss of customer orders and delay in order fuli@im

« damage to our brand reputation;

« increased cost of our warranty program due to prodepair or replacement;

« inability to attract new customers;

« diversion of resources from our manufacturing askarch and development departments into our setiejgartment; and
« legal action.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd harm our reputation and materially reducereuenues and increase our costs
and liabilities.

If we lose any of our officers or key employees, omanagement and technical expertise could be weaked significantly.

Our success largely depends on the skills, expegiand efforts of our officers, including Shai NoZani, M.D., Ph.D., our founder and
President and Chief Executive Officer; Gary L. Gmag our Chief Operating Officer; Guy Daniello, dsenior Vice President of Information
Technology; Michael Williams, Ph.D., our Senior ¥iBresident of Engineering; W. Bradford Smith, Ghief Financial Officer; and our other
key employees. We maintain a $5.0 million key peige insurance policy on Dr. Gozani, for whictet@ompany is the beneficiary, but do
maintain key person life insurance policies covg@amy of our other employees. The loss of any ofofficers or key employees could weaken
our management and technical expertise signifigaartti harm our business.

If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain skilled and experienced personnel, our ability to managand expand our business will be
harmed, which would impair our future revenues andprofitability.

We are a small company with only 123 employees &ecember 31, 2006, and our ability to retain skilled labor force and our succt
in attracting and hiring new skilled employees \W# a critical factor in determining our future foemance. We may not be able to meet our
future hiring needs or retain existing personned Wil face challenges and risks in hiring, tramimanaging and retaining engineering and
sales and marketing employees, as well as indepéneigional sales agencies and sales represestativst of whom are geographically
dispersed and must be trained in the use and beéfur products. Failure to attract and retagrspnnel, particularly technical and sales and
marketing personnel, would materially harm ourigbtb compete effectively and grow our business.

If we do not effectively manage our growth, our buisess resources may become strained, we may notdige to deliver our products in
a timely manner and our results of operations may & materially adversely affected.

In the past two years we have significantly incegbsur sales force and our total headcount. Thue/tr, as well as any other growth that
we may experience in the future, will provide caalies to our organization and may strain our manageand operations. We may misjudge
the amount of time or resources that will be regplito effectively manage any anticipated or ungrgied growth in our business or we may
not be able to attract, hire and retain sufficigeitsonnel to meet our needs. If we cannot scalbwsiness appropriately, maintain control over
expenses or otherwise adapt to anticipated andtioipated growth, our business resources may bectramed, we may not be able to deliver
our products in a timely manner and our resultspefrations may be materially adversely affected.

34




If we are unable to successfully expand, develop dmetain our sales force and maintain our independat sales agent network, oul
revenues may decline, our future revenue growth malge limited and our expenses may increase.

As of December 31, 2006, we employed 50 regionaksaanagers and 3 sales directors and utilizestvaonk of over 1,000 independent
sales agents. We are highly dependent on our ralgsates managers and independent sales agersdmate our revenues. Our ability to bt
and develop a strong sales force will be affected humber of factors, including:

< our ability to attract, integrate and motivate sglersonnel;

< our ability to effectively train our sales force;

« the ability of our sales force to sell an increasathber of products;

+ the length of time it takes new sales personnbetmme productive;

« the competition we face from other companies iimbiand retaining sales personnel;

+ our ability to effectively manage a multi-locatieales organization;

« our ability to enter into agreements with prospertnembers of our sales force on commercially nesisie terms; and

« our ability to get our independent sales agenegibs, may sell products of multiple companies, to outithe necessary resources to
effectively market and sell our products.

If we are unable to successfully build, develop eetdin a strong sales force, our revenues mayngedur revenue growth may be limi
and our expenses may increase.

Failure to develop or enter into relationships to ell products other than our existing products or ehance our existing products could
have an adverse effect on our business prospects.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, all of arermages were derived from selling the NC-stat Systeor future business and financial
success will depend, in part, on our ability totomure to introduce or sell new products and upgiggteducts into the marketplace. Develog
new products and upgrades to existing and futusdymts imposes burdens on our research and devefdglapartment and our management.
This process is costly, and we cannot assure yatunth will be able to successfully develop new piad or enhance the N&at System or ar
future products. We also may not be able to enterrelationships with other companies to sell addal products. In addition, as we develop
the market for our products, future competitors rdayelop desirable product features earlier thaleyavhich could make our competitors’
products less expensive or more effective thampeoaducts and could render our products obsoletmorarketable. If our product development
efforts are unsuccessful, we will have incurredhigant costs without recognizing the expecteddfiés and our business prospects may st
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We currently compete, and may in the future need teompete, against certain specialist physicians, duas neurologists, who perforn
traditional nerve conduction studies and other medial device companies with potentially greater resoues, more established
distribution channels and other competitive advantges, and the success of these competitors may haoor ability to generate revenues

We currently do, and in the future may need to, peta directly and indirectly with a number of otkempanies that enjoy significant
competitive advantages over us. Currently, in thiatpof-service market, we indirectly compete withmpanies that sell traditional
NCS/nEMG equipment. In this market, these compagiesndirect competitors because the equipmengtsbi traditionally has been used
neurologists, who rely upon and seek to obtainrrale from primary care and specialist physicianpérform the same types of tests that may
be performed by primary care and specialist phgaiiusing the NC-stat System. Additionally, inieglthe NC-stat System to neurologists,
which is not a market we historically have focusedwe compete directly with the companies thdttesditional NCS/nEMG equipment.
There are a number of companies that sell traditilCS/nEMG equipment including Viasys Healthcare | Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. and
Xltec, Inc. Additionally, we are aware of one compaNeumed, Inc., that markets a nerve conductiodyssystem to the point-of-service
market. Of these companies, Viasys Healthcareaitiqular, enjoy significant competitive advantagaesluding:

» greater resources for product development, salesreamketing;

* more established distribution networks;

e (greater name recognition;

* more established relationships with health caréegsionals, customers and third-party payers; and

« additional lines of products and the ability toesffebates or bundle products to offer discountaaentives.

As we develop the market for point-of-service nezwaduction studies, we may be faced with competitiom these companies or others
that decide and are able to enter this market. Swra# of our future competitors in the point-adrgice market may enjoy competitive
advantages such as those described above. If weabde to compete effectively against existing faidre competitors, our sales will decline
and our business will be harmed.

Currently, we believe that our most direct compesitare certain specialist physicians, such asotegists, who perform traditional nerve
conduction studies and may view the Ntat System as competitive with or a threat torthesiness. Because of the level of automationtlae
ease of use of the NC-stat System, thedtiE-System facilitates the performance of nerveaotion studies within the offices of a wider ral
of physicians. Accordingly, neurologists, includiagrofessional society representing a subseturlagists who most frequently perform
traditional nerve conduction studies, have compatetimay continue to compete with us by advancositipns that are adverse to the NC-stat
System. We believe this competition has come, amdast likely to continue to come, through the adesnent of positions challenging the
effectiveness and accuracy of the NC-stat Systairttanability of non-specialist physicians to pemfacnerve conduction studies and accurately
diagnose neuropathies. Because specialist physieiath professional societies may be viewed as atatioe, without regard to their potential
economic motives, and may have connections toflueince with various regulatory bodies and thpatty payers, they may have a competi
advantage over us and their positions may lead be oeflected in actions taken by these reguldbodies and third-party payers that are
adverse to our business.
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We are dependent upon the computer and communicatis infrastructure employed and utilized by our onCdl Information System,
and any failures or disruptions in this infrastructure could impact our revenues and profit margins orharm our reputation.

We are dependent upon the computer and communisdtiérastructure employed and utilized by our dh@dormation System. Our
computer and communications infrastructure consistéandard hardware, off-the-shelf system softwamponents, database servers,
proprietary application servers, a modem bank askidp applications. Our future success in setlirsgNC-stat System will depend, in part,
upon the maintenance and growth of this infrastmectAny failures or outages of this infrastructasea result of a computer virus, intentional
disruption of our systems by a third-party, mantifeing failure, telephone system failure, fire,rstpflood, power loss or other similar events,
could prevent or delay the operation of our on@dtirmation System, which could result in increasedts to eliminate these problems and
address related security concerns and harm outatégu with our customers. In addition, if our iastructure fails to accommodate growth in
customer transactions, customer satisfaction coelsnpaired, we could lose customers, our abititadd customers could be impaired or our
costs could be increased, any of which would hasmbaosiness.

If future clinical studies or other articles are pwlished, or physician associations or other organ&ions announce positions, that are
unfavorable to our products, our sales efforts andevenues may be negatively affected.

Future clinical studies or other articles regarding existing products or any competing producty tmapublished that either support a
claim, or are perceived to support a claim, thedmpetitor's product is more accurate or effecthan our products or that our products are not
as accurate or effective as we claim or previousca! studies have concluded. Additionally, phyesicassociations or other organizations that
may be viewed as authoritative or have an econartecest in nerve conduction studies and in relatedtrodiagnostic procedures or other
procedures that may be performed using our prodioetkl endorse products or methods that competeawit products or otherwise announce
positions that are unfavorable to our products.NAke experienced this with the professional s@setpresenting the neurologist community.
Any of these events may negatively affect our seffegts and result in decreased revenues.

Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may @ed to raise additional funds in the future, and tkse funds may not be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitsategether with our short-term investments andctish to be generated from expected
product sales will be sufficient to meet our pragecoperating requirements for at least the nexhagths. However, we may seek additional
funds from public and private stock offerings, lmovings under credit lines or other sources. Ouitabpequirements will depend on many
factors, including:

» the revenues generated by sales of our products;

« the costs associated with any expansion of ous sadd marketing efforts;

« the expenses we incur in manufacturing and setlingproducts;

« the costs of developing new products or technofogiel enhancements to existing products;

« the cost of obtaining and maintaining FDA apprawatiearance of our products and products in deveént;
« costs associated with any expansion;

 the costs associated with capital expenditures; and
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« the number and timing of any acquisitions or otesitegic transactions.

As a result of these factors, we may need to rdshtional funds, and these funds may not be availen favorable terms, or at all.
Furthermore, if we issue equity or debt securiitesaise additional funds, our existing stockhatdmay experience dilution, and the new eq
or debt securities may have rights, preferenceganileges senior to those of our existing stodilees. In addition, if we raise additional ful
through collaboration, licensing or other similaramgements, it may be necessary to relinquishatddurights to our potential products or
proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on settmat are not favorable to us. If we cannot rhisels on acceptable terms, we may not be
to develop or enhance our products, execute oundss plan, take advantage of future opportunitiesespond to competitive pressures or
unanticipated customer requirements. If any of@¢l@gents occurs, our ability to achieve our dewelept and commercialization goals would
be adversely affected.

If we choose to acquire or invest in new businessgsoducts or technologies, instead of developintném ourselves, these acquisitions or
investments could disrupt our business and could sellt in the use of significant amounts of equity,ash or a combination of both.

From time to time we may seek to acquire or inie$usinesses, products or technologies, insteaégloping them ourselves.
Acquisitions and investments involve numerous rigksluding:

+ the inability to complete the acquisition or invesnt;

« disruption of our ongoing businesses and diversiamanagement attention;

« difficulties in integrating the acquired entitiggpducts or technologies;

- difficulties in operating the acquired businessfipably;

 the inability to achieve anticipated synergies}awings or growth;

« potential loss of key employees, particularly thoEthe acquired business;

« difficulties in transitioning and maintaining keystomer, distributor and supplier relationships;
« risks associated with entering markets in whichhaee no or limited prior experience; and

e unanticipated costs.

In addition, any future acquisitions or investmemgsy result in one or more of the following:

» issuances of dilutive equity securities, which rbaysold at a discount to market price;

« the use of significant amounts of cash;

» the incurrence of debt;

» the assumption of significant liabilities;

» increased operating costs or reduced earnings;

« financing obtained on unfavorable terms;

« large one-time expenses; and

« the creation of certain intangible assets, inclgdjpodwill, the write-down of which may result iigsificant charges to earnings.

Any of these factors could materially harm our ktpdce, our business or our operating results.
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If we expand, or attempt to expand, into foreign mekets, we will be affected by new business risks & may materially adversely impac
our financial condition or results of operations.

If we expand, or attempt to expand, into foreigrrkats, we will be subject to new business risksluiding:
« failure to fulfill foreign regulatory requirementis market our products;
« availability of, and changes in, reimbursement imitbrevailing foreign health care payment systems;

< adapting to the differing business practices and i foreign countries;

difficulties in managing foreign relationships amgkerations, including any relationships that walslih with foreign distributors or
sales or marketing agents;

« limited protection for intellectual property rights some countries;

« difficulty in collecting accounts receivable anadger collection periods;

« costs of enforcing contractual obligations in fgrejurisdictions;

» recessions in economies outside of the United State

 political instability and unexpected changes inatipatic and trade relationships;
» currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

« potentially adverse tax consequences.

If we are successful in introducing our products iforeign markets, we will be affected by thesditidnal business risks, which may
materially adversely impact our financial conditionresults of operations. In addition, expansito foreign markets imposes additional
burdens on our executive and administrative persipnesearch and sales departments, and generaberéad resources. Our efforts to
introduce our products into foreign markets maylmsuccessful, in which case we may have expesigadicant resources without realizing
the expected benefit. Ultimately, the investmenuieed for expansion into foreign markets couldemdthe revenues generated from this
expansion.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to varioudactors and, as a result, period-to-period comparisns of our results of operations
will not necessarily be meaningful.

Factors relating to our business make our futuerating results uncertain and may cause them ¢tuidie from period to period. These
factors include:

« changes in the availability of third-party reimbemsent in the United States or other countries;
 the timing of new product announcements and inttidos by us or our competitors;

» market acceptance of new or enhanced versionsrgiroducts;

« changes in manufacturing costs or other expenses;

* competitive pricing pressures;

+ the gain or loss of significant distribution ousler customers;

* increased research and development expenses;

« the timing of any future acquisitions; or

» general economic conditions.
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Because our operating results may fluctuate froart@uto quarter, it may be difficult for us or anvestors to predict our future
performance by viewing our historical operatingutts

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevente@hange of control, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholderswhich could affect our stock price adversely ang@revent attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current managment.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpiovisions that could delay or prevent a changeoatrol of our company or changes
our board of directors that our stockholders mightsider favorable. Some of these provisions:

« authorize the issuance of preferred stock whichbzaoreated and issued by the board of directatowi prior stockholder approval,
with rights senior to those of our common stock;

» provide for a classified board of directors, witick director serving a staggered three-year term;
« prohibit our stockholders from filling board vac#es; calling special stockholder meetings, or tgkintion by written consent;

» provide for the removal of a director only with sauand by the affirmative vote of the holders d¥o7& more of the shares then
entitled to vote at an election of our directorsd a

* require advance written notice of stockholder psgt® and director nominations.

We have adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan thatl eoake it more difficult for a third party to acgeii or could discourage a third party
from acquiring, the Company or a large block of common stock. A third party that acquires 15% orerof our common stock (an
“acquiring person”) could suffer substantial diautiof its ownership interest under the terms ofS8hareholder Rights Plan through the
issuance of common stock to all shareholders dttzar the acquiring person.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions ofta 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Lawich may prohibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could makaare difficult for stockholders or potential adeus to obtain control of our board of
directors or initiate actions that are opposed tmytben-current board of directors, including a geer tender offer, or proxy contest involving
our company. Any delay or prevention of a changeauitrol transaction or changes in our board cgaors could cause the market price of
common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ocanpital stock. We currently intend to retainaalhilable funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and expansia@upbusiness and do not anticipate paying any dadgtlends in the foreseeable future. In
addition, the terms of any future debt or crediilfty may preclude us from paying any dividends. &result, capital appreciation, if any, of
our common stock will be our stockholders sole sewf potential gain for the foreseeable future.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have not received written comments from the Bgesiand Exchange Commission regarding our périodcurrent reports under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amenddéldags or more before December 31, 2006 that reoraisolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in a 30,000 squaredodity in Waltham, Massachusetts, which we ogcupder an office lease expiring in
March 2009. We believe that our existing facilgyaidequate for our current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently party to any material legalgeedings. However, we may from time to time becarparty to various legal
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of augifiess.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our secinitglers during the fourth quarter of the year ehdecember 31, 2006, through the
solicitation of proxies or otherwise.
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PART I

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global kéaunder the symbol “NURO”. The price range pearsireflected in the table
below is the high and low closing sales priceswafammon stock as reported by NASDAQ for the pisimdicated.

Years ended December 3

2006 2005
High Low High Low
First quarter $39.1¢ $28.0C $11.65 $ 9.28
Second quarte $40.3¢ $25.7¢ $20.0¢ $ 9.0t
Third quartel $33.1¢ $18.74 $30.2C $19.57
Fourth quarte $19.8¢ $13.52 $37.2% $26.91

On March 21, 2007, there were approximately 118ktolders of record of our common stock. This nundmes not include stockholde
for whom shares were held in a “nominee” or “stfeeime. On March 21, 2007, the last reported saée per share of our common stock on
the NASDAQ Global Market was $9.44.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaitufe earnings, if any, to finance
the expansion and growth of our business and dexpect to pay any cash dividends in the foresedablire. Payment of future cash
dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of daoard of directors after taking into account vasiéactors, including our financial condition,
operating results, current and anticipated casdsiard plans for expansion.

See Part I, Item 12 for information regarding wéties authorized for issuance under equity corspgan plans.
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COMPARATIVE STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph shows the cumulative stockholggurn of our common stock from July 22, 2004 (tinst trading day for our
common stock) through December 31, 2006 as compeitadhat of the Nasdag (U.S. Companies) IndextaedNasdag Medical Device
Manufacturers Index. The total stockholder retgsrmieasured by dividing the per share price chahtfeeaespective securities, plus divider
if any, for each period shown by the share prichatend of the particular period. The graph assuime investment of $100 in our common
stock and each of the comparison groups on Julg@24 and assumes the reinvestment of dividendshaVe never declared a dividend on
common stock. The stock price performance depictelde graph below is not necessarily indicativéubfire price performance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The data set forth below should be read in conjanatith Iltem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Ams#dyof Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” Item 7A, “Quantitative adalitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and dinancial statements and related notes
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on FddpK1

We have restated our financial statements as ofarttie years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2662002 to correct errors in
accounting for sales taxes. See Note 2—Restatepfi¢gime Notes to Financial Statements:

Years Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(as restated) (asrestated  (asrestated  (asrestated
(In thousands, except share and per share dat

Statements of Operations Data

Revenues $ 55,25C $ 34,29¢ $ 17,92( $ 9,16¢ $ 4,22t
Cost of revenues 13,55¢ 8,85¢ 4,853 2,707 1,370
Gross margin 41,69z 25,44( 13,067 6,461 2,855
Operating expense

Research and development(1) 5,011 3,821 3,268 2,397 2,146

Sales and marketing( 22,014 14,15C 8,488 4,768 2,870

General and administrative(1) 11,80t 8,022 5,267 3,052 2,774

Total operating expenses 38,82¢ 25,99¢ 17,024 10,217 7,790

Income (loss) from operations 2,862 (553) (3,957) (3,756) (4,935)
Interest income (expense), net 1,59¢ 837 (750) (113) 41
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 4,461 284 (4,707) (3,869 (4,894)
Provision for income taxes 193 35 — — —
Net income (loss 4,26€ 249 (4,707) (3,869) (4,894)
Accretion of dividend on redeemable convertiblefgmed

stock — — (1,386) (2,009) (1,893)
Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible prefesteck — — (788) — (6,873)
Beneficial conversion feature associated with reddse

convertible preferred stoc — — (7,051) — —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhis: $ 4,266 $ 249 $ (13,932) $ (5876 $ (13,66()
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $ 034 $ 0.02 $ (242 $ (5.66) $ (13.27)

Diluted $ 033 $ 0.02 $ (242 $ (5.66) $ (13.27)
Weighted average common shares outstani

Basic 12,501,74: 12,152,13! 5,747,57¢ 1,038,817 1,029,21(

Diluted 13,097,89: 12,986,36! 5,747,57¢ 1,038,817 1,029,21(

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense incindedse amounts is as follows:

Research and developm:e $ 471 $ 77 $ 249 $ 35 $ 7
Sales and marketir 821 168 356 37 6
General and administrati 1,361 161 423 25 37
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As of December 31

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(asrestated, (asrestated,  (asrestated  (asrestated
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivale! $ 7,91C $ 8,17C $ 1,93¢ $ 1,622 $ 2,701
Shor-term investment 32,411 24,082 18,57& — —
Working capital 41,894 33,26¢ 21,774 2,451 3,623
Long-term investment — — 9,497 — —
Total asset 55,70¢€ 42,8917 37,95¢ 7,218 7,053
Long-term debt and other lo-term liabilities 73 131 189 2,232 124
Warrants for redeemable convertible preferred s — — — 450 —
Redeemable convertible preferred st — — — 47,694 45,684
Accumulated defici (53,687) (57,95%) (58,204) (45,204) (39,961)
Total stockholder equity(deficit) 43,40¢ 34,83¢ 33,33C (45,805) (40,02¢)

The data set forth above have been restated assaegdo give effect to the restatement adjustmaedsribed in Note 2 to our financial
statements. The effects of the restatement adjustned our Statements of Operations and BalancetShar the years ending December 31,
2005 and 2004 are set forth in Note 2 to our fifergtatements and the effects of the restatentjnstments on our Statements of Operations
and Balance Sheets for the years ending Decemb@0838 and 2002 are set forth in the table below:

The impact of correcting these errors results iinarease in accrued liabilities of $303,000 an@1$@00 as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively, an increase in general and @dtrative expenses of $202,000 and $101,000, césply, and a reduction of net income
available to common stockholders of $202,000 artl 100, for the years ended December 31, 2003 @02, 2espectively.

The following table presents the impact of theatshent:

2003 2002
As Previously As Previously
Reported Restated Reported Restated

Statements of Operations
General and administratiy $ 285 $ 3,05z $ 267 $ 2,774
Total operating expens 10,01t 10,217 7,689 7,79C
Income (loss) from operatiol (3,554) (3,756) (4,834) (4,93%)
Income (loss) before provision for income ta (3,667) (3,869) (4,793 (4,894
Net income (loss (3,667) (3,869) (4,793 (4,899
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhid (5,676) (5,878) (13,559 (13,660
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic (5.46) (5.66) (13.17) (23.27)

Diluted (5.46) (5.66) (13.17) (13.27)
Balance sheet
Working capital 2,754 2,451 3,724 3,62%
Accumulated defici (44,901) (45,204) (39,860 (39,96))
Total stockholder equity (deficit) (45,502) (45,80%) (39,92¢) (40,029
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouafficial condition and results of operations in cargtion with our selected financial
data, our financial statements and the accompangings to those financial statements included disesvin this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. This discussion contains forw#looking statements that involve risks and uncettas. As a result of many factors, such as theséosth
under the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhé this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actuesults may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

We have restated our financial statements as ofa@rttie years ended December 31, 2005 and 206drtect errors in accounting for
sales taxes. See Note 2—Restatement of the Nofésdacial Statements.

Overview

NeuroMetrix was founded in June 1996. We desigaelde and sell proprietary medical devices useduelp physicians diagnose
neuropathies and neurovascular disease. Our ptapriechnology provides physicians with an in-aéfdiagnostic system, the NC-stat
System, which enables physicians to make rapicaandrate diagnoses of neuropathies, including tarpael syndrome, low back and leg
pain and diabetic peripheral neuropathy. The N€Syatem is comprised of: (1) disposable singleNGestat biosensors that are placed on the
patient’s body; (2) the NC-stat monitor and relatechponents; and (3) the NC-stat docking statiorgtional device that enables the
physician’s office to transmit data to our onCalidrmation System. Each component of the NC-stateBy is also sold separately. The
sensitivity of the nervous system to metabolic em&thanical damage, compounded by its limited reg¢ine ability, creates a market
opportunity for a medical device that can assigtdimt-of-service diagnoses of neuropathies in ameathat is coseffective for the patient ar
third-party payer. We believe the ease of use,racguand convenience provided by the Bt@t System position it to become a standard &
for the assessment of neuropathies at the poisenfice.

Neurovascular disease includes conditions suchta®pathy, an eye disease prevalent in patierttsdidbetes. We hold an exclusive
sales and marketing license to a product knowha®igiScope, which allows primary care and spetiphysicians to diagnose diabetic
retinopathy and refer patients to the ophthalmalofgir treatment if deemed necessary based oretfudts. It is recommended by the ADA that
all patients with diabetes receive an annual dil&ge examination to monitor vision. There are apipnately 21 million people in the United
States with diabetes according to the ADA and aplgroximately 50% comply with the recommendatiohdee an annual eye examination.
We believe that a product such as the DigiScogeimary care physicians’ and endocrinologistifices could potentially lead to an increas
the level of testing and result in the earlier déte of eye diseases in patients with diabetes.

We derive our revenues from the sale of NC-stagdnigors, monitors and docking stations directlyni users, which are generally
physician practice groups. We did not derive awenues in 2006 or prior years from the DigiScogstesn for the detection of diabetic
retinopathy. Sales and marketing efforts for thizdpict were initiated in the first quarter of 200@ur NC-stat biosensors are disposable
products that are used once and inactivated afterihe NC-stat monitor is an electronic instrunteat is used with the NC-stat biosensors to
perform nerve conduction studies for the purposdiajnosing neuropathies. The NC-stat monitor digpthe pertinent results of nerve
conduction studies on an LCD screen immediatethi@tonclusion of each study. The NC-stat docktaian is an optional device that is used
to transmit to the onCall Information System dataeyated by the nerve conduction study performdd e NC-stat monitor. The onCall
Information System formulates the data it recefee®ach test into a detailed report that is preditb the customer through facsimile or e-
mail.
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Reimbursement from third-party payers is an impareédement of success for medical products compa@enerally, we believe that the
nerve conduction studies performed by our customélsthe NC-stat System have been satisfactodiyeced by third-party payers. As our
presence in the market expands and the use of@hstét System increases, we have experienced arikelly to continue to experience an
increased focus from third-party payers and govemtal agencies regarding the reimbursement of resmduction studies performed using
the NC-stat System and an increased focus frone thigganizations regarding the professional requeérgsifor performing nerve conduction
studies in general. At any point in time, a numtfethird-party payers may take the position of rmbursing our customers for their use of
the NC-stat System. During the second half of 28@6 early 2007, five local Medicare carriers cavgia total of twenty states issued draft
LCDs, final LCDs or coding articles particularlydréssing coverage and reimbursement policies uvddicare for nerve conduction studies
performed using the NC-stat System. Several oktleasriers indicated that they will not reimbur$sicians under Medicare for nerve
conduction studies performed using the NC-state®ysinder the three existing CPT codes for conveatinerve conduction studies (95900,
95903 and 95904), which provide for levels of reimgement fixed by CMS, but rather that physicianstsubmit claims for reimbursement
for these procedures under a miscellaneous CPT(@5@99), in which case the local carriers may mheirge the level of reimbursement to be
paid, if any. We do not know what success our eusts will have in obtaining reimbursement underrttigcellaneous code or what level of
reimbursement they may receive if they are sucaedéphysicians do not receive adequate reimbmesg under the miscellaneous CPT code
from those local carriers, our existing customeay timit or curtail their use of the NC-stat Systand we may be unable to obtain new
customers, both of which could materially and adelrimpact our revenues and profitability. The ANIRT Editorial Panel has formed a
committee which is expected to examine the reindment coding of automated nerve conduction studiekjding the NC-stat System and
other traditional equipment. The findings of thismamittee may affect which CPT codes Medicare ceriag@md commercial payers require from
physicians who perform procedures with the NC-Stattem. Additional third-party payers, includingdbMedicare carriers and commercial
payers, could potentially take a position that daelduce or eliminate the reimbursement for thedtE-System. These payers may also im
requirements on physicians to submit additionakpaprk supporting the medical necessity of nervedcation studies performed using the
NC-stat System. Such requirements could potentiailyact the use of the NC-stat System and could paligrhave an adverse impact on
our revenues.

Additionally, the LCDs and coding articles issugdidical Medicare carriers have also addressed dauof other issues, including (1)
background and training of physicians supervisingerforming nerve conduction studies; (2) theslef training requirements for technicians
performing a nerve conduction study; (3) whetheveeonduction tests should be required to be pagd concomitantly with an nEMG
procedure; and (4) whether the NC-stat Systemrigpewable to conventional nerve conduction testagpmment. We do not believe that these
LCDs prohibit physicians from receiving reimbursernender Medicare for medically necessary nervelaotion studies performed using the
NC-stat System. However, these LCDs are relatively aed they do appear to be targeted at limitingggsd¢o perform and/or reimbursement
for nerve conduction studies. These LCDs couldchberpreted or implemented in a manner that linmiésdbility of physicians to receive
reimbursement under Medicare for nerve conductiodiss performed using the NC-stat System, whialiccadversely affect our business.

One of the primary challenges we face in our bissing successfully expanding the market for neorelaction studies. A successful
market expansion will depend upon, in part, ougeting of primary care and specialist physician® whditionally have not been targeted by
companies selling equipment used to perform neowelgction studies and our ability to alter physisigoractices relating to the diagnosis of
neuropathies. In order to successfully implemeistdhowth strategy, we have established a saleg foir 53 employees, including 50 regional
sales managers, as of December 31, 2006. We havexgbanded the
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network of independent sales agents we use to gensales leads for our regional sales managemsghrthe signing of agreements with PSS
and with Henry Schein. PSS has a direct sales fafronearly 700 representatives and Henry Scheiratdigect sales force of over 300 sales
representatives. As a result we now have over lijgfpendent sales agents assisting us in out&ffopenetrate the market of primary care
and specialist physicians. We also will participatearious industry conferences in order to age#éethe market awareness and adoption of
our products. These efforts, as well as the ovesgdansion of our business, will provide challengesur organization and may increase the
burden on our management and operations. We plarohitor our business as it grows and approprisgeguire and allocate resources to
address these issues, with a goal of sustainirfiigiste growth.

Our long-term financial objectives are to grow business through the sale of the NC-stat SystentrenbBigiScope and additional
products that may be commercialized for the diaignaxsd treatment of neuropathies and to achieviaisable profitability. However, during
2007 our revenues may not increase and could @eatid we may not be able to sustain the profitghile achieved in the second half of 2005
and in 2006 as a result of the reimbursement amer gésues we are currently facing. Our effort2007 will focus on (1) sales of the NC-stat
System, (2) sales and marketing of the DigiScopé#hie detection of diabetic retinopathy, (3) theented launch of the ADVANCE System,
(4) efforts to manage the reimbursement challepgssed by third-party payers for the NC-stat Sysaeich (5) our ongoing research and
development programs. During 2007, we expect tdicoa efforts on improvements to our biosensorghendevelopment of new biosensors,
on the development of products to diagnose additinauropathies, on the development of a produdhf® minimally invasive treatment
of neuropathies and on the final development effort the ADVANCE System. During 2007, we expedcttiter the clinical stage of
development of our product for the local delivefydougs for the treatment of neuropathies by baimary care and specialist physicians. We
believe that the accomplishment of these goalshaie a positive impact on our progress towardahg-term objective of growing the
business and achieving sustainable profitability.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted StatemeRtrafncial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123(F8hare Based
Paymer” (“SFAS No. 123(R)"), which requires that the castulting from all share-based payment transactien®cognized in the financial
statements. SFAS No. 123(R) is a revision of SFASI®3,"Accounting for Stock-Based CompensatidhSFAS No. 123") and supersedes
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 2Bccounting for Stock Issued to Employe¢$8PB No. 25”) and SFAS No. 148 Accounting fo
Stock Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosareamendment of Financial Accounting Standards B&iatement No. 123*SFAS
No. 14¢"). This statement establishes fair value as thasuement objective in accounting for share-basgdpnt arrangements and requires
all entities to apply a fair value based measurémmthod in accounting for shabased payment transactions with employees exceptfaty
instruments held by employee share ownership pksis result, beginning January 1, 2006, we adoBfedlS No. 123(R) using the modified
prospective method and have begun reflecting thekdbased compensation expense determined undeafae based methods in the income
statement rather than as pro forma disclosuregmthies to the financial statements. Prior pergsdilts have not been revised. We use the
Black-Scholes option pricing model for determinthg fair value of its stock options and amortize stockbased compensation expense u:
the straight-line method. During 2006, we recorsietk-based compensation expense of approximagefyrillion.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accountedtémk-based compensation plans in accordancethtprovisions of APB No. 25, as
permitted by SFAS No. 123, and accordingly didmeabgnize compensation expense for the issuanggtioins with an exercise price equal to
or greater than the fair value of common stockatdate of grant.

We expect stock-based compensation expense reeaggniaccordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(Rhcrease in 2007, but this
will be dependent on the magnitude of additionatktoptions
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granted. The stock-based compensation expensenigedgn accordance with Emerging Issues Task Fssiee No. 96-18Accounting for
Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Thamplégees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Sefli Goods or Servic” for option

grants to non-employees may vary significantly dase the performance of the Company’s stock ptiz¢he extent unvested, as these grants
are remeasured at the end of each reporting period.

In October 2006, we entered into an exclusive sgean licensing agreement with EyeTel. The agre¢memts us an exclusive license
market, brand and sell EyeTeDigiScope throughout the primary care physiciath @ndocrinologist market. In connection with tigeezzment
we received warrants to purchase up to 500,00@sldrEyeTel common stock at an exercise pricéddf@bper share, subject to adjustmen
stock splits and with a term of ten years. The ams are subject to a vesting schedule based oacbigvement of annual performance
milestones relating to sales and customer usageeddigiScope through 2011. If we do not meet ankath of the requirements for any
calendar year, but do meet the combined requiresrfentwo or more consecutive years, the sharesdsdld to vest for each of the years will
vest. The agreement also grants us financing jgzation rights in connection with EyeTel's next miliof venture capital financing. We
received an option to purchase EyeTel preferreckstap to the lesser of (i) 30% of the total amawaiged in the financing or (i) $5.0 million.
In the event that we participate in the next roahfinancing, and our maximum permitted amoungeisslthan $5.0 million, we have a right to
participate in any subsequent financing rounds lemuée difference between $5.0 million and theoant previously invested.

Results of Operations

The following table presents certain statementpafrations information stated as a percentage aff tetenues:

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)
Revenues
Diagnostic devict 13.6% 12.3% 12.4%
Biosensor 86.4 87.7 87.6
Total revenue 100.C 100.C 100.C
Cost of revenue 245 25.8 27.1
Gross margit 75.5 74.2 72.9
Operating expense
Research and developme 9.1 11.1 18.2
Sales and marketir 39.8 41.3 47.4
General and administrati 214 234 294
Total operating expenses 70.3 75.8 95.0
Income (loss) from operatiol 5.2 (1.6) (22.1)
Interest income (expense), net 2.9 2.4 (4.2
Income (loss) before provision for income ta 8.1 0.8 (26.3
Provision for income taxes 0.3 0.1 —
Net income (loss 7.704 0.704 (26.3)%%
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2006 and Beaber 31, 200t
Revenue

The following tables present a breakdown of out@uers, biosensor units used and revenues:

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 Change % Change

Customers 4,92¢ 3,282 1,647 50.2%
Biosensor units use 1,155,30( 704,80( 450,50C 63.9

(In thousands)
Revenues

Diagnostic devict $ 7538 $ 4221 $ 3,317.( 78.6
Biosensol 47,711.¢ 30,076.¢ 17,634.€ 58.6
Total revenues $ 55,249.7 $34,298.. $20,951.¢ 61.1

Diagnostic device revenues were $7.5 million an@ $dillion for the years ended December 31, 20G62005, respectively, an increase
of $3.3 million, or 78.6%. Of this increase, appnmoately $2.6 million is attributable to a greatember of units sold, primarily as a result of
increased demand for the NC-stat System and aeaserin the number of regional sales managersiditi@n, $0.7 million of this increase is
attributable to an increase in the list price of NC-stat monitors and docking stations from $4,6085,000 effective January 1, 2006, which
resulted in a higher average selling price duri6g&as compared to 2005. Diagnostic device reveaceasunted for 13.6% and 12.3% of our
total revenues for the years ended December 35 200 2005, respectively.

Biosensor revenues were $47.7 million and $30.lianifor the years ended December 31, 2006 and,2@8pectively, an increase of
$17.6 million, or 58.6%. The increase is primadlye to an increased customer base for our bioseasadran increased frequency of testing by
our customers. Biosensor revenues accounted fa#B86énd 87.7% of our total revenues for the yeadedimbecember 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

Our customers used 1,155,300 biosensor units iggaeended December 31, 2006, compared to 704)869in the year ended
December 31, 2005, an increase of 450,500 uni83®&%. The increase in biosensor usage is priynattitibutable to the increase in our
customer base and to an increase in usage pengersto

Our total revenues were $55.2 million and $34.3iomilfor the years ended December 31, 2006 and ,2@8pectively, an increase of
$20.9 million, or 61.1%. During the 12-month peremling December 31, 2006, a total of 4,929 custemsed our NC-stat System compared
to 3,282 customers for the same period ending DbeeBil, 2005. This represents a 50.2% year-ovarigegease in the number of customers
that used our NC-stat System.

We anticipate that revenues in 2007 may not inereasl could decline. In the fourth quarter of 2006 experienced a decline in reven
from the third quarter of 2006, which we believenarily resulted from the uncertainty created by igsuance of draft LCDs, final LCDs and
coding articles addressing reimbursement for neoreluction studies that were issued by five locatiMare carriers covering a total of twe
states. These developments and other future reseiment decisions could adversely impact reimburaéfoe procedures performed using the
NC-stat System. Our revenues in 2007 are likely torigacted by the level of reimbursement, if anyakfshed for procedures performed
using the NC-stat System by these carriers and diird-party payers, whether final LCDs are apgplie a manner that places additional
restrictions or qualifications on the performan€¢hese procedures, any other reimbursement datations relating to nerve conduction
studies are made by third-party payers or any @hents causing uncertainty as to the existeneenmunt of reimbursement physicians are
likely to
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receive for performing procedures using the NC-Statem. We do, however, expect revenues to bé&ymgiimpacted by the initiation of our
sales and marketing efforts for the DigiScope i@22@verall, revenues could be impacted by a wadéfactors, including the level of dema
for our products, potential for changes in thirdtpaeimbursement for nerve conduction studiesoierall economy, competitive factors and
the factors described in the section of this AnRegbort on Form 10-K titled “Cautionary Note RegagdForward-Looking Statements.”

Costs and expenses

The following table presents our costs and expeasdsiet income:

Years Ended December 31
2006 2005 Change % Change
(as restated)
(in thousands)

Cost of revenues

Diagnostic devict $ 1,320 $ 1,059.7 $ 260.¢ 24.6%
Biosensor 12,237.¢ 7,798.4 4,439.2 56.9
Total cost of revenues 13,558.1 8,858.1 4,700.C 53.1
Gross margin
Diagnostic devict 6,217.¢ 3,161.€ 3,056.2 96.7
Biosensol 35,473.¢ 22,278.k 13,195.4 59.2
Total gross margin 41,691.% 25,440.( 16,251.€ 63.9
Gross Margin%
Diagnostic devict 82.5% 74.9%
Biosensol 74.4 74.1
Total gross margi 75.5 74.2
Operating expense
Research and development 5,010.5 3,820.¢€ 1,189.€ 31.1
Sales and marketing( 22,013.7 14,150.2 7,863.5 55.6
General and administrative(1) 11,805.1 8,021.¢ 3,783.5 47.2
Total operating expens 38,829.: 25,992.¢ 12,836.7 494
Income from operations 2,862.4 (552.5) 3,414.€ (618.1)
Interest incomt 1,598.4 838.8 759.6 90.6
Interest expens — (2.0) 2.0 (100.0)
Income before provision for income ta» 4,460.€ 284.3 4,176.5 1,469.:
Provision for income taxes 193.0 35.0 158.0 451.4
Net income available to common stockholc $ 4267.¢ $ 249.: $ 4,018t 1,612.2

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense inclndedse amounts is as follows:

Research and developme $ 470€ $ 774
Sales and marketir 821.0 167.7
General and administrati\ 1,361.1 161.3

Gross Margin

Diagnostic device gross margin increased to $61@omjor 82.5% of diagnostic device revenue, fog year ended December 31, 2006, as
compared to $3.2 million, or 74.9% of diagnostigide revenue, for same period in 2005. The incr@gafiee gross margin percentage in 2006
compared to 2005 is primarily attributable to acré@ase in the list price of our NC-stat System f@H000 to $5,000 effective January 1, 2006
and manufacturing price reductions realized fordrwice beginning in the second quarter of 2006.
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Biosensor gross margin increased to $35.5 millary,4.4% of biosensor revenue for the year endexibéer 31, 2006, as compared to
$22.3 million, or 74.1% of biosensor revenue, far same period in 2005. The increase in biosemsssgnargin percentage is primarily du
manufacturing price reductions realized for sevefaur biosensors during the second half of 20@bthe first quarter of 2006 partially offset
by a change in the mix of biosensors sold.

Our overall gross margin increased to $41.7 millien75.5% of revenues, for the year ended DeceBibe2006, as compared to $25.4
million, or 74.2% of revenues, for same period 002.

Our gross margins may decline in 2007 with the pieakintroduction of the ADVANCE System, whichegpected to have lower gross
margins due to higher production costs comparehl thi¢ current diagnostic devices.

Research and Developme

Our research and development, or R&D, expensesdeatxpenses associated with our research, prdduetopment, clinical, regulator
and quality assurance departments.

R&D expenses increased $1.2 million, or 31.1%,5®%$nillion for the year ended December 31, 2006nf$3.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005. As a percentage of reseR&D expenses were 9.1% and 11.1% for the yeatedeDecember 31, 2006 and 2(
respectively. The increase in expenses is primdrily to an increase of $614,000 in personnel cestdting from the hiring of additional
employees in our R&D department and increases jplerae compensation. In addition, product develapraed temporary labor costs
increased $77,700 and $51,700, respectively. Tineseases are primarily related to the developroétiie ADVANCE System and new
biosensors. Also contributing to the increase wamerease of $393,200 in stock-based compensakipanse due to the adoption of the
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).

We expect our spending on R&D will be relativelychanged in 2007. We anticipate that resources ddwvotthe development of the
ADVANCE System, during 2006 will be reallocatedatver research and development efforts. This ammaytvary, however, depending on
the opportunities and challenges that arise dutiegsear.

Sales and Marketing
Our sales and marketing expenses include experwadlie marketing, field sales, sales administraiod reimbursement departments.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $7.9 midids5.6%, to $22.0 million for year ended Decengie 2006 from $14.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005. As a percenfageemues, sales and marketing expenses were 3h#8%1.3% for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The ehangxpenses is primarily due to an increase df $4llion in employee compensation
and benefit costs, including sales commissions fwa@lr regional sales managers. This increastriswgable to the expansion of the sales
force and higher revenues in 2006 as compareddb.28so contributing to the change in expensega@ran increase of $1.6 million in sales
commissions paid to our independent regional sedesicies, which is related to our higher revenn&906 as well as the addition of PSS as a
distributor in May 2006; (b) an increase in sto@s&d compensation expense of $653,300 due to tpial of the provisions of SFAS
No. 123(R); (c) an increase of $400,700 in traxplenses due to the expansion of the sales forfan(thcrease in consulting services
$299,300, primarily to assist us with the reimbuorsat challenges we are currently facing; and ifepharease of $267,500 in costs for new
promotional materials.
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We have increased our sales force to 53 emplojrstading 50 regional sales managers, as of DeceBhe2006 from 36 employees,
including 31 regional sales managers as of DeceBbe2005. We plan to sell the DigiScope throughgtame sales force used to sell the NC-
stat System and as a result we do not anticipatedkd to expand the sales force to support tes aadd marketing efforts for the DigiScope.
However, we may incur additional expenses relatingales commissions and marketing materials imection with the sale of the DigiScope.
For 2007, we expect sales and marketing expendss telatively unchanged; however, this may vaepehding primarily on our revenues for
2007.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses includeresgs from the executive, finance, administratustomer service, and information
technology departments.

General and administrative expenses increasedn$ii8@n, or 47.2%, to $11.8 million for year endBeécember 31, 2006 from
$8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2@35a percentage of revenues, general and admiivstexpenses were 21.4% and 23.4%
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20Q%ctgely. The increase in expenses is primarily ttu(a) an increase in stock-based
compensation expense of $1.2 million from the adopdf the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R); (b) anremse of $661,300 in bad debt expense
resulting from an increase in past due accountar(dncrease of $538,400 in professional feesefgal and accounting services; (d) an incr
of $456,000 in our accrual for sales taxes; (enarease of $268,800 in our insurance costs; (fharease in credit card and bank fees of
$238,800 related to increased customer transactoms(g) an increase in personnel costs of $1200n the expansion of staff and incree
in employee compensation.

We expect our general and administrative expemsiextease during 2007 as a result of consultipgeages and legal fees associated
our efforts to address the reimbursement and dglgat challenges we face, including the invest@ably the United States Department of
Justice of which we recently became aware..

Interest Income

Interest income was $1,598,400 and $838,800 dth@gears ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, reggectepresenting an increase
of $759,600. Interest income was earned from cgslvalents, short-term investments and long-tervestments. The increase in interest
income for the year ended December 31, 2006, apad to the year ended December 31, 2005 is ghndare to higher average cash
balances and an increase in the average portfigid sttributable to the impact of higher markdenest rates in 2006. Interest expense was no
material for the years ended December 31, 200&2808.

Provision for Income Taxe

We recorded a tax provision related to the altéraahinimum tax of $193,000 and $35,000 for thergeded December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2005 and Beaber 31, 2004
Revenue
The following tables present a breakdown of out@uers, biosensor units used and revenues:

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 Change % Change

Customers 3,282 2,207 1,075 48.7%
Biosensor units use 704,80C 357,40C 347,40(C 97.2

(in thousands)
Revenues

Diagnostic devict $ 42212 $ 2,219.5 $ 2,001.¢ 90.2
Biosensol 30,076.¢ 15,700.¢€ 14,376.2 91.€
Total revenues $34,298. $17,920.. $16,378.( 91.4

Diagnostic device revenues were $4.2 million an@ $2illion for the years ended December 31, 20052004, respectively, an increase
of $2.0 million, or 90.2%. Of this increase, appnoately $1.4 million is attributable to a greatemmber of units sold, primarily as a result of
increase in the number of regional sales managere@panded clinical uses for the NC-stat Systamddition, approximately $627,600 of
this increase is attributable to an increase irligiigrice of our NC-stat monitors and dockingtistas from $3,500 to $4,000 effective
January 1, 2005, which resulted in a higher avesatjang price during 2005 as compared to 2004gbdstic device revenues accounted for
12.3% and 12.4% of our total revenues for the yeaded December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Biosensor revenues were $30.1 million and $15.#anifor the years ended December 31, 2005 and,2@8pectively, an increase of
$14.4 million, or 91.6%. The increase is primadlye to an increased customer base for our biosgrisoreased frequency of testing by our
customers and the introduction of new biosensocdyding the sural biosensor in the fourth quanfe2004. Biosensor revenues accounted for
87.7% and 87.6% of our total revenues for the yeaded December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Our customers used 704,800 biosensor units inghe gnded December 31, 2005, compared to 357,480fon2004, an increase of
347,400 units, or 97.2%. This increase in biosensage is primarily the result of the increasehmd¢ustomer base, increased usage by
customers and the introduction of new biosensocdding the sural biosensor in the fourth quanfe2004. The sural biosensor is an impor
additional biosensor for our customers’ use ofMizstat System for low back pain and DPN and we belteat its introduction is contributir
to the growth in biosensor usage for these clirifwdications.

Our total revenues were $34.3 million and $17.9iomlfor the years ended December 31, 2005 and,2@8gectively, an increase of
$16.4 million, or 91.4%. During the 12-month per&mling December 31, 2005, a total of 3,282 custemged our NC-stat System compared
to 2,207 customers for the same period ending Dbeefil, 2004. This represents a 48.7% year-ovarigegease in the number of customers
that used our NC-stat System.
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Costs and expenses

The following table presents our costs and expeasdsiet income (loss):

Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 Change % Change
(as restated) (as restated)
(in thousands)

Cost of revenues

Diagnostic devict $ 1,059.% $ 7287 $ 331C 45.4%
Biosensol 7,798.4 4,124.€ 3,673.7 89.1
Total cost of revenues 8,858.1 4,853.2 4,004.¢ 82.5
Gross margin
Diagnostic devict 3,161.€ 1,490.¢ 1,670.¢ 112.1
Biosensor 22,278.% 11,576.C 10,702.t 92.5
Total gross margi 25,440.( 13,066.¢ 12,373.2 94.7
Gross Margin%
Diagnostic devict 74.9% 67.2%
Biosensol 74.1 73.7
Total gross margi 74.2 72.9
Operating expense
Research and development 3,820.€ 3,268.4 552.3 16.9
Sales and marketing( 14,150.2 8,488.C 5,662.1 66.7
General and administrative( 8,021.¢ 5,267.4 2,754.4 52.3
Total operating expenses 25,992.¢ 17,023.¢ 8,968.¢ 52.7
Income (loss) from operatiol (552.5) (3,957.0 3,404.5 (86.0)
Interest incomt 838.8 2141 624.7 291.¢
Interest expens (2.0) (964.1) 962.0 (99.9)
Income (loss) before provision for income ta 284.3 (4,707.0) 4,991.2 (106.0)
Provision for income taxes 35.0 — 35.0 100.C
Net income (loss 249.3 (4,707.0) 4,956.2 (105.9)
Accretion of dividend on preferred sto — (1,386.9) 1,386.: (100.0)
Deemed dividend and beneficial conversion fea
on redeemable convertible preferred st — (7,838.7) 7,838.7 (200.0)

Net income (loss) available to common stockholt  $  249.2 $(13,931.9 $14,181.. (101.9

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense inclndedse amounts is as follows:

Research and developm $ 774 $ 2491
Sales and marketir 167.7 356.4
General and administrati\ 161.3 423.0

Gross Margin

Diagnostic device gross margin percentage was 7&8967.2% for the years ended December 31, 2002@04, respectively. The
increase in the gross margin percentage in 200%aced to 2004 is primarily attributable to an irmse in the list price of our NC-stat System
from $3,500 to $4,000 effective January 1, 2005.
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Biosensor gross margin percentage increased slighi4.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005 #8.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The increase in biosensor gnasgin percentage is primarily due to manufactudasgt reductions realized for several of
our biosensors, offset in part by a change in theahbiosensors resulting from the introductionnafw biosensors in the second half of 2004
which have modestly lower gross margins.

Our overall gross margin percentage was 74.2%hyear ended December 31, 2005 compared to 7202004.

Research and Developme

R&D expenses increased $552,300, or 16.9%, toh8l®n for the year ended December 31, 2005 fré8%nillion for the year ended
December 31, 2004. As a percentage of revenues, &§Bnses were 11.1% and 18.2% for the years ddeleeimber 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. This increase was primarily due $#34,200 increase in employee compensation andibeosts and a $54,400 increase in
recruiting costs. These increases resulted fronhitiirey of additional employees in our R&D departmeparticularly in product developmen
support our efforts on the development of the ADV@ESystem, new biosensors, improvements to exisiimgensors, products to diagnose
additional neuropathies and a drug delivery sydtarthe minimally invasive treatment of neuropaghidlso contributing to the change was an
increase of $283,600 in outside consulting costagmily related to efforts expended on the develeptrof the ADVANCE System and on n
biosensors and improvements to existing biosen3tiesse increases were partially offset by a deergastock-based compensation expense of
$171,800 related to employee stock options

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased $5.7 midiod6.7%, to $14.2 million for year ended Decenge 2005 from $8.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. As a percenfageemues, sales and marketing expenses were 4n8%7.4% for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The ehangxpenses was primarily due to an increas@af fillion in employee compensation
and benefit costs, including sales commissions fmaalr regional sales managers. This increasedgathe expansion of the sales force and
higher revenues in 2005 as compared to 2004. Alatributing to the change in expenses was an iseref$1.5 million in sales commissions
paid to our independent sales agencies, which wedaed to our higher revenues in 2005, and ineea$$351,400 in travel expenses and
$73,300 in recruiting costs due to the expansiath@fales force. The change in expenses was affally due to an increase of $192,800 in
costs for trade shows, advertising and promotiameterials as we have increased our presence astrad's and developed new promotional
materials. These increases were offset in partdigcaease in stodkased compensation expense of $188,700 relatedptogee stock option:

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increasednifli@n, or 52.3%, to $8.0 million for year ende@&&mber 31, 2005 from $5.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. As a pergemfrevenues, general and administrative expemees23.4% and 29.4% for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectivelyintihease in expenses was primarily due to (aparease in employee compensation and
benefit costs of $885,500 due to the expansiotadf and increases in employee compensation; (l@ease of $663,700 in professional fees
for legal services and for accounting and auditises primarily as a result of the increased reigmarequirements associated with being a
publicly-traded company including the provisionglué Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the rules pigated thereunder, regarding internal
control over financial reporting (“Sarbanes-Oxlé@4%) which began to apply to us as of December2BD5; (c) an increase of $344,100 in our
insurance costs,
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primarily relating to increases in director andadf insurance premiums as a result of the tramstth a publicly-traded company; (d) an
increase of $266,000 in our accrual for sales taf@<san increase of $177,600 in credit card amk beansaction fees related to customer
sales; (f) an increase of $148,000 in franchisedand other fees; and (g) an increase in recguithists of $94,300 associated with new hires.
The increases are offset in part by a decreas26if,800 in stock-based compensation expense retatstployee stock options.

Interest Income

Interest income was $838,800 and $214,100 for ¢aesyended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectigphgsenting an increase of
$624,700. Interest income was earned from invediriarcash equivalents, short-term investmentsiamgtterm investments. Interest income
increased during the year ended December 31, 20@pared to the year ended December 31, 2004 dhe iavestment of the proceeds from
the Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”), whitwas completed in the third quarter of 2004, thestment of the proceeds from the sale of
preferred stock in March 2004 and increased yietdmvested funds in 2005.

Interest Expens

Interest expense was $2,000 and $964,100 for thes ynded December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectiephesenting a decrease of
$962,000. The decrease in interest expense wamdhe payment in the third quarter of 2004 of atstanding debt balance of $3.0 million
under our line of credit with Lighthouse Capitalthars by using a portion of the proceeds recefiea the IPO.

Provision for Income Taxe

We recorded a tax provision related to the altéreahinimum tax of $35,000 for the year ended Deoen81, 2005. In 2004, we recor¢
no provision for income taxes.

Deemed Dividend and Beneficial Conversion Featur@®@edeemable Convertible Preferred St

In 2004, we recorded a $787,900 deemed dividerdrasult of the March 2004 Series E-1 redeemabieartible preferred stock
financing. The deemed dividend resulted from amstdjent to the conversion ratios pursuant to thiedfiation protection provisions
associated with the Series D redeemable convepilierred stock. We also recorded a charge of ®illibn for a beneficial conversion
feature associated with the Seried Eedeemable convertible preferred stock issuédarch 2004. There was no deemed dividend or baak
conversion charge in 2005. All issued and outstamdhares of preferred stock were converted indoeshof common stock in connection with
the IPO.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity is our currentsteand cash equivalents and short-term held-tofihatovestments. As of December 31,
2006, the weighted average maturity of our shartiteeld-to-maturity investments was 149 days. Quilitg to generate cash from operations
is dependent upon our ability to generate reverua ales of our products, as well as our abibtynanage our operating costs and net assets.
A decrease in demand for our products or unantieghacreases in our operating costs would likelyehan adverse effect on our liquidity and
cash generated from operations. The following feeth information relating to our liquidity:

December 31

2006 2005 Change % Change
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivale $ 7,909.¢ $ 8,170.C $ (260.2) (3.2%
Shor-term hel-to-maturity investment 32,410.7 24,081.¢ 8,328.f 34.6
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term held&turity
investment: $40,320.E $ 32,251.5 $8,068.f 25.0%

During 2006, our cash and cash equivalents and-#on held-to-maturity investments increased byl $8illion, primarily due to $7.3
million of cash provided by operations and $1.6ionl of proceeds received from the exercise oflstymtions and the issuance of common
stock under our employee stock purchase plan, tdffgeart by cash used for capital expenditure$6#0,500.

In managing our working capital, two of the finaalaineasurements we monitor are days’ sales ouisgnal DSO, and inventory
turnover rate, which are presented in the tablevbébr the years ended December 31, 2006 and Desre®ih 2005:

Years Ended
December 31

2006 2005
Day¢ sales outstanding (day 40 40
Inventory turnover rate (times per ye 4.3 4.5

Our payment terms extended to our customers géneegluire payment within 30 days from invoice ddderring the fourth quarter of
2006, we experienced an increase in DSO to 49 alagshere was a significant increase in the peagendf accounts receivable past due 60
days or more. We believe that these increases pvenarily the result of uncertainty surrounding tieémbursement by Medicare in certain
regions of the United States for nerve conducttadiss performed using the NC-stat System. We ameitly experiencing the effect of this
reimbursement uncertainty and it is expected tdiooa in 2007. As a result this may continue toeadely impact our DSO and our working
capital. Accounts payable are normally paid witBihto 40 days from receipt of a vendor’s invoice.

Our inventory turnover for the year ended Decendier2006 was 4.3 times, compared with 4.5 timeghferyear ended December 31,
2005. The decrease in the inventory turnover @t¢hfe year ended December 31, 2006 as compathd tear ended December 31, 2005 was
primarily due to an increase in inventory levelpieparation for the release of the ADVANCE Syst@ur inventory levels increased in the
fourth quarter of 2006 as a result of decreasedaddnfor the NC-stat System, increased productidriadfensors at our third-party
manufacturer and the initial production of the ADANMCE System. We anticipate additional increasaaventory levels by approximately
$1.5 million to $2.0 million in preparation for texpected release of the ADVANCE System in the sanwh2007. We anticipate this will
have the impact of reducing our inventory turnca®me build inventory prior to the initial saletbfs new product.
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The following sets forth information relating tcetsources and uses of our cash.

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 7,297.¢ $1,908.1 $ (2,651.¢)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi $(9,133.9) $3,514.t $(28,706.)

Net cash provided by financing activiti $ 15755 $ 8122 $ 31,671.

Cash provided by operating activities was $7.3iamland $1.9 million in 2006 and 2005, respectiyelile cash used in operating
activities was $2.7 million in 2004. In 2006, & nse of cash of approximately $1.2 million for @dmwestment in working capital was offset by
$4.3 million in net income and $4.2 million in neash items, mainly compensation expense assodcidtiedtock options. The primary drivers
of our investment in working capital were as follovDur accounts receivable increased $4.1 milkowx|uding the change in the allowance for
doubtful accounts, due to growth in revenues. @Quenmtories increased $950,000 primarily due tagttesvth in our business and our
preparation for the release of the ADVANCE Systerhese items were partially offset by a $2.1 millincrease in accrued expenses. In 2005,
increases in accrued expenses, deferred revenuef (@eferred costs) and accounts payable of $1lllbm $588,900 and $799,300,
respectively; non-cash items of $1.4 million antineome of $249,300 were offset in part by incesai; accounts receivable and inventory of
$1.7 million and $1.4 million, respectively. Cas$ed in operations in 2004 was driven by the net &dsb4.7 million offset by $2.0 million in
non-cash items and an increase of $73,000 in caghdhanges in working capital. As a result of pogential decline in revenues and increase
in expenses, we may be unable to sustain the @bdfiy we achieved in the second half of 2005 and006. This may have an adverse impact
on our cash flows from operating activities in 20Bvaddition, we expect to have increased investmia working capital, especially
inventories, due to the pre-launch production ef ADVANCE System.

Our investing activities used $9.1 million of cast2006, provided $3.5 million of cash in 2005 arsetd $28.7 million of cash in 2004. In
2006, we used $8.5 million in cash for net purchaffenvestments and $620,500 in cash to fund @ses of fixed assets, primarily related to
computer equipment. In 2005, net maturities of gtrents of $3.6 million provided cash, which wasnarily reinvested in cash equivalents.
This was offset by $475,100 of cash to fund purebad fixed assets primarily related to leasehwigrovements and tooling equipment for
new products. In 2004, $31.0 million of proceedsrfrequity financings was invested in short-term mg-term held-to-maturity investments
and $545,200 was used to fund the purchase of &sedts, primarily related to production tooling aomputer equipment. During 2007, we
expect to continue to maintain our cash and investmin money market funds and short-term investwelicles. We do not currently have
any significant commitments to purchase capitai@gent and we expect that our capital expenditwi#de comparable to the level of such
expenditures in 2006.

In connection with our property lease entered attthe beginning of January, 2001, we are requoedaintain, for the benefit of the
lessor, an irrevocable standby letter of credtirsgethe lessor as the beneficiary. The originabant of the letter of credit was $1,860,000.
During September 2005, in accordance with the terintise lease agreement, the amount required uhddetter of credit was reduced to
$1,430,000. The letter of credit is secured byréfimte of deposit in an amount equal to 102%hef letter of credit. The lease expires in
March 2009. The certificate of deposit is renewabl80-day increments. This amount is classifiedeatricted cash in the balance sheet. The
reduction in the restricted cash balance provid&2B3600 in 2005.

Cash provided by financing activities was $1.6 ionil] $812,200 and $31.7 million in 2006, 2005 af84 respectively. Cash provided
financing activities in 2006 and 2005 represengsptoceeds from the exercise of stock options hadssuance of shares under our employee
stock purchase plan. The cash

59




provided by financing activities in 2004 primarilgpresented the net proceeds of $24.0 millionzedlfrom our IPO, including the net
proceeds from over-allotment shares, as well apnoeteeds of $10.6 million received from the issugaof preferred stock in a private
placement, offset by payments on long-term del$30® million.

During 2007, we may (a) expend funds to expandsalgs and marketing for the NC-stat System, althougre modestly than the
expansion in 2006, (b) fund sales and marketingresffor the DigiScope, and (c) continue our onggnogram of making enhancements and
improvements to the NC-stat System, including teetbpment of new and/or improved biosensors, pdior the diagnosis of additional
neuropathies, and development activities relatingpé ADVANCE System.

In addition, we plan to expend funds on the desiga drug delivery system, which is expected t@etite clinical stage of developmen
2007, for the minimally invasive delivery of theeyic agents to treat neuropathies by both prircarg and specialist physicians. We also
expect to incur capital expenditures for computedivare and software to support the growth in augiriiess and the additional requiremen
our customer base. We believe that the combinatidands available from cash and cash equivalemisfands available from our short-term
investments will be adequate to finance our ongoipgrations for at least 24 months, including thgeaditures described above.

As of December 31, 2006, we have federal and setteperating loss carryforwards available to d¢ffature taxable income of
$29.5 million and $16.1 million, respectively, aiedieral and state tax credits of $890,000 and $®107 respectively, which may be available
to reduce future taxable income and the relateelstéixereon. The net operating loss and researctiem@opment credit carryforwards expire
at various dates beginning in 2011 for federal 20@7 for state. Ownership changes in our compangeéined in the Internal Revenue Code,
are expected to have a modest limitation on theusatnaf net operating loss and research and devedoparedit carryforwards that can be
utilized annually to offset future taxable incomaldaxes, based on an analysis of the provisioseofion 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Subsequent changes in our ownership could furttiectahe limitation in future years.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacbonfinancial operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Ohiiget and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any oféhee sheet financing arrangements.

The following table summarizes our principal cootual obligations as of December 31, 2006 and ffeets such obligations are expec
to have on our liquidity and cash flows in futueripds.

Payments due in
Contractual Obligations Total 2007 2008 and 200¢ 20010 and 201: _ After 2011

Operating lease obligations —

$2,092,50( $ 930,00C $1,162,50( $ — $ —
Purchase order obligatio 5,629,700 5,629,70( — — —
License agreement obligations 85,00( 85,00( — — —
Total contractual obligatior $7,807,20( $6,644,70( $1,162,50( $ — 3 —

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are based on the seleatidrapplication of generally accepted accounthigciples, which require us to make
estimates and assumptions about future eventafieat the amounts reported in our financial statets and the accompanying notes. Future
events and their effects cannot be determined edittainty. Therefore, the determination of estimatzjuires the exercise of judgment. Actual
results could differ from those estimates, and sugh differences may be material to our finandiesnents. We believe that the policies set
forth below may involve a higher degree of
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judgment and complexity in their application tham other accounting policies and represent th&aftiiccounting policies used in t
preparation of our financial statements. If difftrassumptions or conditions were to prevail, #sults could be materially different from our
reported results. Our significant accounting pelicare presented within Note 1—Business and Sumaifi&@ignificant Accounting Policies of
the Notes to Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognitic

Our revenue recognition policy is to recognize rawes from our monitor and biosensors upon shipifigme fee is fixed or determinable,
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists atiglhas occurred and risk of loss has passed ctioleof the resulting receivables is
reasonably assured and product returns are redgasimable. Revenues from our docking station arxess to the onCall Information
System are considered one unit of accounting amdefierred and recognized over the shorter ofdtimated customer relationship period or
the estimated useful life of the product, currettiifee years. We record revenue on a net basggdoluct sales made to distributors, based
the amount billed to the distributors, when theriisitor accepts the responsibility for invoicirigetcustomer and the responsibility for the risk
of collections and product returns from the custome

When multiple elements are contained in a singlergement, we allocate revenue between the elerhasési on their relative fair value,
provided that each element meets the criteriaréattnent as a separate unit of accounting. An elermeonsidered a separate unit of
accounting if it has value to the customer on adstdone basis, there is objective, reliable evidesfdbe fair value of the undelivered eleme
and delivery or performance of the undelivered elets is considered probable and substantially frcontrol. Fair value is determined based
upon the price charged when the element is soldratgly.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgessments of expected returns, allowance for fidasicounts and expected
customer relationship periods. We analyze varias$ofs, including a review of specific transactioms historical returns, average customer
relationship periods, customer usage, customenbetaand market and economic conditions. Changesigments or estimates on these
factors could materially impact the timing and amioof revenues and costs recognized. Should marl@tonomic conditions deteriorate, our
actual return or bad debt experience could exceeeéstimate.

Certain product sales are made with a 30-day g§heturn. Since we can reasonably estimate furtxegns, we recognize revenues
associated with product sales that contain a B§heturn upon shipment and at the same time redewenue by the amount of estimated
returns under the provisions of SFAS No. 4&€venue Recognition When Right of Return EXists

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Aots

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadamount and do not bear interest. The allowforadgoubtful accounts is our best
estimate of the amount of probable credit losséfs iexisting accounts receivable. We review olovednce for doubtful accounts and
determine the allowance based on an analysis ¢dmgs past payment history, product usage actigitgl recent communications between us
and the customer. Past due balances over 90 dayswaewed individually for collectibility. Accourbalances are charged off against the
allowance when we feel it is probable the receigatill not be recovered. We do not have any offihak sheet credit exposure related to our
customers.

Warranty Costs

We accrue for device and biosensor warranty cagtedime of sale. While we engage in extensivapct quality programs and
processes, our warranty obligation is affected fmgpct failure rates, user error, variability inygtology and anatomy of customers’ patients,
material usage and delivery costs.

61




Should actual product failure and user error rateserial usage or delivery costs differ from ostireates, the amount of actual warranty costs
could materially differ from our estimates. Warnanbsts are based on the cost of repairing or ceglamonitors and docking stations and
based on the replacement cost of biosensors.

Asset Valuatiol

Asset valuation includes assessing the recordet &l certain assets, including accounts receiyalentories and fixed assets. We u
variety of factors to assess valuation, dependpanuhe asset. Accounts receivable are evaluatsethgon our historical experience, the age
of the receivable and current market and econooniditions. The realizable value of inventoriesasdd upon the types and levels of inven
held, forecasted demand, pricing, competition drahges in technology. Should current market andaoic conditions deteriorate, our actual
recoveries could be less than our estimates. Tdovegability of our fixed assets and other longtivassets are evaluated when circumstances
indicate that an event of impairment may have aeclin accordance with the provisions of SFAS N#i,T Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Lon-Lived Assets.

Accounting for Income Tax

As part of the process of preparing our finandiatesnents, we are required to estimate our incaxestin each of the jurisdictions in
which we operate. This process involves estimatimgactual current tax exposure, including assgsia risks associated with tax audits,
together with assessing temporary differences tiagurom the different treatment of items for t@xd accounting purposes. These differences,
together with cumulative net operating losses,Itéswueferred tax assets and liabilities, which srcluded within our balance sheet. We assess
the likelihood that our deferred tax assets wilk@eovered from future taxable income and, to tiere we believe that recovery is not more
likely than not, establish a valuation allowancheprimary factor used in the determination ofitakiation allowance is our historical
profitability. In the event that actual resultsfdiffrom these estimates, our provision for incdeees could be materially impacted.

Accounting for Sto-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.RP86ing the modified prospective method and beg#lacting the stock-based
compensation expense determined under fair valsedoaethods in our statement of operations raltiaer &s pro forma disclosure in our notes
to the financial statements. Under this transititethod, the compensation cost recognized beginfdngary 1, 2006 includes compensation
cost for (i) all share-based payments granted poidout not yet vested as of January 1, 2006,chasehe grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, @ipall share based payments granted subseqo&anuary 1, 2006 based on the grant-
date fair value estimated in accordance with tloeiprons of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation coskisegally recognized ratably over the
requisite service period. Prior period amounts hasebeen restated. We use the Black-Scholes optioing model for determining the fair
value of our stock options and amortize our stoagenl compensation expense using the straight-lkatkad.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8¢FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48ccounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxe—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 10%IN No. 48"), which clarifies the accounting addclosure for uncertainty in
tax positions, as defined. FIN No. 48 requires thatrecognize in our financial statements the ihpthe tax position if that position is more
likely than not of being sustained upon examinatimsed on the technical merits of the positiore provisions of FIN No. 48 are effective as
of the beginning of the 2007 calendar year, with th
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cumulative effect of the change in accounting pplecrecorded as an adjustment to opening retadaeadings. We believe that FIN No. 48 v
not have a material effect on our financial positiesults from operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. Fir Value Measurements(*SFAS No. 157”). SFAS No. 157 defines fair valune i
numerous accounting pronouncements, establishrasnefvork for measuring fair value in generally qted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
and expands disclosures related to the use ofdaie measures in financial statements. SFAS Nb.dbes not expand the use of fair value
measures in financial statements, but standardizeéefinition and guidance in GAAP. The Standambhasizes that fair value is a market-
based measurement and not an entity-specific memsmt based on an exchange transaction in whichrtity sells an asset or transfers a
liability (exit price). SFAS No. 157 establishefaa value hierarchy from observable market datthashighest level to fair value based on an
entity’s own fair value assumptions as the lowesgel. SFAS No. 157 is effective for our financitdtements issued in 2008; however, earlier
application is encouraged. We have not yet detexdhihe impact that the adoption of SFAS No. 157 elye on our financial position, results
of operations or its cash flows.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange @ssiun issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 1@3onsidering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatemen®uirent Year Financial Statement§'SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides guidance on how
the effects of the carryover or reversal of prieagfinancial statement misstatements should bsidered in quantifying a current year
misstatement. Prior practice allowed the evaluatiomateriality on the basis of: (1) the error giiféed as the amount by which the currenty
income statement was misstated (rollover methad)2)othe cumulative error quantified as the curtivéeamount by which the current year
balance sheet was misstated (iron curtain mettieljance on either method in prior years could hagelted in misstatement of the financial
statements. The guidance provided in SAB No. 18ires both methods to be used in evaluating naditgriImmaterial prior year errors may
be corrected with the first filing of prior yeanéincial statements after adoption. The cumulafifeciof the correction would be reflected in
the opening balance sheet with appropriate disodostithe nature and amount of each individualrezoorected in the cumulative adjustment,
as well as a disclosure of the cause of the enditlaat the error had been deemed to be immateribé past. SAB No. 108 did not have a
material impact on our financial position, resatoperations or its cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15Bhé Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Fiogl Liabilities, including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 2I55FAS No. 159”) SFAS No. 159 permits entitieschoose to measure many financial instruments
and certain other items at fair value that arecootently required to be measured at fair valuergdlized gains and losses on items for which
the fair value option has been elected are repamtedrnings. SFAS No. 159 does not affect anytiejsaccounting literature that requires
certain assets and liabilities to be carried atJalue. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal yebheginning after November 15, 2007. We bell
that our adoption of SFAS No. 159 will not have atenial impact on our financial position, resulfoperations or cash flows.

Subsequent Event

On March 7, 2007, our Board of Directors adopt&hareholder Rights Plan and declared a dividertdialision of one preferred stock
purchase right for each outstanding share of ommaon stock to shareholders of record as of theeaddbusiness on March 8, 2007. Initially,
these rights will not be exercisable and will tradth the shares of our common stock. Under the@twder Rights Plan, the rights generally
will become exercisable if a person becomes anuiasicg person” by acquiring 15% or more of our coamrstock or if a person commences a
tender offer that could result in that person owri’5% or more of our common stock. If a person bexoan acquiring person, each holder
right (other than the acquiring person) would bttled to purchase, at the then-current exerciggepsuch number
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of shares of preferred stock which are equivalestiares of our common stock having a value ofeihe exercise price of the right. If we are
acquired in a merger or other business combinatarsaction after any such event, each holderigig would then be entitled to purchase, at
the then-current exercise price, shares of theiangicompany’s common stock having a value of entiee exercise price of the right.

A copy of the Shareholder Rights Plan has beed &ile Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2007.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

The statements contained in this annual reportamA0-K, including under the section titled “Maweagent’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” atiter sections of this annual report, include fadMaoking statements within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, asaded, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchamg®fA1934, as amended, including,
without limitation, statements regarding our or management’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, ilesitor strategies regarding the future. The
words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “contiue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” andimilar expressions may identify forward-
looking statements, but the absence of these wiwes not mean that a statement is not forward4gpkihe forward-looking statements
contained in this annual report are based on auertiexpectations and beliefs concerning futureetigpments and their potential effects or
There can be no assurance that future developraffatging us will be those that we have anticipaligtese forward-looking statements
involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some biclv are beyond our control) or other assumptibas may cause actual results or
performance to be materially different from thogpressed or implied by these forward-looking staets. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, those factors diésd in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Shouolde or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should any of our assumptions pingerrect, actual results may vary in materiapeesds from those projected in these forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligationpiatie or revise any forward-looking statements,tiéreas a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as may be reduinder applicable securities laws.

” i, ” o ” ” o ”ou ”ou

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun imvestment portfolio and have no foreign excleogntracts. Our financial
instruments consist of cash, cash equivalentsi-$éon investments, accounts receivable, accouaytalge and accrued expenses. We consider
investments that, when purchased, have a remainatgrity of 90 days or less to be cash equivaldits.primary objectives of our investment
strategy are to preserve principal, maintain prdigerdity to meet operating needs, and maximizgdds. To minimize our exposure to an
adverse shift in interest rates, we invest mainlgdash equivalents and short-term investmentsavittaturity of 12 months or less and maintain
an average maturity of twelve months or less. Waatdelieve that a notional or hypothetical 10%rdde in interest rate percentages would
have a material impact on the fair value of ouestment portfolio or our interest income.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this item may be foumdpages F-1 through F-28 of this Form 10-K with éxception of the unaudited
quarterly financial information which is presentezlow.

We have restated our unaudited quarterly finariafatmation for each of the first three quartershed year ended December 31, 2006,
for each of the quarters of the year ended DeceBihe2005 to correct errors in accounting for stdees. See Note 2—Restatement of the
Notes to Financial Statemen

Year Ended December 31, 200

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
(as restated) (as restated) (as restated)
Revenue:! $11,823,27! $13,970,05( $15,261,25. $14,195,14( $55,249,71i
Gross margir $ 8,943,36: $10,592,58. $11,525,29' $10,630,41 $41,691,66:
Net income (loss) attributable
common shareholde $ (102,662 $ 1,233,70( $ 2,104,63( $ 1,032,13¢ $ 4,267,80¢
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ (0.01) $ 0.1C $ 0.17 $ 0.08 $ 0.34
Diluted $ (0.01) $ 0.0¢ $ 0.16 $ 0.08 $ 0.33
Weighted average shares used to
compute net income (loss) per
common share
Basic 12,414,47¢ 12,485,20! 12,539,70¢ 12,583,82! 12,501,74.
Diluted 12,414,47¢ 13,137,86° 13,095,43( 12,926,44! 13,097,89.
Year Ended December 31, 200
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
(as restated) (as restated) (as restated) (as restated) (as restated)
Revenue:! $ 6,789,76: $ 8,067,50¢ $ 9,109,43¢ $10,331,42° $34,298,13:
Gross margir $ 4,972,03¢ $ 5977,44. $ 6,791,59¢ $ 7,698,96. $25,440,03
Net income (loss) attributable
common shareholde $ (736,319 $ (194,149) $ 597,26t $ 582,451 $ 249,25¢
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ (0.06) $ (0.02) $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.02
Diluted $ (0.06) $ (0.02) $ 0.05 $ 0.04 $ 0.02
Weighted average shares used to
compute net income (loss) per
common share
Basic 12,043,10. 12,085,44:¢ 12,187,83! 12,289,07! 12,152,13!
Diluted 12,043,10: 12,085,44¢ 13,103,15¢ 13,181,14( 12,986,36!

ITEM 9. DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FI NANCIAL DISCLOSURE
There have been no changes or disagreements withig@nts on accounting of financial disclosureteratin the last fiscal year.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedes.

Our management carried out an evaluation, withptiréicipation of our Chief Executive Officer andraCihief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and praoesi(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{@¢nthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act")) as of DecembeRBa6. Our disclosure controls and procedures esgyded to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be discldseds in the reports that we file or submit unither Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§ipe in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that smébrmation is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Cliefcutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officés,allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures.

Based upon this evaluation, our management, inotudur Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Finmh©fficer, concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effeets of December 31, 2006 given the existenceeoifaterial weakness in internal controls
over financial reporting relating to state salesda described below. Notwithstanding the mateviedkness described below, our management
believes that the financial statements includetthin Annual Report on Form 10-K are fairly preseriteall material respects in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaicitaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Because of its irhelimitations, internal control over financigporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the éegfreompliance with the policies or procedures meteriorate. Under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, includonwg Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Finah&¥ficer, we conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based etiteria ininternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrtee Treadway Commission (“COSQO”).

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or boration of control deficiencies, that results ionathan a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement of the annual or interimritial statements will not be prevented or deteddased on its evaluation, our management
identified the following material weakness as otBmber 31, 2006: We did not maintain effective oaatover our sales tax liability and
related expense accounts. Specificallye did not have adequate controls designed anthae pjo assure that state sales taxes were properly
collected and remitted in all states in which tl@pany operates. This control deficiency resultethé restatement of the Company’s
financial statements for the years ended Decembe2@®)5 and 2004, each of the quarters of 2008tentirst three quarters of the year ended
December 31, 2006. Additionally, this control defitcy could result in a misstatement of our sadgdiability and related accounts that, in the
future, would result in a material misstatemerth® annual or interim financial statements that @t be prevented or detected.
Accordingly, management has concluded that thisrobdeficiency constitutes a material weakness.

Because of the material weakness described abavenanagement concluded that our internal contret éinancial reporting was not
effective as of December 31, 2006 based on ouvatiah under the framework Internal Control—Integrated Framewoitsued by the
COSO.
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Managemens assessment of the effectiveness of our inteoralal over financial reporting as of December 2106, has been audited
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registacounting firm, as stated in their report whgcimcluded herein.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There have been no changes to the Company’s ih@naol over financial reporting (as defined inl& 13a-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2006Hths materially affected, or is reasonably likelynaterially affect, the Compargyinterna
control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The response to this item is contained in our PStatement relating to our 2007 Annual Meeting tofic&holders (the “Proxy Statemejt”
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretbd Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretod Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretbd Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretibd Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
1. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements are listetiéraccompanying index to financial statementpage F-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedule

None.
3. Exhibit Index:

Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1
3.2
3.3

4.1
4.2

10.1
10.2
10.3
104
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8

10.9
10.1C

10.11

10.1z

10.1¢

Form of Second Amended and Restate-laws of NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1
Form of Third Amended and Restated Certificatenabrporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc.(

Certificate of Designations for Series A Junior Qlaive Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per
share (10

Specimen certificate for shares of common stoc

Form of Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated asatM?7, 2007, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rigkgent (10)

Lease Agreement dated October 18, 2000 betweernh~Auenue LLC and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(
Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option/Restricteck$lan(1

Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Ple

First Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998 Etuigntive Plan(1

Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Option and IneeRian(2]

2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Form of Indemnification Agreement between NeuroMeinc. and each of its directors(

Employment Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, by ehdden NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N.
Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.(1

Letter Agreement, dated June 19, 2002, by and lestWeuroMetrix, Inc. and Gary L. Gregory;

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Stock Option Agreements (1998nPldated as of July 1, 2002 and April 8, 2(
by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Gary L. Grgdbr

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality and N-Compete Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2002ndy a
between Gary L. Gregory and NeuroMetrix, Inc.

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Nc-Compete Agreement dated as of June 21, 2004, dy an
between Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. and NeuroMetrig.(1)

NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (1998 Plan) datedf June 21, 2004, by
and between Shai N. Gozani M.D., Ph.D., and Neutdkjénc.(1)
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10.14
10.1¢

10.1¢€

10.17

10.1€

10.1¢

10.2C

10.21

10.2zZ

10.2¢

10.24

10.2¢

10.2¢
**10.27

10.2¢
10.2¢€
10.3C
*23.1
*31.1

*31.2

*32

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998yHquéntive Plan(1

NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (1998 Plan) datedf June 21, 2004 by
and between Gary Gregory and NeuroMetrix, Inc

Indemnification Agreement dated June 21, 2004,rayteetween Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D., and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1]

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Nc-Compete Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2000, by and
between Michael Williams and NeuroMetrix, Inc.

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Nc-Compete Agreement, dated as of October 13, 1998nb
between Guy Daniello and NeuroMetrix Inc.

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, underNeairoMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And
Incentive Plan(3

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Fom@any Employees, under the
NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And Incentiviai3)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement FormNBmployee Directors, under the
NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And Incentiviai(3)

Letter Agreement, dated February 7, 2005, by amadren NeuroMetrix, Inc. and W. Bradford
Smith(4)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, underNeeiroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option and
Incentive Plan, by and between NeuroMetrix, Ina ¥ Bradford Smith(4

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Nc-Compete Agreement, dated as of February 7, 200&nt
between W. Bradford Smith and NeuroMetrix, Inc

Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements (2004 and 2005 Salaries and Bonus Targets)
5)
Director Compensation Arrangements

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as ofusug, 2006, by and between Parlex Polymer
Flexible Circuits, Inc. and NeuroMetrix, Inc. (

Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements (2006U%)(8)
Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements (208Buses)(9)
NeuroMetrix, Inc. Shareholder Rights Plan (

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers |

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuao Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer purquao Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer andiftipal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarban«Oxley Act of 200z

*

Filed herewith.
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**  Portions of exhibit 10.27 have been omitteadguant to a request for confidential treatment.
(1) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Registration Statement on From S-1 (Reafistn No. 333-115440).
(2) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May, 2806 (File No. 000-50856).
(3) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on iawer 15, 2004 (File No. 000-50856).
(4) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Felbmual, 2005 (File No. 000-50856).
(5) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on MBY, 2005 (File No. 000-50856).
(6) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on Mart, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(7) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Aug@s2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(8) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on awer 9, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(9) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on MHY, 2006 (File No. 000-50856).
(10) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetric.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Margh2007 (File No. 000-50856).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and) H(dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the ttegi has duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: March 29, 200

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf

NEUROMETRIX, INC.

By: /s SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D. PH.D

Shai N. Gozani, M.D. Ph.C
Chairman, President and Chief Execut
Officer

of the registrant on March 29, 2007 in the capesitndicated below.

Name

Title

/sl SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. [

/sl W. BRADFORD SMITH

W. Bradford Smitt

/s/ DAVID E. GOODMAN, M.D.

David E. Goodman, M.C

/s/ ALLEN J. HINKLE, M.D.

Allen J. Hinkle M.D.

/s/ CHARLES R. LAMANTIA

Charles R. LaManti

/sl JONATHAN T. LORD, M.D.

Jonathan T. Lord M.C

/sl W. MARK LORTZ

W. Mark Lortz

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Office
and Principal Accounting Office

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of NElatoix, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of NeuroMelng,'s 2006 and 2005 financial statements andsahternal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, and an audit @004 financial statements in accordance withsiandards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Oumnagis, based on our audits, are presented below.

Financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15I&a)present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of NeuroMetrix;.lat December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the reduts @perations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended Decembe2(®16 in conformity with accounting principles geadfy accepted in the United States of
America. These financial statements are the redpiitysof the Company’s management. Our respottigjbis to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits. We cdedwur audits of these statements in accordanitetine standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdsedards require that we plan and perform the dadibtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of malterisstatement. An audit of financial statementduides examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the ishstatements, assessing the accounting prirscied and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financé&kstent presentation. We believe that our audisige a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statemahtessCompany has restated its financial statensntg and for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004.

In addition, as discussed in Note 3 to the findrst@tements, effective January 1, 2006 the Comphapnged its method of accounting for
stock based compensation.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, we have audited management’s assessmenidattin “Management’s Report on Internal Contra@rolvinancial Reporting”
appearing under Item 9A, that NeuroMetrix, Inc. dat maintain effective internal control over fircéal reporting as of December 31, 2006,
because of the effect of the Company not maintgiefifiective controls over accounting for state sadexes, tax liabilities and related expense
accounts, based on criteria establisheldtarnal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifribe
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s manageimeasponsible for maintaining effective internahtrol over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness offiateontrol over financial reporting. Our respduildy is to express opinions on management’s
assessment and on the effectiveness of the Congpentginal control over financial reporting base&doair audit.

We conducted our audit of internal control ovegfigial reporting in accordance with the standafdeePublic Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamisinethat we plan and perform the audit to obteasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reportingis maintained in all material respects. An aaflinternal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internatticdrover financial reporting, evaluating managetieeassessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrebrand performing such other procedures as wsidennecessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable Basisur opinions.
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A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclgsddose policies and procedures that (i) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readslaassurance regarding prevention or timely dieteaf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or démisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or boration of control deficiencies, that results inn@than a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement of the annual or interimricial statements will not be prevented or detectéeé. following material weakness
has been identified and included in managemengssasnent. As of December 31, 2006 the Companyadithaintain effective
controls over sales tax liabilities and relatedemge accounts. Specifically, the Company did neé lzlequate controls designed and
in place to assure that state sales taxes wererbyamllected and remitted in all states in whikth Company operates. This control
deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Camgjzafinancial statements for the years ended Déegr81, 2005 and 2004, each of
the quarters of 2005 and the first three quartbtkeyear ended December 31, 2006. Additionaltlis tontrol deficiency could result
in a misstatement of the Company’s sales tax ltgahd related accounts that would result in agmak misstatement to the annual or
interim financial statements that would not be preed or detected. This material weakness wasdemesl in determining the nature,
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in ouditiaf the 2006 financial statements, and our apimegarding the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportihges not affect our opinion on those financiatestents.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Neetrdd Inc. did not maintain effective internal ¢mi over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 , is fairly stated, in all malenéspects, based on criteria establishddternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by
the COSO. Also, in our opinion, because of theatftd the material weakness described above oatchevement of the objectives of the
control criteria, NeuroMetrix Inc. has not maintdheffective internal control over financial repogtas of December 31, 2006, based on
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the COSO.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 29, 2007
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Balance Sheets

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term hel-to-maturity investment
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#éittounts of $900,0C
and $400,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, resggc
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Current portion of deferred costs
Total current asse
Restricted cas
Fixed assets, ni
Deferred cost
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensatic
Accrued expense
Current portion of deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenu
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Stockholder’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 starémrized, non
outstanding

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 awttdyil2,601,224 anc

12,375,276 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2006 and
2005, respectivel
Additional paic-in capital
Deferred compensatic
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31

2006 2005
(as restated)

$ 7,909,77¢ $ 8,170,03
32,410,68! 24,081,941
7,698,55( 4,543,33¢
3,633,38¢ 2,683,40¢
761,40( 614,16¢
370,01: 223,00¢
52,783,81! 40,315,90!
1,458,59¢ 1,458,59¢
1,115,43¢ 875,551
348,43( 247,01
$ 55,706,27! $ 42,897,07.
$ 2,766,65( $ 1,698,58:
2,460,32¢ 1,959,62:
4,275,98! 2,628,92¢
1,386,86° 760,61
10,889,82i 7,047,74!
1,335,13¢ 885,35¢
72,727 130,90¢
12,297,69: 8,064,00¢
1,26C 1,23¢€
97,205,14! 93,212,36!
(110,708 (425,627)
(53,687,11)  (57,954,92))
43,408,58!I 34,833,06:.
$ 55,706,27¢ $ 42,897,07.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinrancial statements.

F-4




NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)
Revenues
Diagnostic devict $ 7,538,32( $ 4,221,31. $ 2,219,48!
Biosensor 47,711,39I 30,076,82: 15,700,601
Total revenues 55,249,71i 34,298,13: 17,920,08!
Cost of revenue 13,558,05: 8,858,09: 4,853,32¢
Gross margin 41,691,66. 25,440,03! 13,066,76:
Operating expense
Research and development 5,010,51¢ 3,820,62: 3,268,36:
Sales and marketing( 22,013,68: 14,150,15 8,488,04°
General and administrative( 11,805,06: 8,021,78: 5,267,37¢
Total operating expenses 38,829,25' 25,992 ,56. 17,023,78!
Income (loss) from operatiol 2,862,40! (552,525 (3,957,029
Interest incomt 1,598,40: 838,82¢ 214,09:
Interest expens — (2,042) (964,056
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 4,460,80¢ 284,25¢ (4,706,989
Provision for income taxe 193,00( 35,00( —
Net income (loss) 4,267,80¢ 249,25¢ (4,706,989
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred st — — (1,386,30)
Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible preferre
stock — — (787,885
Beneficial conversion feature associated with retdge
convertible preferred stoc — — (7,050,77))
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhid $ 4,267,80¢ $ 249,25¢ $(13,931,94))
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ 034 $ 0.02 $ (2.42)
Diluted $ 033 $ 0.02 $ (2.42)
Weighted average shares used to compute net inloas}
per common shart
Basic 12,501,74. 12,152,13! 5,747,57¢
Diluted 13,097,89: 12,986,36! 5,747,57¢

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense incindedse amounts is as follows:

Research and developm: $ 47058. $ 77,365 $ 249,131
Sales and marketir 820,98¢ 167,69¢ 356,42:
General and administrati\ 1,361,07: 161,26¢ 423,04:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Peered Stock and

Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit)/Equity

Balance at December 31, 2003—as
restatec

Issuance of Series E-1 redeemable
preferred stock, net of issuance costs
of $22,672

Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock optior

Purchase of treasury sto

Cash received from subscriptions
receivable

Beneficial conversion feature
associated with redeemable
convertible preferred stoc

Deemed dividend on Series D
redeemable convertible preferred
stock

Accretion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to redemptic

Initial public offering of common stoc

Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stocl

Conversion of warrant to purchase
common stocl

Compensation expense associated with
stock options

Deferred compensation associated v
stock options

Adjustment to deferred compensation
associated with terminated
employees

Amortization of deferred compensati

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl

Net loss—as restated

Balance at December 31, 2004—as
restatec

Issuance of stock upon exercise of
stock options and warrar

Compensation expense associated with
stock options

Adjustment to deferred compensatio
associated with terminated
employees

Amortization of deferred compensati

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl

Income tax effect of the exercise of
stock options

Net income—as restated

Balance at December 31, 2005—as
restatec

Issuance of stock upon exercise of
stock options

Stock-based compensation
expens¢

Adjustment to deferred compensatio
associated with terminated
employees

Amortization of deferred compensati

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl

Income tax effect of the exercise of
stock options

Net income

Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional
Number Number Paid-In Subscriptions Deferred Accumulated
of Shares Amount of Shares _Amount Capital Receivable Compensation Deficit Total
17,498,09¢ $ 47,693,74: 1,04299C $ 104 $ — $(2,143 $(598,937) $(45,204,34)  $(45,805,32()
7,050,77: 10,553,48¢ — — — — — — —
— — 49,621 5 44,92¢ — — — 44,931
— — (6,251) 1) (1,249) — — — (1,25C)
— — — — — 2,143 — — 2,143
— 7,050,77: — — — — — (7,050,777 (7,050,777)
— 787,88t — — — — — (787,885) (787,88¢5)
— 1,386,30: — — (932,116 — — (454,18%) (1,386,307)
— — 3,450,00( 345 24,005,71¢ — — — 24,006,06¢
(24,548,87()  (67,472,18) 7,488,75¢ 749 67,471,43. — — — 67,472,18!
— — — — 450,100 — — — 450,10C
— — — — 436,611 — — — 436,611
— — — — 750,56€ — (750,566 — —
— — — — (12,429) — 12,42¢ — —
— — — — — — 591,984 — 591,98¢
— — 9,532 1 64,817 — — — 64,81¢
— — — — — — — (4,706,989 (4,706,989
— — 12,034,65( 1,203 92,278,37¢ — (745,08€) (58,204,179 33,330,31¢
— — 317,361 32 512,82t — — — 512,851
— — — — 120,27 — — — 120,27
— — — — (33,405) — 33,40E — —
— — — — — — 286,05¢ — 286,05¢
— — 23,26t 3 299,297 — — — 299,30(
— — — — 35,00C — — — 35,00C
— — — — — — — 249,25¢ 249,25¢
— — 12,375,27t 1,238 93,212,36¢ — (425,627) (57,954,92() 34,833,06.
— — 202,80¢ 20 1,180,63° — — — 1,180,65°
2,403,22: 2,403,22:
— — — — (65,50%) — 65,508 — —
— — — — — — 249,41¢ — 249,41F
— — 23,14C 2 394,621 — — — 394,62¢
— — — — 79,80C — — — 79,80C
— — — — — — — 4,267,80¢ 4,267,80¢
— — 12,601,22: $1,260 $97,205,14! $ — $ (110,705 $(53,687,119 $ 43,408,58(

Balance at December 31, 2006

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows for operating activities:
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @ehc
provided by (used in) operating activiti¢
Depreciation and amortizatic
Compensation expense associated with stock of
Provision for doubtful accoun
Amortization of premium on investmer
Income tax effect of the exercise of stock opti
Accretion of debt issuance discol
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and compensa
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Deferred revenue and deferred costs
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Cash flows for investing activities:
Purchases of fixed asst
Purchases of investmer
Maturities of investment
Release of restricted ca
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible
preferred stock, net of issuance cc
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offiey costs
of $3,572,90¢
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under erap
stock purchase ple
Payments on lor-term debt
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiy
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for intere:

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)
$ 4,267,80t $ 249,25¢ $ (4,706,989
380,65¢ 278,93 205,02z
2,652,63 406,33( 1,028,59!
946,85( 281,68¢ 221,79¢
184,16: 439,73¢ 89,17t
79,80( 35,00( —
— — 437,77¢
(4,102,06)  (1,698,45)  (1,496,37()
(949,980 (1,399,149 (205,877)
(147,23)) 58,801 (455,80¢)
1,068,06 799,29: 464,90¢
2,147,76: 1,925,92¢ 1,421,30:
(58,182) (58,18%) 3,637
827,61 588,92¢ 341,201
7,297,90: 1,908,09( (2,651,63)
(620,54() (475,122 (545,15¢)
(42,141,62)  (15,290,12)  (30,954,41)
33,628,72: 18,840,19: 2,793,49:
— 438,60z —
(9,133,445 3,513,54¢  (28,706,08)
1,180,65 512,85i 47,07¢
— — 10,553,48.
— — 24,006,06.
394,62: 299,30( 64,81¢
— — (3,000,00()
1,575,28( 812,15i 31,671,441
(260,259 6,233,79¢ 313,72t
8,170,03 1,936,24: 1,622,51¢
$ 7,909,77¢ $ 8,170,03° $ 1,936,24:
$ — % 204z $ 497,40¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinrancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Business and Summary of Significant AccountinBolicies
Business

NeuroMetrix, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware comtion, was formed in June 1996. The Company dssidgvelops and sells
proprietary medical devices used to help physicéiagnose neuropathies and neurovascular disddsesopathies are diseases of the
peripheral nerves and parts of the spine that &etiyiare caused by or associated with diabetesbbxk pain and carpal tunnel syndrome, as
well as other clinical disorders. Diabetic retintpeis a neurovascular disease affecting the visfguatients with diabetes. The Company has
an exclusive sales and marketing license with Eybitaging, Inc. (“EyeTel”) to market the DigiScope® product designed to detect diabetic
retinopathy. The Company operates in one busiregraant.

On July 27, 2004, the Company completed an inttiddlic offering (“IPO”) of 3,000,000 shares of its common stock at $8.0GIpare, fo
gross consideration of $24,000,000. All of the skawere sold by the Company. In connection withf@, the Company granted the
underwriters a 30-day over-allotment option to pase up to an additional 450,000 shares of comitamk rom the Company at $8.00 per
share, which the underwriters exercised in fulPargust 17, 2004 for gross consideration of $3,600,0he Company’s shares trade on The
NASDAQ Global Market under the symt“NURO.”

On July 27, 2004, upon completion of the Compai®®, all shares of the Company’s redeemable coimerreferred stock outstanding
on that date converted into 7,488,758 shares ohmmmstock and the outstanding warrant to purchedeemable convertible preferred stock
converted into a warrant to purchase 100,000 sleiresmmon stock. This warrant was exercised ihdolJune 13, 2005.

In October 2006, the Company entered into an ek@useven year licensing agreement with EyeTel. agreement grants the Company
an exclusive license to market, brand, and selllé}g DigiScope throughout the primary care phyasicand endocrinologist market. The
DigiScope, developed in collaboration with the WainEye Institute at Johns Hopkins, is a UnitedeSt&tood and Drug Administration, or
FDA, cleared diagnostic device that primary cangsptians and endocrinologists can use for the edtgction of diabetic retinopathy. In
connection with the agreement, the Company receiardants to purchase up to 500,000 shares of Ey®hemon stock at an exercise price
of $0.16 per share, subject to adjustment for sgptiks and with a term of ten years. The warranéssubject to a vesting schedule based on the
Company’s achievement of annual performance mitestoelating to units placed and customer usagjfeedDigiScope through 2011. If the
Company does not meet one or both of the requiresienany calendar year, but does meet the cordbeguirements for two or more
consecutive years, the shares scheduled to vesaébr of the years will vest. The agreement alaotgrthe Company financing participation
rights in connection with EyeTal’next round of venture capital financing. The Campreceived an option to purchase EyeTel prefesteck,
up to the lesser of (i) 30% of the total amounsgediin the financing or (ii) $5.0 million. In theent that the Company participates in the next
round of financing, and the Company’s maximum péediamount is less than $5.0 million, the Complaay the right to participate in any
subsequent financing rounds equal to the differdeteeen $5.0 million and the amount previouslyested.
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Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies applied by the Campin the preparation of its financial statementsas follows:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith an original maturity of ninety days or lesshie cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are recorded at cost which approxinfaiesalue. The Company invests cash primarilg imoney market account and other
investments which management believes are sulgentrtimal credit and market risk.

Held-to-Maturity | nvestments

The Company’s investment portfolio is classifiechatd-to-maturity, and such investments are statednortized cost. Interest earned on
investments held-to-maturity is included in intéiesome. The amortized cost of investments helth&turity is adjusted for amortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturitichSamortization and accretion are included in ggemcome.

Restricted Cash
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company maigdaiestricted cash in the amount of $1,458,598césteadl with a facility lease. See
Note 1:—Commitments and Contingencies.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose tloen@any to concentrations of credit risk consistnariily of cash and cash equivalents in
bank deposits accounts, short-term investmentdradd receivables. The Company invests its fundéghly rated institutions and limits its
investment in any individual debtor. The Compang hat experienced significant losses related th easl cash equivalents and does not
believe it is exposed to any significant crediksiselating to its cash and cash equivalents.

The Company distributes its products through ite eggional sales managers who manage independesataggencies. At December 31,
2006 and 2005 and for the years ended Decemb@0886, 2005 and 2004, no single customer accounteadre than 10% of accounts
receivable or revenue.

The Company relies on two thigghrty manufacturers to manufacture all of its cutrgroducts. The disruption or termination of thipy
of these products or a significant increase incthet of these products from these sources could hawadverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial position and results of opereti

I nventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased comgnts, are stated at the lower of cost or ma@eit is determined using the first-in,
first-out method. The Company writes down inventtaryts net realizable value for excess or obsatetentory.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiatrimments, which include cash and cash equivalehtst-term investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expeag@®ximate their fair value at December 31, 206 2005.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitgria have been met: persuasive evidence of mmgement exists, delivery has
occurred and risk of loss has passed, the sefiece to the buyer is fixed or determinable andextion is reasonably assured. The Company
records revenue on a net basis for product saleg neadistributors, based upon the amount billetthéadistributors, when the distributor
accepts the responsibility for invoicing the custorand the responsibility for the risk of collectioand product returns from the customer.

When multiple elements are contained in a singi@ngement, the Company allocates revenue betweegléments based on their relal
fair value, provided that each element meets theriz for treatment as a separate unit of accagnthn element is considered a separate unit
of accounting if it has value to the customer atiaand-alone basis, there is objective, reliabldeavie of the fair value of the undelivered
elements and delivery or performance of the undetid elements is considered probable and subshaitishe control of the Company. Fair
value is determined based upon the price chargeshwie element is sold separately.

Diagnostic device revenues consist of sales of M€rsonitors and NC-stat docking stations. Reverasasciated with the sale of the NC-
stat monitors are recognized upon shipment providatithe fee is fixed or determinable, evidenca pérsuasive arrangement exists,
collection of receivables is reasonably assurenfjymt returns are reasonably estimable and noragng obligations exist. The revenues from
the sale of a NC-stat docking station and accetisetonCall Information System are considered arieaf accounting and deferred and
recognized on a straight line basis over the estichperiod of time the Company provides the seragsociated with the onCall Information
System, which is the shorter of the estimated ecnstaelationship period or the estimated usefel dif the docking station, currently
three years. The resulting deferred revenue arefrdef costs are presented as separate line itethe @ccompanying balance sheet.

Biosensor revenues consist of sales of disposaBlstst biosensors and are recognized upon shippnewvided that the fee is fixed or
determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangeex#sis, collection of receivables is reasonabfuesd and product returns are reasonably
estimable.

The Company recognizes revenues associated withllat®on and training upon completion of the seeviThe fair value of the installati
and training is based on hourly service billingegat

Certain product sales are made with a 30-day a§heturn. Since the Company can reasonably estifodtire returns, the Company
recognizes revenues associated with product de¢santain a right of return upon shipment anthatsame time reduces revenue by the
amount of estimated returns under the provisiorStatement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SHA®. 48, “Revenue Recognition
When Right of Return Exists

Proceeds received in advance of product shipmenteaorded as deferred revenues.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadamount and do not bear interest. The allow#iragoubtful accounts is the
Company’s best estimate of the amount of probatglditlosses in its existing accounts receivable Tompany reviews its allowance for
doubtful accounts and determines the allowancedbasan analysis of customer past payment hispsoduct usage activity, and recent
communications between the Company and the custdiast due balances over 90 days are revieweddodiNy for collectibility. Account
balances are charged off against the allowance We@ompany feels it is probable the receivablenei be recovered. The Company does
not have any off-balance sheet credit exposureéectk® its customers.
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Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asddizdnility method. Deferred income tax assets katailities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differeheteeen the financial statement carrying amouhéxisting assets and liabilities and their
respective income tax bases, and operating lossaaratedit carryforwards. The Company’s finansi@tements contain certain deferred tax
assets, which have arisen primarily as a resuwpefating losses, as well as other temporary diffees between financial and tax accounting.
SFAS No. 109 ‘Accounting for Income Taxgsrequires the Company to establish a valuatitmwadnce if the likelihood of realization of the
deferred tax assets is reduced based on an ewalwdtobjective verifiable evidence. Significantmagement judgment is required in
determining the Company’s provision for income txte Company’s deferred tax assets and lialsildied any valuation allowance recorded
against those net deferred tax assets. The Congeatyates the weight of all available evidencedtednine whether it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the net deferred incaaeassets will not be realized.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in the research and developmetteo€bmpanys products are expensed as incurred. Includedsgareh and developme
costs are wages, benefits and other operating sostsas facilities, supplies and overhead direelgted to the Company’s research and
development efforts.

Product Warranty Costs

The Company accrues estimated product warrantg ebghe time of sale which are included in costadés in the statements of
operations. The amount of the accrued warrantylitigis based on historical information such astpexperience, product failure rates, number
of units repaired and estimated cost of materidllabor.

The following is a rollforward of the Company’'s aged warranty liability for the years ended Decenftie 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
Balance at beginning of period $ 124,85. $ 116,77¢ $ 79,054
Accrual for warrantie 688,23« 314,117 187,17¢
Settlements made (581,361)) (306,044  (149,45))
Balance at end of peric $ 231,72 $ 124,85 $ 116,77¢

Fixed Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and deprecigitegi the straighline method over the estimated useful life of easbet. Expenditures 1
repairs and maintenance are charged to expenseuwasad. On disposal, the related assets and adatedwepreciation are eliminated from
accounts and any resulting gain or loss is includeédle Company’s statement of operations. Leaskingbrovements are amortized over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the improeait or the remaining term of the lease.

The Company periodically evaluates the recovetgtnli its fixed assets and other long-lived assdten circumstances indicate that an
event of impairment may have occurred in accordavittethe provisions of SFAS No. 144Atcounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets. This periodic review may result in an adjustmehestimated depreciable lives or an asset imgaitmVhen indicators of
impairment are present, the carrying values obfset are evaluated in relation to their opergigrfpormance and future undiscounted cash
flows of the underlying business. If the future
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undiscounted cash flows are less than their bobleyan impairment exists. The impairment is meadas the difference between the book
value and the fair value of the underlying assair. ¥alues are based on estimates of the markstpand assumptions concerning the amount
and timing of estimated future cash flows and agglidiscount rates, reflecting varying degrees afgieed risk. No impairments were
identified in the years ended December 31, 20065 2Md 2004.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&uiard (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(Rghare Based Paymen{("SFAS
No. 123(R”), which requires that the cost resulting fromsihre-based payment transactions be recognizéd financial statements. SFAS
No. 123(R) revises SFAS No. 1“Accounting for Stock-Based CompensatiqhSFAS No. 123")and supersedes Accounting Principles B
Opinion No. 25;'Accounting for Stock Issued to Employed$APB No. 25”) and SFAS No. 148Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an amendnofdfinancial Accounting Standards Board Statendmt123" (“SFAS No. 148".)
As a result, beginning January 1, 2006, the Compaopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified progpeenethod and has begun reflect
the stock-based compensation expense determineut faidvalue based methods in statement of omeratiather than as pro forma disclosure
in the notes to the financial statements. Undexr tifainsition method, the compensation cost recedrtieginning January 1, 2006 includes
compensation cost for (i) all share-based paymgnatsted prior to, but not yet vested as of Jantia®006, based on the grant-date fair value
estimated in accordance with the provisions of SlN&S123, and (ii) all share based payments gramtedodified subsequent to January 1,
2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimataddordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123@)mpensation cost is generally
recognized ratably over the requisite service peMyior period amounts have not been restatedCimepany uses the Black-Scholes option
pricing model for determining the fair value of #®ck options and amortizes its stock-based cosgiEm expense using the straight-line
method.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Compargoanted for stock options granted to employeesgordance with APB 25 and
provided the disclosures required under SFAS 14giarthe notes to our financial statements. Acaagty, compensation expense was
recorded for options issued to employees to thengxhat the fair market value of the Company’s emn stock exceeded the exercise price of
the option at the date granted and all other caitier fixed accounting were met. All stock-basedheds granted to non-employees were
accounted for at their fair value and the resulingnpensation expense was generally recognizecdtioegreriod of service.
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Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company accounts for and discloses net incémss)(per common share in accordance with SFASLRI®, “Earnings Per Sharé
Basic net income (loss) per common share is cordputalividing net income (loss) attributable to eoon stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding. Dihegeincome (loss) per common share is computetiviiging net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders by the weiglateefage number of common shares and dilutive fiateammmon share equivalents then
outstanding. Potential common shares consist aestiasuable upon the exercise of stock optionsaamdants (using the treasury stock
method.)

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)

Basic:
Net income (loss) available to common stockholi $ 4,267,80t $ 249,25¢ $(13,931,94i)
Weighted average shar 12,501,74. 12,152,13! 5,747,57¢
Basic income (loss) per common sh $ 034 $ 0.02 $ (2.42)
Diluted:
Net income (loss) available to common stockholi $ 4,267,80t $ 249,25¢ $(13,931,94i)
Weighted average shar 12,501,74. 12,152,13! 5,747,57¢
Effect of stock option 596,14¢ 821,25¢ —
Effect of warrants — 12,972 —
Weighted average shares, as adju 13,097,89: 12,986,36! 5,747,57¢
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 033 % 002 % (2.42)

The following potentially dilutive common sharesreexcluded from the calculation of diluted netame (loss) per common share
because their effect was antidilutive for eachhef periods presented:

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
Options 366,61¢ 45,40( 1,132,57:
Warrants — — 100,00(

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising and promotional costs are expenseda@siied. Advertising and promotion expense was $B47 $280,034 and $215,321 in
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 28€pkctively.

Other Comprehensive I ncome (L0ss)

SFAS No. 130, ‘Reporting Comprehensive Incofhestablishes standards for reporting and disptgimmprehensive income and its
components in a full set of general-purpose firalnstiatements. For the years ended December 3@, 2005 and 2004, the Company had no
components of comprehensive income or loss ottzer tiet income (loss).

Segments

The Company is in the business of designing, dgietpand selling proprietary medical devices. TlwnPany evaluates its business
activities that are regularly reviewed by the CligEcutive Officer for which discrete financial amfnation is available. As a result of this
evaluation, the Company determined that it hasopeeating segment with operations in one geograplocation which is the United States.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assasiiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efitancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those ewsttes.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to risks common to companiéise medical device industry, including, but fiotited to, development by the
Company or its competitors of new technologicabietions, dependence on key personnel, customamsbursement from thirgarty payers
protection of proprietary technology, and complemdth regulations of the U.S. Food and Drug Adstirition.

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiemhform with the current year presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation48,“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an iptetation of FASB
Statement No. 10X"FIN No. 48"), which clarifies the accounting adisclosure for uncertainty in tax positions, asred. FIN No. 48
requires that management recognize in the Compdimgacial statements the impact of the tax positibthat position is more likely than not
of being sustained upon examination, based oretttentcal merits of the position. The provisions-tfl No. 48 are effective as of the
beginning of the 2007 calendar year, with the cating effect of the change in accounting princiigleorded as an adjustment to opening
retained earnings. The Company believes that FoN48 will not have a material effect on its finadgosition, results from operations or ¢
flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. F4ir Value Measurements(*SFAS No. 157”). SFAS No. 157 defines fair valuoe i
numerous accounting pronouncements, establishrasnefvork for measuring fair value in generally quted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
and expands disclosures related to the use ofdiie measures in financial statements. SFAS No.dbgs not expand the use of fair value
measures in financial statements, but standardizeéefinition and guidance in GAAP. The Standambhasizes that fair value is a market-
based measurement and not an entity-specific memsmt based on an exchange transaction in whichrtity sells an asset or transfers a
liability (exit price). SFAS No. 157 establishefaa value hierarchy from observable market datthashighest level to fair value based on an
entity’s own fair value assumptions as the lowesgel. SFAS No. 157 is effective for our financitdtements issued in 2008; however, earlier
application is encouraged. The Company has nadgtermined the impact that the adoption of SFAS14G. will have on its financial
position, results of operations or its cash flows.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Gssion (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin NbO8“Considering the Effects
of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Missteents in Current Year Financial Statemer{tSAB 108”). SAB 108 provides guidance
on how the effects of the carryover or reversgradr year financial statement misstatements shbaldonsidered in quantifying a current year
misstatement. Prior practice allowed the evaluatiomateriality on the basis of: (1) the error giiféed as the amount by which the currenty
income statement was misstated (rollover methad)2)othe cumulative error quantified as the curtivéeamount by which the current year
balance sheet was misstated (iron curtain mettieljance on either method in prior years could hagelted in misstatement of the financial
statements. The guidance provided in SAB No. 1G8ires both methods to
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be used in evaluating materiality. Immaterial psiear errors may be corrected with the first filmfgorior year financial statements after
adoption. The cumulative effect of the correctioowd be reflected in the opening balance sheet apgropriate disclosure of the nature and
amount of each individual error corrected in thenalative adjustment, as well as a disclosure otthese of the error and that the error had
been deemed to be immaterial in the past. SAB R8.did not have a material impact on the Compafigancial position, results of operatic
or cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15Ehé Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Fiogl Liabilities, including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 2I55FAS No. 159”) SFAS No. 159 permits entitieschoose to measure many financial instruments
and certain other items at fair value that arecootently required to be measured at fair valueddlized gains and losses on items for which
the fair value option has been elected are repamtedrnings. SFAS No. 159 does not affect anytiexjsaccounting literature that requires
certain assets and liabilities to be carried atJalue. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal yebheginning after November 15, 2007. The
Company does not believe that the adoption of SRAS159 will have a material impact on its finahgiasition, results of operations or cash
flows.

2. Restatement

The Company has restated its financial statement$ and for the years ended December 31, 2002@d4 to correct errors in account
for sales tax liabilities. The errors arose from @ompany’s failure in certain states within thatelh States to charge sales tax to customers as
required by state law and subsequently file andtreach collections to the state tax authoritidgse Tompany has computed the error as the
total of the sales tax due, based on historicaissial those states where sales tax should havecb#eated, and the resulting interest and
penalties in accordance with the applicable state |

The impact of correcting these errors results imarease in accrued liabilities of $1,415,000 &@d6,000 as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively, an increase in general andr@Edtrative expenses of $689,000 and $423,000 aaduwction of net income available to
common stockholders of $689,000 and $423,000 y#ars ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, resglgctiv
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The following table presents the impact of theatshent:

2005 2004
As As
Previously Previously
Reported Restated Reported Restated

Statement of Operations:
General and administratiy $ 7,332,78 $ 8,021,78. $ 4,84437¢ $ 5,267,37¢
Total operating expens: 25,303,56:- 25,992,56. 16,600,78! 17,023,78:
Income (loss) from operatiol 136,47¢ (552,525 (3,534,029 (3,957,02Y
Income (loss) before provision for income

taxes 973,25¢ 284,25¢ (4,283,989 (4,706,989
Net income (loss 938,25¢ 249,25¢ (4,283,989 (4,706,989
Net income (loss) attributable to comnr

stockholders $ 938,25¢ $  249,25¢ $(13,508,94) $(13,931,94)
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $ 0.08 $ 0.02 $ (235 $ (2.42)

Diluted $ 007 $ 0.02 $ (2.35 $ (2.42)
Balance sheet:
Accrued expense $ 1,213,92¢ $ 2,628,92¢
Total current liabilities $ 5,632,741 $ 7,047,74!
Total liabilities $ 6,649,000 $ 8,064,00¢
Accumulated defici $(56,539,92() $(57,954,92) $(57,478,17) $(58,204,17)
Total stockholder equity $ 36,248,06. $ 34,833,06. $ 34,056,31i $ 33,330,311
Cash flows:
Net income (loss $ 93825¢ $ 249,25¢ $ (4,283,98) $ (4,706,989
Accrued expenses and compensa $ 1,236,920 $ 1,925,920 $ 998,301 $ 1,421,30:

In addition, previously reported accumulated deficid total stockholders’ deficit as of December&103 of $44,901,348 and
$45,502,320, respectively, have been restated3@$4,348 and $45,805,320, respectively in theeStanhts of Changes in Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock and Changes in Stodktel (Deficit)/Equity.

As applicable, the footnotes contained elsewhetieinvthese financial statements have also beeategsto correct these errors.
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3. Stock Option Plans, Stoc-Based Compensation and Common Stoc
Stock Option Plans

During 1996, the Company adopted the 1996 Stocko@iRtestricted Stock Plan (the “1996 Stock Plamfe 1996 Stock Plan provides
for the granting of incentive and non-qualifiedct@ptions and stock bonus awards to officers ctlims and employees of the Company. The
maximum number of shares that may be issued pursaigime 1996 Stock Plan is 156,250. All of thestarmding options under the 1996 Stock
Plan are fully vested and terminate 10 years #fieigrant date, or earlier if the option holdemdéslonger an executive officer, employee,
consultant, advisor or director, as applicablehefCompany. As of December 31, 2006, all sharddkean issued under the 1996 Stock Plan.

During 1998, the Company adopted the 1998 Equitgritive Plan (the “1998 Stock Plan”). The 1998 Btelan also provides for
granting of incentive and nonqualified stock optaérd stock bonus awards to officers, employeesatslde consultants. Outstanding options
under the 1998 Stock Plan generally vest over tordeur years and terminate 10 years after thatgtate, or earlier if the option holder is no
longer an executive officer, employee, consultadyisor or director, as applicable, of the Compas/of December 31, 2006, 1,250,000
shares of common stock were authorized for issuander the 1998 Stock Plan, of which 534,774 shiameisbeen issued and 627,764 shares
were subject to outstanding options at a weightedage exercise price of $7.05 per share. The $8®& Plan was closed to any future grants
at the time of the Company’s IPO and thereforeGhempany will not make any additional grants unther1998 Stock Plan.

During 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stocko®pind Incentive Plan, as amended and restat2ddé (the “2004 Stock Plan”).
The 2004 Stock Plan also provides for grantingnoéntive and nonqualified stock option and stodkusoawards to officers, employees and
outside consultants. Outstanding options unde@®2l Stock Plan generally vest over three or faary and terminate 10 years after the grant
date, or earlier if the option holder is no longarexecutive officer, employee, consultant, advisatirector, as applicable, of the Company
of December 31, 2006, 1,946,022 shares of comnumk stere authorized for issuance under the 200dk3tan, of which 92,713 shares had
been issued, 587,330 shares were subject to odilstpoptions at a weighted average exercise pffi§2.79 per share and 1,265,979 shares
were available for future grant. In March 2006, @@mpany’s Board of Directors voted to discontithe provision of the 2004 Stock Plan
which automatically increased the number of optiavailable for grant under the 2004 Stock Plan thasethe net increase in the total number
of outstanding shares of common stock during tla.ye

The exercise price of each stock option issued thee1996 and 1998 Stock Plans was specified é@Btiard of Directors at the time of
grant. The exercise price of stock options awardeter the 2004 Stock Plan may not be less thafathmarket value of the common stock on
the date of the option grant. For holders of mbent10% of the Company’s total combined voting pogfall classes of stock, incentive stock
options may not be granted at less than 110% diihenarket value of the Company’s common stocthatdate of grant and for a term not to
exceed five years.

Certain stock options granted prior to January0Dg2covering a total of 15,480 shares were modifi@dng 2006 to increase the exercise
price to the fair market value as of the originaledof grant. These stock options were originaigued at a discount to fair market value in the
first half of 2004 prior to the Company’s IPO. Tépants have been revalued using the Black Schelésnopricing model and for unvested
shares, the sum of the difference between fairevethmediately before and after the modificationd tre remaining original intrinsic value is
being amortized to expense over the remaining mggteriod.

In June 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Emplsiaek Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). All of our employebs have been employed by
the Company for at least 60 days and whose cusjomar
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employment is for more than 20 hours per week andnre than five months in any calendar year hgéoke to participate. Any employee
who owns 5% or more of the voting power or valuewf stock is not eligible to participate and arpyee may purchase no more than
$25,000 worth of common stock, valued at the sthithe purchase period, in any calendar year. TleREauthorizes the issuance of up to a
total of 375,000 shares of our common stock toigipgting employees.

Under the ESPP, participating employees can authdinie Company to withhold up to 10% of their eagsiduring consecutive sironth
payment periods for the purchase of the sharethedtonclusion of each period, participating empks/can purchase shares at 85% of the
lower of their fair market value at the beginningead of the period. The ESPP is regarded as aeosapory plan according to the provisions
of SFAS No. 123(R). Under this plan, the Companyisaued 23,140, 23,265 and 9,532 shares of itesnconstock during the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

A summary of activity under the Company’s 1996,888d 2004 Stock Plans for the years ended Decedih@006, 2005 and 2004 is
presented below:

Weighted
Number of Exercise Average
Shares Price Range Exercise Price

Stock Option Awards
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 450,41: $ 0.2(— 2.25 $ 1.75
Granted at fair valu 657,34+ 8.0(—10.42 8.16
Granted below fair valu 90,90( 0.9(— 4.48 2.66
Exercisec (49,62]) 0.2(— 2.25 0.91
Forfeited (16,464) 0.9(— 8.53 2.82
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,132,57: 0.2(—10.4z 5.63
Granted at fair valu 278,65( 9.26—37.2% 13.7¢
Exercisec (253,659 0.4(—10.0C 2.02
Forfeited (36,94¢) 2.25-29.02 9.85
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 1,120,61¢ 0.2(—37.2< 8.33
Granted at fair valu 387,80( 13.5.—38.9¢€ 29.8¢
Exercisec (202,809 0.2(—12.6C 5.82
Forfeited (90,517) 2.2-36.11 21.67
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 1,215,09¢ ¢ 0.4(—38.9¢ $14.6€

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercihadng the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002@04 was $5,304,033, $6,713,552,
and $260,049, respectively.

The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Weighted Average

Number of Remaining Weighted

Options Contractual Average
Exercise Price QOutstanding Life (Years) Exercise Price
$ 0.40— 4.48 109,747 6.2 $ 2.46
$ 8.0(— 8.00 511,56: 7.5 8.00
$ 8.2:— 9.78 68,902 7.9 9.18
$ 9.9—14.76 145,857 8.1 10.34
$15.1:—29.50 107,75( 9.2 25.11
$30.10—38.96 271,27¢ 9.0 31.72

1,215,09: 8.0 $14.6€
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The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions exercisable at December 31, 2006:

Number of Weighted

Options Average
Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 0.4(— 4.48 67,731 $ 2.48
$ 8.0(— 8.00 318,37t 8.0C
$ 8.2=— 9.78 27,562 9.20
$ 9.9(—14.76 28,87¢ 10.41
$15.1:—29.50 8,217 25.0t
$30.1(—38.96 4,22¢ 34.0C

454,98/ $ 7.95

The weighted average remaining contractual lifestock options exercisable at December 31, 20068A4gears. The aggregate intrinsic
value for stock options outstanding and exercisabl@ecember 31, 2006 was $5,963,981 and $3,328c3p@ctively.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accountedtémk-based compensation plans in accordancethdtprovisions of APB No. 25, as
permitted by SFAS No. 123, and accordingly didmeabgnize compensation expense for the issuanggtioins with an exercise price equal to
or greater than the fair value at the date of grant

The following table illustrates the effect on metéme (loss) and net income (loss) per common ghathe years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004 had the Company applied the fairevbsed method as prescribed by SFAS No. 123:

2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhaldas

reportec $ 249,25¢ $(13,931,94)
Add employee stock-based compensation expensedeutiu

in reported net incom 406,33( 1,028,59!
Less employee sto-based compensation expel

determined under fair value meth (1,432,03) (1,503,18))
Net income (los—pro forma $ (776,447 $(14,406,53)
Net income (loss) per common share (basic andediju

As reportec $ 0.02 $ (2.42)

Pro forma $ (0.06) $ (2.51)
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The weighted average grant-date fair value useldeirtalculation of stock-based compensation expienge accompanying statement of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2@@% a&nd 2004 and the pro forma net income (losg)natincome (loss) per common share
information presented above is calculated usingiaek-Scholes option pricing model with the follio weighted average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004 (1)

Risk-free interest rate 4.3%—5.2% 3.5%—4.6% 3.5%
Expected dividend yiel — — —
Expected option terr 5 years 5 year: 5 year:
Volatility 50.0%—75.0% 52.€% 65.0%
Weighted average fair value of options granted at

fair value $ 14.7¢ $ 728 $ 492
Weighted average fair value of options grantedwedkir

value $ — 3 — $ 834

(1) Prior to the July 2004 IPO, the Company establighedair value of common stock by reference toptteviously issued redeemable
convertible preferred stock and by reference texgected IPO price. Prior to the IPO, assumed Nibfavas zero percent.

The risk-free interest rate assumption is basetthetnited States Treasury’s constant maturity fiate five year term (corresponding to
the expected option term) on the date the optiom gvanted. The expected dividend yield is zero imeghe Company does not currently pay
dividends nor expect to do so during the expecpibio term. The expected option term of five ydarastimated based on an analysis of actual
option exercises and a review of comparable mediegice companies. The volatility assumption isslblasn weekly historical volatility during
the time period that corresponds to the expectéidroferm, a review of comparable medical deviceapanies and expected future stock price
volatility. The post-vesting forfeiture rate is ledson the historical and projected average turnmterusing four classifications of employees.
These assumptions will be evaluated and revisegesssary based on changes in market conditionkistodical experience. For 2004, the
weighted average fair value of options grantedrgnaand subsequent to the IPO was $5.15 and $&e3dectively.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricingehfor determining the fair value of shares ahooon stock issued or to be issued
under the ESPP. The following assumptions are usddtermining fair value: The risk-free interester assumption is based on the United
States Treasury’s constant maturity rate for argixth term (corresponding to the expected optiom}en the date the option was granted. In
2006, the Company used a risk-free interest ratemagtion that ranged from 5.1% to 5.2%. The expkdieidend yield is zero because the
Company does not currently pay dividends nor exjmedb so during the expected option term. An etgubterm of six months is used base:
the duration of each plan offering period. The tititg assumption is based on stock price volatiblver the most recent period of time
corresponding to the expected term and is alsodoaisexpected future stock price volatility. In BQ€he expected future stock price volatility
ranged from 50.0% to 90.0%. These assumptionsheitvaluated and revised as necessary based ogeshiarmarket conditions and
historical experience.

The Company recorded stock-based compensation sxpéi$2,652,637, $406,330 and $1,028,595 for daesyended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 , respectively Included instioek-based compensation expense recorded byotimp&hy for the year ended
December 31, 2006 is (a) $2,265,556 in compensatipense relating to stock options granted to eyagle subsequent to the Company’s
July 2004 IPO that are accounted for accordinfpéoprovisions of SFAS No. 123(R); (b) $53,471 idugtions of compensation expense
related to stock options granted to non-employeasare accounted
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for according to the provisions of Emerging Isstiask Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 96-18Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Isdue

to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Comjion with Selling, Goods or Services{“"EITF No. 96-18"); €) $159,480 in compensati
expense related to the ESPP and accounted for tm&lprovisions of SFAS No. 123(R): (d) $249,418ampensation expense relating to
stock options granted to employees prior to the Gamyg’'s IPO that are being accounted for using nitvinisic value method according to the
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) and (e) $31,657 irdifications to pre-IPO option grants. Compensaégpense recorded by the Company for
the modification of stock options for the years @@ecember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, is7f$8%and $436,611.

The additional costs incurred as a result of thelémentation of SFAS No. 123(R) reflected in incdmeéore provision of income taxes
and net income attributable to common stockholftarthe year ended December 31, 2006 was $2,425,086 effect on basic and diluted
earnings per share for the year ended Decemb@0B8, was $0.19, respectively.

Stock options granted to non-employees are recaatifadr value and adjusted to market over theinggieriod according to the
provisions of EITF No. 96-18. The Company deterrifar value using the Black-Scholes option priangdel, an expected term equal to the
option term, a risk-free interest rate correspogdinthe expected term, an expected volatility @7-75% and a dividend yield of zero.

Deferred compensation was recorded in connectitim stock option grants made prior to the Compaif®@. The deferred compensation
represents the difference between the estimatekletaalue of common stock on the date of grantthedexercise price associated with the
stock options. The deferred compensation is aneattia expense over the vesting period of the relstieck options. The unamortized balance
of deferred compensation as of December 31, 206616,705.

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation celstted to non-vested stock options was approxim&@703,540 as of December 31,
2006 which related to approximately 759,476 shaidis a per share weighted fair value of $8.83. Thisecognized cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of ajpmately 2.0 years.

The Company has no tax windfall or shortfall aPetember 31, 2006.

Common Stock

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had 50,000s8868es of common stock authorized and 12,601 ,22¢s issued and outstanding.
There were no treasury shares outstanding at Dezredilh 2006 and 2005, as all treasury shares hesre ibsued upon employee stock option
exercises.

Each share of common stock entitles the holdentowmte on all matters submitted to a vote of tbenfany’s stockholders. Common
stockholders are not entitled to receive dividemaess declared by the Board of Directors.

At December 31, 2006, the Company has reserveadzehl shares of common stock for future issuasdelows:

Outstanding stock optior 1,215,09:
Possible future issuance under stock option f 1,265,97¢
Possible future issuance under employee stock psecplan 319,06:
Total 2,800,13¢
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On March 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directmtepted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declareddedd distribution of one
preferred stock purchase right for each outstangirage of the Company’s common stock to shareh®loferecord as of the close of business
on March 8, 2007. (See Note 13—Subsequent Event.)

4. Inventories
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, inventories cowngigte following:

December 31

2006 2005
Purchased componer $ 34585 $ 276,16
Finished goods 3,287,53 2,407,24:

$3,633,38¢ $2,683,40¢

5. Held-to-Maturity Investments

Held-to-maturity investments as of December 31,6280d 2005 are as follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
2006
Commercial paper and bank no $ 3,895,71. $ 104,287 $ — 3 4,000,00t(
U.S. agency obligatior 997,75: 4,11C — 1,001,86:
Corporate bonds 27,517,22 23,70( (128,350 27,412,57
$ 3241068 $ 132,097 $ (128,350 $ 32,414,443
2005
Commercial paper and bank no $ 4,440,72: $ 59,27¢ $ — 3 4,500,00(
U.S. agency obligatior 2,990,52: — (4,524 2,985,99
Corporate bond 10,061,70: 1,42¢ (364,495 9,698,63!
Certificates of depos 6,589,00( — (13,54%) 6,575,45!

$ 2408194 $ 60,70t $ (382569 $  23,760,08

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesand fair value of the Company’s held-to-maturiteestments with unrealized losses
that are not deemed to be other-than-temporaripained, aggregated by investment category andhesfgime that individual securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position,etdinber 31, 2006 and 2005:

12 Months or less Greater than 12 Months Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
2006
Corporate bonds $20,998,09! $(128,350) $ — $ — $20,998,09 $(128,350
2005
U.S. agency obligatior $ 2,587,94. $ (2,489 $ 398,05¢ $ (2,035) $ 2,985,99° $ (4,529
Corporate bond 1,479,86: (39,075 6,521,59¢ (325,42() 8,001,46. (364,49
Certificates of depos 1,290,05¢ (9,942) 496,397 (3,603) 1,786,45! (13,54¢%)
Total $ 5,357,86! $ (51,50¢) $7,416,05( $(331,05¢ $12,773,91! $(382,569)
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Corporate bonds—At December 31, 2006, the Compatd/21 corporate bonds in an unrealized loss positihich was primarily the
result of higher market interest rates since the dapurchase, rather than a decline in creditityuaf these investments. The contractual terms
of these investments do not permit the issuersttteghe securities at a price less than the yatee of the investment. Each of the bonds
maintains a Standard & Poor’s rating of A or highed has made each of their scheduled interestgratgmrherefore, it is not expected that
the bonds would be settled at a price less thaart@tized cost of the investment. Because the @osnpas the ability and intent to hold th:
investments until maturity, the Company does noisater these investments to be other-than-temppiampaired at December 31, 2006.

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed matusiégurities at December 31, 2006 and 2005, by actual maturity, are shown below:

December 31

2006 2005
Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $ 32,410,680 $ 32,414,43. $ 24,081,94 $  23,760,08
6. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets consist of the following:
Estimated
Useful Life December 31
(Years) 2006 2005
Computer and laboratory equipment 3 $ 1,746,320 $ 1,366,55!
Furniture and equipme! 3 350,67¢ 198,33(
Production equipmet 7 665,26¢ 636,40¢
Construction in progres — 215,47¢ 173,10z
Leasehold improvements G 150,091 132,901
3,127,83¢ 2,507,29¢

Less—accumulated depreciation (2,012,40) (1,631,749

$ 1,11543t $ 875,557

*—| esser of life of lease or estimated useful life
Depreciation expense was $380,655, $278,932 an,$28 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002004, respectively.

7. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following for tisedl years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

December 31

2006 2005

(as restated)

Professional service $ 401,18¢ $ 438,51¢
Sales taxe 2,851,30° 1,589,09:
Other 1,023,49( 601,31¢

$4,275,980 $2,628,92!
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8. Long-Term Debt

On May 21, 2003, the Company entered into an aggaemith Lighthouse Capital Partners 1V, L.P. (“hthouse”) to establish a line of
credit for $3,000,000 (“Line of Credit”). The Compadrew down $3,000,000 through December 31, 280&orrowings under the line of
credit were collateralized by substantially all Hsets of the Company. Borrowings bore interesoatinal rate of 11% per annum. Upon the
final maturity date or the earlier prepayment affeadvance, the Company was required to pay, iitiaddo the principal and interest, an
additional amount equal to 11% of the original pijral, or $330,000. This additional amount was geincreted over the applicable borrowing
period as additional interest expense.

On July 29, 2004, the Company paid $3,123,521 ghthiouse. This amount represented payment in fall @utstanding obligations
under the line of credit with Lighthouse.

In connection with the Line of Credit, the Compassued Lighthouse warrants to purchase up to 400s8@res of Series E-1 redeemable
convertible preferred stock at an exercise pric8lo50 per share, for a term of seven years. Tihedhie of the warrants calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model was estimatedg®$450,100, and was recorded as a debt discbhistdiscount was being accreted over
the repayment term of 36 months as additional ésteexpense. Upon completion of the Company’s tRi® warrant converted into a warrant
to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock. Thisamtawas exercised in full on a net basis on IB)&2005, resulting in the issuance of
63,707 shares of common stock.

9. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company’s redeemable convertible preferreckstas mandatorily redeemable by the holders. Theyiog value of this preferred
stock was being accreted to redemption value dwvetdrm to the redemption date. These adjustmests affected through charges, first
against retained earnings, then against additipaiatin capital, until it was reduced to zero ahnentto accumulated deficit. Accretion for the
year ended December 31, 2004 was $1,386

The Company’s 875,000 shares of Series A redeencableertible preferred stock, 625,000 shares oeS& redeemable convertible
preferred stock, 3,998,100 shares of Series C etiblepreferred stock, of which 2,850,000 sharesendesignated as Series C-1 redeemable
convertible preferred stock and 1,148,100 sharee designated as Series C-2 nonvoting redeemabietible preferred stock, 6,222,220
shares of Series D redeemable convertible prefetoak, 7,111,110 shares of Series E redeemableedtdrie preferred stock and 2,333,333
shares of Series E-1 redeemable convertible pesfestock automatically converted into 7,488,758ehaf common stock upon the
completion of the Company’s IPO in July 2004.

In March 2004, the Company sold 7,050,771 shar&edes E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stbekprice of $1.50 per share,
resulting in gross proceeds of $10,576,157. Theemion rate associated with Series E-1 redeencaloleertible preferred stock resulted in a
1-for-4 exchange or a conversion price of $6.00share. The Series E-1 redeemable convertiblepeefstock contained a beneficial
conversion feature as the estimated fair valub@Qompany’s common stock was in excess of thed§ieb share conversion price.
Accordingly, the Company recorded a charge of 87,08l as a beneficial conversion feature in Mai@®42 Also, as a result of this Series E-1
redeemable convertible preferred stock financindythe anti-dilution provisions associated with 8eries D redeemable convertible preferred
stock, the Company recorded a charge in the forenddemed dividend of $787,885 in March 2004. Tharge resulted from an adjustment to
the conversion price as a result of anti-dilutioatection associated with the Series D redeemabigertible preferred stock.
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10. Income Taxe!
The income tax provision consists of the followfogthe years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 andl: 200

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
Federal tax expense $193,00( $35,00¢ $ —
State tax expense — — —
Total $193,00C $35000C $ —

The Company’s effective income tax rate differsvrthe statutory federal income tax rate as follfavghe years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004.

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(as restated) (as restated)
Federal tax provision (benefit) re 34.0% 34.0% (34.00%
State tax provision (benefit), net of federal psion
(benefits) 7.6 9.9 (3.9
Permanent item 11.1 56.3 3.6
Federal research and development cre (4.2) (54.5) (1.5)
Alternative minimum ta 4.3 12.3 —
Alternative minimum tax cred (2.7) — —
Valuation allowance (45.8) (45.7) 35.8
Effective income tax rate 4.30 12.30y 0.00y

The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of timafimg:

December 31
2006 2005
(as restated)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 9,373,72. $ 13,878,35!
Research and development credit carryforw. 978,65: 645,80¢
Alternative minimum tax cred 120,19t —
Accrued expense 2,808,02: 1,553,77¢
Other 522,82: 3,594
Total gross deferred tax assets 13,803,41! 16,081,53!
Valuation allowance (13,803,411 (16,081,53))
Net deferred tax asse $ — % —

At December 31, 2006, the Company has federal tated set operating loss carryforwards (“NOL") opapximately $29.5 million and
$16.1 million, respectively, as well as federal atate tax credits of approximately $889,528 anti7$B52, respectively, which may be
available to reduce future taxable income and ¢teted taxes thereon. This amount includes taxfliemmé $4.0 million and $71,238
attributable to NOL and tax credit carryforwardsspectively, that result from the exercise of empgdostock options. The tax benefit of these
items will be recorded as a credit to additionatiga capital upon realization of the deferred taxeass reduction in income taxes payable.
federal NOL’s begin to expire in 2011 and the si@l's begin to expire in 2007.

As required by SFAS 109, the Company has evalubtegositive and negative evidence bearing upomethizability of its deferred tax
assets, which are comprised principally of net apieg loss. Management has determined that it ierikely than not that the Company will
not recognize the
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benefits of federal and state deferred tax assetsas a result, a valuation allowance of approiefges13.8 million and $16.1 million has been
established at December 31, 2006 and 2005, regphcti

Ownership changes, as defined in the Internal Re¥€lode, have limited the amount of net operatisg tarryforwards that can be
utilized annually to offset future taxable incorfiaée Company anticipates that these limitations hdWe no material impact on their ability to
utilize the affected loss carryforwards in futuesays. Subsequent ownership changes could furtipadt the limitation in future years.

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

In September 2000, the Company entered into a moetable operating lease, commencing January 1,,2000ffice and laboratory
space. The lease expires on March 31, 2009.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelggeatng leases as of December 31, 2006 are asvioll

2007 $ 930,00(
2008 930,00(
2009 232,50(
Total minimum lease paymer $2,092,50(

Total recorded rent expense was $871,819 for decldars ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 20@4Cdimpany records rent expe
on its facility lease on a straight line basis oty term. Accordingly, the Company has recordbdtality for accrued rent expense at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 of $130,909 and $189r88fectively on the accompanying balance sheets.

Restricted Time Deposit

In connection with the Company’s facility leases thompany is required to maintain, for the berddfthe lessor, an irrevocable standby
letter of credit stating the lessor as the berafijcover the term of the lease, which is secured bgrtificate of deposit in an amount equal to
102% of the letter of credit as security. The leaggires in March 2009. The certificate of dep@sienewable in 30-day increments. At
December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company has $53%8:corded as restricted cash associated withethse on the accompanying balance
sheet.

Legal Matters

The Company is currently subject to an investigaby the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) withihe Department of Health and
Human Services based on a subpoena served tahes $econd quarter of 2006. The Company is codpgrafith the OIG with their
informational request. Any such liabilities thatyrazise out of this investigation in the future Mbié recorded as a charge in the Company’s
statements of operations in the period in whicthdiabilities become probable and estimable. Then@any is aware of an investigation by the
United States Department of Justice. The Compasynbayet been informed of the subject matter isf ithvestigation or received any formal
requests for information relating to it.

12. Retirement Plan

The Company established a 401(k) defined contdinusavings plan for its employees who meet cedeixice period and age
requirements. Contributions are permitted up tontizeimum allowed
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under the Internal Revenue Code of each coveredbgmgis salary. The savings plan permits the Comparmontribute at its discretion. For
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 26(dimpany made no contributions to the plan.

13. Subsequent Event

On March 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directmtepted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declareddedd distribution of one
preferred stock purchase right for each outstangirage of the Company’s common stock to shareh®loferecord as of the close of business
on March 8, 2007. Initially, these rights will no¢ exercisable and will trade with the shares ef@Gompany’s common stock. Under the
Shareholder Rights Plan, the rights generally béltome exercisable if a person becomes an “acgyienson” by acquiring 15% or more of
the common stock of the Company or if a person cermuas a tender offer that could result in thatgresvning 15% or more of the common
stock of the Company. If a person becomes an doguderson, each holder of a right (other thanattguiring person) would be entitled to
purchase, at the then-current exercise price, suntber of shares of preferred stock which are ed@nt to shares of the Company’s common
stock having a value of twice the exercise pricthefright. If the Company is acquired in a mermyeother business combination transaction
after any such event, each holder of a right weldsh be entitled to purchase, at the then-curresiticese price, shares of the acquiring
company’s common stock having a value of twiceekercise price of the right.

14. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning of costs and other accounts Deductions End of
Description Period expenses (Describe)(1) (Describe) Period
December 31, 200
Allowance for Doubtful Account )
$ 400,00C $ 946,85( $ 74,53¢ $ (521,38¢2) $ 900,00(
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan 16,081,53! 2,226,51: — (4,504,636)(3) 13,803,411
December 31, 2005
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts )
300,00( 281,68¢ 78,14: (259,827(2) 400,00(
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowar—as restate 14,235,361 1,846,17: — — 16,081,53!
December 31, 2004
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts )
300,00( 221,79¢ 13,66¢ (235,4642) 300,00(
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowar—as restate 12,571,491 1,663,87( — — 14,235,36!

(1) Recoveries
(2) Write-offs
(3) Utilization and expiration of Federal and State Beerating Loss Carryforwards
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referém¢le Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83-1B18059 and 333-135242) of
NeuroMetrix, Inc. of our report dated March 29, 208lating to the financial statements, financtatement schedule, managen’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting and the effectivenesstdrnal control over financial reporting,
which appears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 29, 2007




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Shai N. Gozani, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KNeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, ntetamisg with respect to the period

covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtf@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahaorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registdisclosure controls and procedures and presé@nthis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regittsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repoet) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgisit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitae@mmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofimancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 200 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. [
Chief Executive Officer and Preside




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, W. Bradford Smith, certify that:

1

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KNeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, ntetamisg with respect to the period

covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtf@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahaorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registdisclosure controls and procedures and presé@nthis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regittsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repoet) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgisit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitae@mmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofimancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 200 /s/ W. BRADFORD SMITH

W. Bradford Smitt
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION

The undersigned officers of NeuroMetrix, Inc. (ti@mpany”) hereby certify that the Company’s AnnRaport on Form 10-K to which
this certification is attached (the “Report”), dsd with the Securities and Exchange Commissiotherdate hereof, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as appléads the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as atedrithe “Exchange Act”), and that the
information contained in the Report fairly presemsall material respects, the financial conditaomd results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 29, 200 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. [
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

/sl W. BRADFORD SMITH
W. Bradford Smitt
Chief Financial Office

This certification is being furnished and not fil@hd shall not be incorporated into any documen&afy purpose, under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities Act of 1933.




